
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Council

Members of the Council of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend a meeting to 
be held virtually on Tuesday, 1 December 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the 
following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can attend the meeting 
will be sent separately.

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:-

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 8)

3. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is 

4. To answer any questions received from members of the public of which 
notice has been given under Council Procedure Rule 13 

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


5. Minutes of Committees 
To receive and adopt the proceedings, reports and recommendations of 
the following committees, except those items reserved under Council 
procedure Rule 5.2 (6) and to ratify and confirm the orders made by 
them.

a) Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 5 October 
2020

(Pages 9 - 10)

b) Minutes of the meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee held on 
Tuesday, 13 October 2020

(Pages 11 - 16)

c) Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on 
Tuesday, 27 October 2020

(Pages 17 - 20)

d) Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 9 
November 2020

(Pages 21 - 26)

e) Minutes of the meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee held on 
Wednesday, 11 November 2020

To Follow

f) Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 19 November 2020

To Follow

g) Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 
Wednesday, 25 November 2020

To Follow

6. Reserved Minutes 
To receive and adopt the proceedings, reports and recommendations of 
committees contained in the list of items reserved under Council 
Procedure Rule 5.2(6) and to ratify the orders made by them. They will 
be dealt with in the following order:-

Cabinet
Finance & Audit Committee
Overview Scrutiny Committee
Planning Committee

To consider reports from officers of the Council
7. Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the workforce within 

DSO Building Management 
(Pages 27 - 40)

8. Annual Climate Change Report (Pages 41 - 60)

9. Amendments made to the Constitution - to reflect formation of Rosherville 
Limited 

(Pages 61 - 
120)

10.Dog Fouling - Public Space Protection Order (Pages 121 - 
136)

11.Alcohol Control - Town Centre Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) (Pages 137 - 
144)



12.To consider questions from Members of the Council of which notice has 
been given under Council Procedure Rule 14. 

Question One

From Cllr Jordan Meade, Leader of the Opposition – to Cllr John Burden, 
Leader of the Executive

Today marks nearly a year since this Council unanimously committed to 
signing the Social Mobility Pledge and entwining the theme of social 
mobility throughout everything that we do. Due to the pandemic, 
unemployment is now at a three-year high and redundancies are all too 
commonplace, especially amongst young people. 

Could the Leader of the Executive therefore provide us with an update on 
the progress that this authority has made in encouraging social mobility, 
with particular reference to apprenticeships, work placements and the 
Kickstart Scheme.

Question Two

From Cllr Steve Thompson – to Cllr John Burden, Leader of the 
Executive

It is welcome news that Highways England have withdrawn their 
application for the Lower Thames Crossing.  This Council has worked 
hard to get the scheme cancelled, or at least significantly changed to 
remove the damage to the environment but has this view been supported 
by the other Councils in Kent and who originally promoted this location?

13.To receive the Mayor's Announcements 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Council

Tuesday, 6 October 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

The Worshipful the Mayor, Cllr John Caller 
The Deputy Mayor, Cllr Lyn Milner 

Councillors: Ejaz Aslam
John Burden
Harold Craske
Lee Croxton
Dakota Dibben
Aaron Elliott
Leslie Hills
Leslie Hoskins
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Gurbax Singh
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace
Frank Wardle

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing and Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning and Development)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
Simon Walsh Service Manager (Communities)
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services, Medway Council
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

24. Minutes 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 23 June 2020 were signed by the Mayor.

25. Declaration of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

26. To answer any questions received from members of the public of which 
notice has been given under Council Procedure Rule 13 

No questions had been received.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Council 6.10.2020

2

27. Minutes of Committees 

Motions that proceedings, reports and recommendations of Committees, except those 
reserved under Council Procedure 5.2(6) as referred to below be received and adopted and 
where applicable the Orders made by them be ratified and confirmed were duly proposed, 
seconded and resolved in each case.

Minutes of Cabinet held on Monday, 29 June 2020 
Minutes of Overview Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 9 July 2020 
Minutes of Finance and Audit Committee held on Tuesday, 21 July 2020 
Minutes of Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 22 July 2020 
Minutes of Standards Committee held on Thursday, 30 July 2020 
Minutes of Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 2 September 2020 
Minutes of Cabinet held on Monday, 7 September 2020 
Minutes of Licensing Committee held on Monday, 14 September 2020 
Minutes of Overview Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday, 17 September 2020 
Minutes of Planning Committee held on Wednesday, 30 September 2020

In relation to the minutes of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on Thursday 17 
September 2020, the Chair of the Committee, Cllr Jordan Meade sought Full Council 
approval to amend the minutes in relation to declarations of interest made at the meeting. 
The amendment would be made in full consultation with the Vice-Chair of the Committee, 
Cllr Steve Thompson. 

It was agreed that the minutes be amended.

28. Reserved Minutes 

There were no reserved minutes

29. Update on a Review of Local Government Ethical Standards 

The Council received a report which provided an update on the Council's response to the 
best practice recommendations made by the Committee on Standards in Public Life 
following its review of ethical standards in local government, which was published in January 
2019.

Resolved that:-

i. the proposed changes to the Members Code of Conduct, as demonstrated as 
tracked/highlighted changes at Appendix 4 to the report be approved;

ii. the changes to the procedure for dealing with Member Conduct complaints, as 
demonstrated as tracked/highlighted changes at Appendix 5 to the report be 
approved;

iii. the Member Code of Conduct be reviewed on an annual basis and 
recommendations be made to Full Council as necessary, and that where possible 
when substantial changes are proposed, the views of the public, community 
organisations and neighbouring authorities be sought;

iv. decision notices relating to the outcome of formal investigations be produced and 
published, including a brief statement of facts, the provisions of the code 
engaged by the allegations, the view of the Independent Person, the reasoning of 
the decision- maker, and any sanction applied and that these be kept on the 

Page 6



Council 6.10.2020

3

website for a period of 12 months, subject to that when the outcome of a hearing 
is a Committee finding of no breach, the subject Member is given the option as to 
whether the decision notice includes their names or whether it remains 
anonymous and does not provide information that could identify the subject 
Member;

v. the Monitoring Officer request the 6 Parish Councils in Gravesham to formally 
acknowledge the expectation that formal complaints about the conduct of a 
Parish Councillor towards a Clerk should be made by the Chair or by the Parish 
Council as a whole, rather than the Clerk in all but exceptional circumstances and 
confirm their commitment to adhere to this in relation to any future complaints of 
this nature; 

vi. the Monitoring Officer asks all alternative delivery models set up by the local 
authority to publish board agendas, minutes and annual reports.; and

vii. all other responses set out in the table at Appendix 3 where no specific or 
additional action is required be noted.

30. Amendments made to the Constitution - Change in Assistant Directors' 
responsibilities 

The Council received a report which set out  minor amendments to the Constitution to be 
made by the Monitoring Officer as permitted by the Constitution in relation to the new post of 
Assistant Director (Housing) which combined the responsibilities of the previous two posts, 
Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) and Assistant Director (Housing Assets).

Resolved that the minor amendments to be made to the Constitution by the 
Monitoring Officer be noted. 

31. Delegation to the Monitoring Officer to consider and determine requests 
for dispensations from Members 

The Council received a report which sought delegated authority from the Council to the 
Monitoring Officer to consider and determine any requests for dispensation from Gravesham 
Members and co-opted Members.

Resolved that a delegation be made to the Monitoring Officer to consider and 
determine any requests for dispensations from Gravesham Members and co-opted 
Members in cases where the timing of a request would make it impractical to 
convene a meeting of the Standards Committee.

32. Appointment of Independent Persons 

The Council was informed that the Localism Act 2011 required the appointment of an 
Independent Person to investigate allegations that a Member is in breach of the Code of 
Conduct and that the appointment of an Independent Person must be approved by the 
majority of the Members of the authority. 

The report provided an update on the progress made in recruitment and sought approval to 
appoint two Independent Persons.

Resolved that the two Independent Persons be appointed.

Page 7



Council 6.10.2020

4

33. Commercial Property Investment Guidance 

The Council received a report which set out amendments to the commercial property 
investment guidance followed by the Council.

Resolved that the five measures, detailed in paragraphs 2.2-2.6 of the report, be 
adopted as guidance for future acquisitions under the Property Acquisitions Strategy 
and the ongoing management and maintenance of its commercial property portfolio 
be supported.

34. Appointment to an outside body 

Resolved that Cllr Brian Sangha be appointed as the Council‘s representative on the 
PATROL (Parking and Traffic Regulations Outside London) Adjudication Joint 
Committee.

35. To consider questions from Members of the Council of which notice has 
been given under Council Procedure Rule 14. 

No questions had been received.

36. To receive the Mayor's Announcements 

The Mayor thanked everyone that had attended the socially distanced events and advised 
that there would be a broad programme of activities and events throughout October 2020 to 
celebrate Black History Month.  

The Mayor paid tribute to and thanked the community for continuing to follow Government 
guidelines.

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.11pm

Page 8



1

Cabinet

Monday, 5 October 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services (Medway Council)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
Dave Herrington Digital Services Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

32. Apologies for absence 

The Chair tendered an apology on behalf of Cllr Lenny Rolles, who had experienced 
connectivity issues, for his absence at the start of the meeting. 

33. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2020 were signed by the Chair.

34. To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on 
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what 
their interest is. 

No declarations of interest were made.

35. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

The Leader reported that he had taken a delegated decision to purchase a property at 147 
Wrotham Road, Gravesend, Kent DA11 0QL.

The Portfolio Holder for Community & Leisure advised that “A Creative Gravesham – An Arts 
and Culture Strategy 2020-2025” and “The Modern Slavery Strategy” had been approved at 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5a



Cabinet 5.10.2020

2

the meeting of the Community & Leisure Cabinet Committee on 15 September 2020 and the 
requisite paperwork would be published on the website shortly.

The Portfolio Holder for Strategic Environment reported that he had approved the S18 Stage 
2 consultation of the Local Plan under his delegated powers.

36. Former Police Station Site, Windmill Street - Possible Compulsory 
Purchase Order Requirement 

The Director (Planning & Development) introduced the report and advised that it was 
somewhat similar to the report that had been submitted to the last meeting of Cabinet with 
regard to the Canal Basin area (Albion Waterside). The report asked for the authority in 
principal for the making of a Compulsory Purchase Order in relation to the Former Police 
Station Site, Windmill Street, Gravesend. Members were advised that contracts were 
believed to have been exchanged for the acquisition of this site, yet to be corroborated by 
the Official Receiver. The request for the Compulsory Purchase Order had come about due 
to the fact that the site had been vacant for sometime and had become an eyesore. Formal 
and informal proposals had been considered with permissions granted and further 
conditional resolutions to grant permission made, but with no further progress.  An Order 
was felt to be the correct tool to effect the progression of the development of the site if the 
current purchaser failed to deliver the development in a timely manner.

The Chair noted that he felt that this was a very positive way forward as the development of 
the site had been awaited for a number of years and it was right that the Council should take 
the lead. 

Following a question from the Portfolio Holder for Strategic Environment, the Director 
(Planning & Development) confirmed that this decision would be held in reserve should 
negotiations on the development of the site progress. Cabinet was advised that there was a 
buyer interested in the site but no direct contact had yet been made with the Council’s 
planning department.  Therefore, the Council was not aware if the buyer was interested in 
delivering a scheme in line with the previous planning permission granted on the site or 
would wish to look at an alternative scheme which would eventually be submitted to the 
Planning Committee for consideration.

Resolved that authorisation be delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation with 
the Leader of the Executive and others officers as appropriate, to progress the 
making of a Compulsory Purchase Order for the land as outlined in red on the plan 
attached at Appendix 2 of the report, in the event that the new owner of the site does 
not progress development of the site within a reasonable period of time.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 7.43 pm

Page 10



1

Finance & Audit Committee
 

Tuesday, 13 October 2020                                             7:30pm 

Present: 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)  

Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 
Ejaz Aslam 
Dakota Dibben 
Nirmal Khabra 
Emma Morley 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Tony Rice 

Sarah Parfitt Director (Corporate Services)
James Larkin 
Anita Tysoe 
Andrew Barnett 
Alex Jarvis    

Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services 
Service Manger (Customer & Theatre Services) 
Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer)   

Ben Clarke Committee & Scrutiny Assistant (Minutes) 

66. Apologies for absence 

No apologies of absence were received. 

67. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting. 

The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday, 21 July 2020 were signed by the Chair. 

68. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Gow advised that she had sought legal advice with regard to declaring a non-pecuniary 
interest for item 5 of the agenda as she had been in contact with one of the complainants in 
her capacity as Ward Councillor. The advice given by the Deputy Monitoring Officer advised 
that there was no need to make a make a declaration of internet as no decision was being 
taken and the information was purely for noting by the Committee. 

Cllr Rice declared an Other Significant Interest as an appointed Director of Rosherville 
Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 

69. Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review Letter 
2019/20 

The Committee were presented with a copy of the Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman’s Annual Review Letter for Gravesham. 

The Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) informed the Committee that: 

Page 11 Agenda Item 5b



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

2

 For the year ending 31 March 2020, the LG&SCO received a total of 19 complaints 
or enquiries about Gravesham Borough Council services

 Of the 19 contacts, decisions were made for all of them, along with 2 complaints 
received in the previous financial year. The outcomes were as follows;

o 9 of the contacts were referred back to Gravesham Borough Council as 
premature, i.e. the complaint process had not been concluded.

o Advice was given for 3 contacts i.e. the matter was outside the Ombudsman’s 
jurisdiction or there was an alternative route to deal with the issue. 

o 1 contact was incomplete or invalid 
o 8 contacts resulted in some form of enquiry or investigation by the 

Ombudsman; 4 were closed after initial enquiries; 3 were investigated but not 
upheld as there was no finding of mal-administration. 1 complaint was upheld 
on the basis of maladministration, but no injustice had been suffered. The 
complaint related to the enforcement of parking over dropped kerbs; a 
recommendation was received from the Ombudsmen that the Council should 
review its enforcement policy in relation to residents dropped kerb parking.  

The remedy set by the Ombudsman was that Gravesham’s Parking Enforcement Policy 
should be updated to reflect enforcement. This was duly updated by the Parking Services 
Manager and it was adopted by Cabinet on 11 November 2019 

In response to a Member question regarding enforcement for parking over dropped kerbs, 
the Service Manager (Customer & Theatre Services) confirmed her understanding that the 
Council did not enforce against parking over dropped kerbs. 

Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran congratulated officers for their hard work and only one of the 19 
complaints being upheld by the Ombudsmen.  

Resolved that the Committed noted the information contained within the report.  

70. Audit & Counter Fraud Update - 1 April to 31 August 2020 

The Committee were provided with a report that updated on the work, outputs and 
performance of the Audit & Counter Fraud Team for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 August 
2020.   

The Head of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services guided Members through the report 
and highlighted key areas for Members consideration. 

Under PM13a on page 51 of the report, the Head of the Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Services informed Members that as of today, the proportion of agreed assurance 
assignments that were delivered had increased from 5% to 29%. 

In response to questions from Members, the Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Services and the Director (Corporate Services) explained that: 

 With regards to the Apprenticeships Scheme, a review was being undertaken to put a 
policy in place to ensure the Scheme would be utilised effectively. Through that work, 
steps would be taken in the future to maximise the amount of work carried out 

Page 12



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

3

through the Scheme. The Scheme did not only apply to young people/school leavers, 
existing staff also had the opportunity to upskill. Management Team were keen to 
maximise the use of the maximise the use of the apprentice levy, upskill the existing 
workforce and bring in new staff through the Scheme 

 Apprentices had been very successful at the Council in the past; there were usually 
twelve or thirteen apprentices in post every year. Management Team were interested 
in addressing some of the concerns around employment opportunities in the current 
climate and a number of options were being reviewed. The Council will also look to 
help the local economy through Government schemes such as the Kickstart 
Campaign 

 With regards to the two employees that falsified Covid-19 Shielding Letters, the Head 
of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services consulted with HR and a discussion was 
held on the amount of resources it would take to pursue disciplinary investigations for 
both staff members. It was decided that as they resigned immediately following 
notification of a pending investigation, the issue had been resolved and it was 
deemed not cost effective to spend a large amount of resources on completing the 
disciplinary investigation. The Head of Audit & Counter Fraud advised that these 
were isolated cases that appeared to be the work of two opportunists rather than the 
start of a wide scale problem within the council. The issue was quickly identified by 
HR due to the controls in place and the two individuals are no longer employed by 
the council.

 A data matching exercise is where the team took sets of data from various sources 
and inputted them into a database for comparison. The Cabinet Office ran the 
National Fraud Initiative (NFI) which took election data and compared it to addresses 
that were in receipt of the Single Person Discount. The database would flag up any 
addresses where there were multiple people living there over the age eighteen which 
assisted the team in finding possible fraudulent cases. KIN stood for the Kent 
Intelligence Network which was a network that was run by KCC, Medway Council 
and the district authorities within Kent; it was created through a successful funding 
bid to the DCLG. It is a fraud hub that the authorities use to run data matching to 
identify potential fraud and error within their areas 

 All of the information in the report occurred after the start of Covid-19 and the 
national lockdown; there was one referral case of homelessness (page 48) which 
was rejected due to insufficient information to justify investigation. The team had a 
limited amount of resources to pursue investigations and sometimes the information 
received from the public wasn’t enough to warrant an investigation, which was most 
likely what happened with the referral. Often the cases were reported out of hours 
and they did not leave any contact information to purse follow up information and 
clarification 

The Head of Audit & Counter Shared Services advised that the National Fraud Initiative was 
one of the biggest areas that the team worked on and a specific update on the work that 
stemmed from the most recently completed exercise would be submitted to the Committee 
at a future meeting. 

Resolved that the information contained within the report was noted. 

71. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 2020/21 

The Committee were provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including projected variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. 

Page 13



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

4

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 60 of the report which 
held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

 General Fund – Revenue 
 General Fund – Capital 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements. 

Following questions for clarification, the Director (Corporate Services) and the Principal 
Accountant (General Fund) elaborated further on several key points within the report:

 Parking Income: £1,019k adverse variance – For districts Council of Gravesham 
size, income received from parking was a large income stream; prior to Covid-19, the 
total budgeted income stream relating  to surface car parks  was a little over £1.4 
million. The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) added that it was hoped that the 
loss of income would be covered by the Local government income compensation 
scheme for lost sales, fees and charges. An update will be reported to the Committee 
in the next Budget Monitoring Report 

 Horn Yard and Market Square car parks – Final negotiations were still ongoing for 
the proposed Charter development and there was no fixed date however it was 
anticipated for the purposes of budget monitoring that the car parks would be closed 
from September 2020. 

 3.11.8 – MTFP – The Council received Government grant money totalling £130K to 
cover the administration costs for administering the business support grants to local 
businesses. 

 Land at Dering Way – A master planning exercise was underway; the Director 
(Corporate Services) agreed to circulate an explanation of the £1.1 million spend on 
Dering Way within the General Fund Capital Programme  

 Parrock Street Resurfacing – The Principle Accountant (General Fund) agreed to 
contact the lead officer and circulate an explanation as to why the Parrock Street Car 
Park resurfacing spend in the Capital Programme was £27K against a budget of just 
under £12K 

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Full Council approved the loan on 19 December 
2019 but the Council had not issued the loan to EHC yet. There were a number of 
conditions that EHC had to adhere to in order to receive the loan which included 
obtaining and sharing all relevant quotes for the works, certain caps on costs and 
some requirements around financial analysis. The conversations were ongoing with 
EHC and no grant payments would be made until they had fulfilled the criteria agreed 
by Full Council 

The Chair further explained that if there was another wave of Covid-19 related restrictions 
then the car parking income stream could be affected again as people would be working 
from home more and visit the Town less. 

In response to a question regarding the projected overspend of £3.36 million, the  Director 
(Corporate Services) confirmed that the council held working balances of some £10m;  the 
shortfall of some £3 million would be covered through the use of working balances. 

Page 14



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

5

A Member raised several questions concerning the Climate Change reserve of £500K and 
where the deciding line was with regard to spending decisions that had already been made 
on capital purchases and new spending decisions being made that were influenced by the 
need for the Council to go carbon neutral by 2030. The Director (Corporate Services) 
explained that the £500k reserve was intended to be used as seed funding to achieve the 
council’s carbon neutral ambitions; in some areas, such as housing, the nature of the works 
to maintain properties from capital provisions in the future are likely to include activity which 
contributes to this.

Due to the Council having a balanced Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) in February 
2020, the Director (Corporate Services) explained that the Council was in a stable financial 
position currently even taking into account the likely financial impacts of Covid-19. The 
longer term financial sustainability of the council will all be taken into consideration when the 
budget setting process is started; the Councils 2021/22 budget will be presented to Members 
at Full Council in February 2021. 

The Committee commended officers for their hard work during a very difficult quarter. 

Resolved that the Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

72. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report – Quarter One 
2020/21 

The Committee were provided with information on actual performance against the approved 
Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, including projected variances agreed or identified 
through budgetary control activity. 

The Principal Accountant (General Fund) directed Members to page 60 of the report which 
held an Executive Summary of the information in the report pertaining to the:  

 HRA – Revenue 
 HRA – Capital 

Members were updated on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, or Financial 
Statements. 

In response to a question regarding how the Vacancy Management was constituted, the 
Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer) agreed to circulate an answer to Members after 
the meeting. 

Resolved that the Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

73. Redmond Review Update 

The Committee were informed of the publication of the Independent Review into the 
Oversight of Local Audit and the Transparency of Local Authority Financial Reporting (the 
Redmond Review) and to summarise the key recommendations made. 

The Director (Corporate Services) informed the Committee that whilst the review was 
expected to report in March 2020, the document setting out the findings of the review was 

Page 15



Finance and Audit Committee 13.10.2020

6

actually released on 8th September 2020. The full findings of the review could be found 
through the below link:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reportingand-external-
audit-independent-review

The review set out a total of 23 recommendations which were reproduced at Appendix Two 
to the report for Members information. 

The Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, the Rt Hon Robert 
Jenrick MP, will now consider the findings and recommendations. Further updates on the 
Redmond Review will be brought to the committee in due course. 

The Chair queried if the recommendations that stemmed from the report were similar to what 
the Council already had in place or they were entirely new. 

The Director (Corporate Services) confirmed that the recommendations made by the review 
would be new recommendations for the MHCLG to consider; the recommendations primarily 
focused around external audit regulations and the creation of a new body, the Office for 
Local Audit and Regulation (OLAR), to deliver coordinated oversight and regulation of local 
external audit. They also focused on the quality and supply of the external audit service by 
expanding the pool of audit firms that could bid for local audit work thus increasing 
competition. With regards to how it would affect the Council, there were a few arrangements 
which the Finance & Audit Committee and Full Council would need to consider if the 
recommendations were pushed forward. These include the recommendation for annual 
reporting to Full Council of local audit outcomes and consideration of Independent Members 
to support the Finance & Audit Committee. The Director (Corporate Services) assured the 
Committee that they would be apprised of any further updates to the review and the 
recommendations at future Committee meetings. 

Resolved that the Committee noted the information contained within the report. 

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 20:33pm. 

Page 16

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reportingand-external-audit-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-authority-financial-reportingand-external-audit-independent-review


1

Extraordinary Overview Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday, 27 October 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jordan Meade (Chair)
Cllr Steve Thompson (Vice-Chair)

Councillors:

Also in 
attendance:

Conrad Broadley 
Leslie Hills
Emma Morley
Elizabeth Mulheran
Alan Ridgers
Christina Rolles 
Peter Scollard

Cllr John Burden, Leader of the Council.

Simon Walsh Service Manager (Communities) 
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer (Scrutiny)

18. Apologies 

No apologies for absence were received.

19. Minutes 

The Chair reminded the Committee that it was agreed at Full Council on 6 October 2020 that 
the Overview Scrutiny minutes of 17 September 2020 be amended in relation to declarations 
of interest made at the meeting. The amendment would be made in full consultation with the 
Vice-Chair of the Committee, Cllr Steve Thompson. 

Cllr Conrad Broadley addressed the Committee and amended his declaration of interest as 
detailed below:

Cllr Conrad Broadley declared an ‘other interest’ in Item 5. The Re-starting of the Maritime 
Strategy Scrutiny Review in that he is a member of the following river organisations:

Trustee, Director and Secretary of Northfleet Harbour Restoration Trust (Voluntary Position)
Chairman of Broadness Cruising Club (Voluntary Position)
Chairman of Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust (Voluntary Position)
Member of Gravesend Sailing Club
Founder Member of both Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust and Northfleet 
Harbour Restoration Trust

Page 17 Agenda Item 5c



Overview Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2020

2

Cllr Broadley also stated that he owns the following vessels:

 27ft yacht, 1964 model
 1955 Simmonds Speedboat
 1960s Freeman Cabin Cruiser 
 2 inflatable dinghies / tenders
 13ft open deck boat which he has donated to Dartford and Crayford Creek
 A boat which he allows use of in Northfleet harbour
 8ft Tender boat
 6.5ft Tender boat

The Chair confirmed he will sign the amended minutes of the meeting of the Overview 
Scrutiny Committee held on 17 September 2020, outside of the meeting.

20. Declarations of Interest 

Cllr Conrad Broadley declared an ‘other interest’ in Item 5. Maritime Scrutiny Review Sub-
Committee in that he is a member of the following river organisations:

Trustee, Director and Secretary of Northfleet Harbour Restoration Trust (Voluntary Position)
Chairman of Broadness Cruising Club (Voluntary Position)
Chairman of Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust (Voluntary Position)
Member of Gravesend Sailing Club
Founder Member of both Dartford and Crayford Creek Restoration Trust and Northfleet 
Harbour Restoration Trust

Cllr Broadley also stated that he owns the following vessels:

 27ft yacht, 1964 model
 1955 Simmonds Speedboat
 1960s Freeman Cabin Cruiser 
 2 inflatable dinghies / tenders
 13ft open deck boat which he has donated to Dartford and Crayford Creek
 A boat which he allows use of in Northfleet harbour
 8ft Tender boat
 6.5ft Tender boat

Cllr Jordan Meade declared an ‘other interest’ in Item 5. Maritime Scrutiny Review Sub-
Committee in that he is a National Trustee of the Maritime Volunteer Service. 

21. Maritime Scrutiny Review Sub-Committee 

The Vice-Chair, Cllr Steve Thompson explained that he, along with Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran 
and Cllr Christina Rolles, had called the Extraordinary Overview Scrutiny Committee in order 
to discuss the composition and political representation on the Maritime Scrutiny Review Sub-
Committee as the Chair and Vice-Chair were unable to agree on this matter outside of the 
meeting.

Page 18



Overview Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2020

3

It was moved by the Vice-Chair, Cllr Steve Thompson and seconded by the Chair, Cllr 
Jordan Meade that:-

 
The Committee reaffirm the non-political status of scrutiny and the desire to keep 
party politics out of the scrutiny process.
 

The motion was put to the meeting and declared to be carried unanimously. 

The Committee discussed a recent post that had been made on Facebook by Cllr Broadley. 
Some Members felt that the post was misleading and politicised the issue.  Several 
Members felt that Cllr Broadley should issue a public apology to the Labour Group.

Cllr Broadley explained to the Committee that he felt he had been denied the opportunity to 
talk about heritage sites in the Borough.

Following a comment made by Cllr Broadley regarding Cllr John Burden’s position on the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation Board; Cllr Burden, Leader of the Council clarified that 
both he and Cllr Lauren Sullivan are not appointed members of the Ebbsfleet Development 
Corporation Board. They do attend meetings of the Board but have no voting rights. 

The Vice-Chair highlighted correspondence between himself and the Chair regarding Cllr 
Broadley which occurred prior to the Facebook post. The Vice-Chair had requested the 
removal of Cllr Broadley from the Maritime Strategy Review Sub-Committee due to the 
contents of his declaration at the meeting of the Committee on 17 September 2020, which 
the Vice-Chair felt could bring any subsequent report from the Sub-Committee into 
disrepute. The Vice-Chair, however, felt that Cllr Broadley should be invited to give evidence 
as an expert witness. The Chair initially disagreed with the Vice-Chair before seeking advice 
from the Monitoring Officer, following the advice; the Chair decided that the best course of 
action was to remove Cllr Broadley from the Sub-Committee and invite him to give evidence 
as an expert witness to the Sub-Committee instead.

Cllr Broadley acknowledged the series of events and reasons that led to the request to 
remove him from the Sub-Committee and explained that he would amend his Facebook post 
to reflect this.

The Chair, Vice-Chair and Committee Members highlighted the value Cllr Broadley would 
provide to the Maritime Strategy Scrutiny Review if he decided to provide evidence as an 
expert witness. 

It was moved by the Chair, Cllr Jordan Meade that:-

Cllr Conrad Broadley be replaced on the Maritime Strategy Review Sub-Committee by 
Cllr Leslie Hills and any further decisions on the membership of the review Sub-
Committee will be taken by the Chair in full consultation with the Vice-Chair and that 
the Maritime Strategy Review proceed with the same timetable agreed by the 
Committee on 17 September 2020; completion by the end of November 2020 with a 
report to Cabinet thereafter.

Page 19



Overview Scrutiny Committee 27.10.2020

4

The Vice-Chair, Cllr Steve Thompson advised the Committee that he could not second the 
motion and moved that there be a vote on this matter.

The motion was put to the meeting and declared to be defeated by 5 votes to 4.

It was moved by the Vice-Chair, Cllr Steve Thompson and seconded by Cllr Peter Scollard 
that:-

Cllr Conrad Broadley be replaced on the Maritime Strategy Review Sub-Committee by 
Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran and any further decisions on the membership of the review 
Sub-Committee will be taken by the Chair in full consultation with the Vice-Chair and 
that the Maritime Strategy Review proceed with the same timetable agreed by the 
Committee on 17 September 2020; completion by the end of November 2020 with a 
report to Cabinet thereafter.

The motion was put to the meeting and declared to be carried by 5 votes to 4.

The Chair expressed his disappointment with this outcome and asked the Vice-Chair to 
clarify if it was his intention to retain the political balance on future reviews.

The Vice-Chair advised that the decision on the political balance of future reviews could be 
deferred to another time.

Resolved that: 

 the Overview Scrutiny Committee agreed that Cllr Conrad Broadley be replaced on 
the Maritime Strategy Review Sub-Committee by Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran and any 
further decisions on the membership of the review Sub-Committee will be taken by 
the Chair in full consultation  with the Vice-Chair; and

 the Maritime Strategy Review proceed with the same timetable agreed by the 
Committee on 17 September 2020; completion by the end of November 2020 with a 
report to Cabinet thereafter.

Please note: Cllr John Burden, Leader of the Council spoke with the leave of the Chair on 
this item

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.34 pm

Page 20



1

Cabinet

Monday, 9 November 2020 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr John Burden (Chair)
Cllr Lee Croxton (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Shane Mochrie-Cox
Lenny Rolles
Brian Sangha
Narinderjit Singh Thandi
Jenny Wallace

Stuart Bobby Chief Executive
Nick Brown Director (Housing & Operations)
Kevin Burbidge Director (Planning & Development)
Melanie Norris Director (Communities)
Daniel Killian Assistant Director (Housing)
Jan Guyler Head of Legal Services (Medway Council)
Andy Rayfield Communications Manager
Nicole Arthur Service Delivery Manager
Andrew Barnett Principal Accountant (General Fund)
Alexandra Jarvis Principal Accountant (Housing & Exchequer)
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager
James Bridges Digital Developer (Technical Support)

37. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 October 2020 were signed by the Chair.

38. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

39. Delegated Decisions - Cabinet Members 

The Leader advised that he had taken a delegated decision in respect of the Test and Trace 
Support Payment Scheme which had previously been circulated and published on the 
Council’s website. 

40. Annual Review of the Payroll Shared Service 

The Cabinet was provided with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the Payroll Shared Service with Medway Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework.

Page 21 Agenda Item 5d



Cabinet 9.11.2020

2

The Director (Communities) advised that the shared service had a third successful year and 
drew Member’s attention to appendix two of the report which detailed the objectives and key 
areas of focus that had been met.

Members expressed concern regarding the SelfServe4You system not being user-friendly.

The Director (Communities) advised that the system had recently been upgraded to improve 
user experience and this would continue to be a commitment moving forward.  

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

41. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2020-21 

The Cabinet received an update against the Performance Management Framework for 
Quarter Two 2020-21 (July to September 2020).

Appendix Two provided a summary of corporate performance in the last reporting quarter, 
with the following key statistical headlines:-

 64% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of performance; and
 36% of reported indicators had fallen in their level of performance.

Specifically in consideration of the adopted corporate objectives, the following headlines 
were presented for the last reporting quarter:-

 People: 67% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance;

 Place: 70% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of performance; 
and

 Progress: 40% of reported indicators improved or maintained their level of 
performance.

Information on performance over the period was presented in tabular and graphical form for 
all indicators. Where any data was not presented, this related either to those indicators 
reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data had not yet been submitted in time 
for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data had been unable to be reported 
will be presented within the next available reporting cycle to Cabinet and the relevant 
Cabinet Committees.

The Chief Executive advised that, following Cabinet’s review, all Cabinet Committees will be 
presented with individual performance reports tailored to the respective portfolio 
responsibilities. Alongside statistical content, these will provide more detailed contextual or 
qualitative updates outlining what activity the Council had delivered and what action will be 
taken to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s corporate objectives and policy 
commitments.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

Page 22



Cabinet 9.11.2020

3

42. Communications Strategy 

The Cabinet was advised that communications and engagement was at the heart of all that 
the Council does and that it was vital that the Council engages with residents, businesses, 
partners and stakeholders effectively to communicate key messages and how it will deliver 
against the objectives set in the Corporate Plan. The Council did not currently have a 
Communications Strategy. The Communications Manager committed to drafting a Strategy 
on his appointment in August 2019. This was also a key commitment within the LGA Peer 
Challenge Action Plan and Annual Governance Statement 2019-20. 

The Communications Manager presented Members with a draft Communications Strategy 
together with the following appendices:-

 Draft Social Media Policy; and 
 Draft Crisis Communications Policy.

The Cabinet welcomed the Communications Strategy and its appendices and commended 
the format/language used within the document. 

The Cabinet also acknowledged that an Engagement Strategy was currently being drafted 
which would sit alongside this document.
 

Resolved that the Communications Strategy and its appendices be adopted.

43. Annual Review of the Legal Shared Service 

The Cabinet was provided with a copy of the annual review that had been conducted in 
respect of the Legal Shared Service with Medway Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Working in Partnership Framework.

The Director (Communities) advised that the shared service had a third successful year and 
drew Member’s attention to appendix two of the report which detailed the objectives and key 
areas of focus that had been met.

The Cabinet welcomed the additional resilience offered by the shared service. 
 
The Cabinet also acknowledged the feedback detailed within section 5 of appendix 2 and 
asked what measures have or can be put in place to assist the issues raised.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

44. Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the workforce within DSO 
Building Management 

Further to minute 129 (08.10.2018), the Cabinet was informed that Phase 1 of the expansion 
began in November 2018 and saw a well-publicised recruitment campaign. There was a 
really good response with over 200 people applying for the vacant positions. However, whilst 
a high calibre of applicants was received it was essential that people were recruited with the 
exact skill set that were needed in order to generate the savings and efficiencies that had 
been identified. The very specific requirements meant that recruitment took longer than first 

Page 23



Cabinet 9.11.2020

4

anticipated and the newly-created roles in Phase 1 were not fully occupied until September 
2019.

The Cabinet was informed that Phase 2 would create further opportunities to reduce the 
reliance on term contractors within the DSO Building Management Team by expanding the 
in-house workforce at a more competitive rate than current contractors to further assist with 
efficiency savings, improving the quality of work and timescales in which work would be 
completed.

In addition to this, the proposals outlined within the report would also enable a more 
commercial approach to be adopted within the repairs teams to ensure the service is in the 
best possible position for trading to the public through Rosherville Limited.

The Assistant Director (Housing) advised that the total financial commitment of recruiting the 
additional craft workers would be approximately £590,990. The recruitment of the additional 
craft workers would be accommodated within existing budgets and will allow the service to 
continue to drive through efficiencies and savings by bringing more work back in-house. The 
changes as proposed within the report were likely to generate a saving of £672,500 within 
Capital HRA budgets and £256,480 within HRA Revenue budgets whilst also increasing the 
quality of work and capacity to deliver more for the tenants. 

The Cabinet congratulated the Assistant Director (Housing) and DSO Building Management 
Team for making the expansion a success. 

Resolved that the Cabinet recognise that an in-house workforce is more competitive 
than using contractors to carry out certain elements of work and recommends to Full 
Council the proposals to expand the in-house workforce further as set out in Section 
4 and Appendix 3 of the report and to make the necessary amendments to the 
relevant Capital and Revenue Budgets.

45. De-merger of the Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership 

The Cabinet was informed that following the introduction of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998, both Dartford and Gravesham established Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 
(CDRPs) now known as Community Safety Partnerships, in order to meet their statutory 
obligations. The separate Partnerships were then merged in December 2006 following a 
Home Office-led review. The merger of Partnerships, particularly in two-tier Authorities, was 
seen at that time as a positive means of pooling resources and reducing the level of demand 
made on those agencies needing to participate in Partnership meetings.

During the lifetime of the CSP since the merger, the joint arrangements had generally 
worked well and strong relationships had been formed across the agencies represented. 
However, many things had changed during the course of the last 14 years that led 
Gravesham to conclude that now was the right time to re-establish its own separate and 
independent statutory CSP.

All statutory partner representatives were contacted and briefed on the proposed de-merger 
in late August/early September. A majority of the responses received were in support for the 
de-merger, with some having been very positive about the proposal. Dartford Borough 
Council made clear that they would had preferred the Partnership to remain a joint one but 
agreed to respect Gravesham’s wish to have an independent CSP and therefore, conceded 
to a de-merger. 

Page 24



Cabinet 9.11.2020

5

A delegated decision was therefore taken on 15 October 2020 by the Lead Member, 
Councillor Shane Mochrie-Cox countersigned by the Leader of the Council, Cllr John Burden 
for the withdrawal of Gravesham from the joint CSP in order that a dedicated District-level 
Partnership can be established.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

46. General Fund Budget Monitoring Report 2020/21 - Quarter Two 

The Cabinet received the second budget monitoring report for 2020/21 showing the position 
up to 30 September 2020. The Cabinet noted the information provided on:-

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, 
including projected variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; 
and

 other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan or Financial Statements.

Following the new national restrictions which came into effect on 5 November 2020, the 
Chief Executive provided Members with an update on the support which will be provided by 
the Council to vulnerable groups and businesses together with the financial consequences of 
COVID-19 and the support packages which have been provided, to date, by Central 
Government. The most recent being the:-

 Local Restrictions Support Grant (£1.38 million) – this grant will be available to those 
businesses that were open as usual and then required to close due to the new 
restrictions; and

 Additional Restrictions Grant (£2.1million) – this grant will be available for those 
businesses that are not covered by other grant schemes or where additional funding 
will be needed.

The Cabinet was informed that, due to the Council’s efforts over the last five years, it had a 
strong level of reserves which would be sufficient to avoid serious financial difficulty in the 
short term however the Council was now forecasting a shortfall from 2026/2027 onwards. 

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

47. Housing Revenue Account Budget Monitoring Report  - Quarter Two 2020/21 

The Cabinet received the second budget monitoring report for 2020/21 showing the position 
up to 30 September 2020. The Cabinet noted the information provided on:-

 actual performance against the approved Revenue and Capital budgets for 2020/21, 
including known variances agreed or identified through budgetary control activity; and

 other key arears of financial performance that may impact on the Council’s Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan, HRA Business Plan or 
Financial Statements.

The Leader stated that the Council will continue to deliver new homes within the Borough.

Page 25



Cabinet 9.11.2020

6

The Cabinet acknowledged the work being undertaken by the Income Team on debt 
recovery whilst providing support  to customers to minimise and prevent the accumulation of 
debt.

The Cabinet noted the information contained within the report.

48. Minutes of the meeting of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Wednesday, 9 September 2020 

The Cabinet considered the minutes of the Gravesham Joint Transportation Board held on 
Wednesday 9 September 2020.

49. Minutes of the meeting of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday, 8 October 2020 

The Cabinet considered the minutes of the Crime & Disorder Scrutiny Committee held on 
Thursday 8 October 2020.

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.09 pm

Page 26



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Council  

Date: 01 December 2020

Reporting officer: Nick Brown, Director (Housing & Operations) and Deputy 
Chief Executive

Subject: Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the 
workforce within DSO Building Management. 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To advise the Council of the Cabinet recommendation to expand the operational workforce 
within DSO Building Management and to request Council to approve the expansion as set 
out within this report. 

The expansion of the workforce will reduce the reliance on external contractors within the 
DSO Building Management Team by increasing the in-house resource which can be done at 
a more competitive rate than current contractors to further assist with efficiency savings, 
improving the quality of work and timescales in which it is completed. 

In addition to this, the proposals outlined within this report would also enable a more 
commercial approach to be adopted within the repairs teams to ensure the service is in the 
best possible position for trading to the public through Rosherville Limited. 

Recommendations:
1. Council is requested to approve the proposals to further increase the in-house 

workforce within DSO Building Management as set out in Section 4 and Appendix 3 of 
this report and to make the necessary ammendments to the relevant Capital and 
Revenue Budgets as recommended by Cabinet on 09 November 2020.

1. Overview

1.1 As a landlord, Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty to ensure its 
housing stock is properly maintained, that equipment is serviced and that any 
responsive repairs are completed in a timely manner.

1.2 Gravesham Borough Council is the only Council within Kent that has a Direct 
Services Organisation (DSO) which directly employs a number of craft workers to 
carry out responsive repairs on council-owned housing, both tenanted and non-
tenanted (void) ensuring compliance with the council’s landlord obligations. 
Through Phase 1 recruitment we also took responsibility for the Kitchen and 
Bathroom programme back in-house.

Page 27 Agenda Item 7



2

1.3 The craft workers employed to work on properties are split into three separate 
teams, Responsive Repairs, Voids and Kitchen & Bathroom but they do also work 
across all sections when required to meet the needs of the service. This proved 
vital during Covid-19, and due to successful outputs despite the difficult operating 
environment, really confirmed the decision to increase the front line workforce as 
being the best way forward for our tenants and the authority. 

2. Background

2.1 The Overview Scrutiny Committee Topic Review in June 2016 made a 
recommendation to increase the current establishment in order to keep more work 
in-house and reduce the reliance on a contractor.  

2.2 A number of significant changes have been made to the service over the last four 
years including changing the pay arrangements for the craft workers, 
implementing a job scheduling system coupled with handheld technology and 
introducing more robust policies and procedures for both staff and tenants.

2.3 In October 2018 Cabinet agreed to support the proposal to recruit 25 additional 
craft workers to be appointed over two phases, Phase 1 was to recruit 14 new 
members of staff with an additional 11 to be recruited in Phase 2.  

2.4 Cabinet gave delegated authority to the Director to recruit the additional craft 
works detailed in Phase 2 of the proposal in consultation with the Lead Member 
and the Section 151 Officer following the review of Phase 1 after six months of 
being fully operational.  However having reviewed the current workload and 
organisation of the teams for Phase 2, it is now 23 craft workers that are needed 
(12 more than originally agreed) to ensure that as much work as possible is kept 
in-house whilst also  providing the opportunity to bring the electrical upgrade 
programme in-house.

2.5 An update report was presented to Cabinet on 09 November 2020 to explain and 
justify the increase in staff numbers for Phase 2, with a recommendation to 
support the revised proposals and to recommend to Council to approve the 
proposals to further expand the in-house workforce as set out in Section 4 and 
Appendix 3 of this report, and to make the necessary amendments to the relevant 
Capital and Revenue Budgets. Cabinet recognised that an in-house workforce is 
more competative than using contractors to carrry our certain elements of work 
and recommended Full Council to approve the proposal as set out in the report.  

3. Current situation

3.1 Phase 1 of the expansion began in November 2018 and saw a well-publicised 
recruitment campaign.  There was a really good response with over 200 people 
applying for the vacant positions. However whilst a high calibre of applicants was 
received it was essential that people were recruited with the exact skill set that we 
needed to generate the savings and efficiencies that had been identified. The very 
specific requirements meant that recruitment took longer than first anticipated, and 
the newly-created roles in Phase 1 were not fully occupied until September 2019. 

3.2 Whilst it took much longer to recruit than originally anticipated, ultimately, it has 
been a benefit to the service and our tenants as the new recruits not only have the 
skill sets that were required but also more skills than had been anticipated which 
has given us the ability to undertake a wider range of work such as specialist 
flooring, qualified locksmith work and disabled shower cubicle work which would 
have previously been given to a contractor.

Page 28



3

3.3 The expansion of the workforce also allowed the service to take the monthly 
testing of emergency lighting back in-house, which was not originally planned for 
when setting out Phases1 & 2.  Whilst the testing of the lighting undertaken by the 
contractor wasn’t expensive at £5.60 per check the remedial works generated 
from this was.  

3.4 This emergency light testing work was carried out by our in-house team from July 
2019 and it generated a saving of £28,503 in 2019/2020.  It has also allowed the 
service to rationalise fixtures and fittings which long-term will generate further 
efficiency savings.  

3.5 Compliance rates for the ‘flick’ testing of our emergency lighting have also 
increased and are now at 100%, whereas when this work was carried out by a 
contractor, compliancy averaged at around 60%.  Once the lighting has been fully 
rationalised and a barcoding system introduced via Oneserve the responsibility for 
the testing of lighting will transfer to the Caretakers as part of their routine checks 
without the need to increase the workforce.

3.6 In the report presented to Cabinet on 8 October 2018 it was confirmed that in 
addition to the financial benefits the service would realise in increasing the 
workforce, there would also be a number of non-financial benefits, a summary of 
which can be found below along with an update on how this was achieved:

3.6.1 Increased quality of work - whilst there was evidence that the in-house 
workforce delivered a higher standard of work due to the lower levels of 
failed post inspections, snags and complaints compared to the contractor, 
the majority of the new recruits were previously self-employed so had a 
clear understanding of what a ‘customer’ expects in terms of the work 
quality and level of customer service. 

3.6.2 Better value for money - In 2019/2020 the budget for repairs and 
maintenance was set at £4,270,530 and the outturn was £4,076,972, 
delivering a saving of £193,558 on the 2019/20 budget. This saving was 
achieved in addition to the ongoing budget reductions within DSO Building 
Management over recent years.  To put this into context, historically and 
up to 2015/2016, prior to any changes being made to the service the 
budget for repairs and maintenance was set at £5,000,000, with an 
average overspend per year of nearly £500,000. The budget for 2020/21 
was set at £3,992,000 and based on current predictions, a year-end saving 
of approximately £70,000 is likely to be achieved assuming there are no 
adverse incidents creating a spike in demand. 

3.6.3 Increase flexibility and resilience – the impact of Covid-19 has really 
demonstrated the benefits of having an in-house workforce.  The service 
was able to still provide a good level of service and return to normal 
service levels quickly and effectively.  We were one of the few social 
housing providers in Kent to continue to operate a repairs and 
maintenance (including voids) service over the last six months.

3.6.4 A greater focus on prevention - since the increase to the establishment 
the majority of work that is pre-inspected is carried out by the tradesman 
who will be undertaking the work.  This allows them to decide on the best 
long-term solution and materials for the repair but also allows them to book 
the appointment on site with the tenant whilst confirming what work will be 
carried out.

Page 29



4

3.6.5 Improved customer satisfaction - customer satisfaction with repairs was 
98% in 2019/20 compared to 96.93% in 2018/19. Whilst there is limited 
historical data on previous years, BMG were commissioned in 2016 to 
undertake a telephone survey to establish customer satisfaction across the 
key service areas.  The report confirmed that 75% of tenants were 
satisfied with how the Council dealt with repairs and maintenance.

3.7 Performance levels have also improved and can be found below:

2018/2019 2019/2020

Number of emergency 
repairs completed within 
target

99.92% 100%

Number of non-
emergency repairs 
completed within target

90.78% 91.31%

Customer satisfaction 96.93% 98%

Average days to 
complete a repair

12 8

Average cost per repair £110.36 £106.71

Average spend on 
repairs per property

£534 £495.37

Number of completed 
jobs by DSO

14,120 19,892

Percentage of repair 
work kept in house 

74% 84%

3.8 The service was also shortlisted as a finalist in the category of Maintenance Team 
of the Year in the national Housing Heroes Awards in July 2019.  Our submission 
outlined our journey and achievements and it was a proud moment for all of the 
workforce to be recognised and shortlisted. 

3.9 Covid-19 has delayed this proposal being progressed and Cabinet permission 
being sought earlier, however it is important that that permission is sought before 
the end of the calendar year to ensure that the 2021/2022 budgets can be aligned 
to reflect the proposal.  It should be noted that the current electrical contract would 
need to be extended for a further year if agreement to expand could not be sought 
within the same timescale.

3.10 Appendix 2 outlines what was presented to Cabinet in October 2018 in terms of 
Phase 1 and the potential benefits along with the update for each of the trades 
recruited.

Page 30



5

4. Proposal

4.1 The 2018 report identified the roles which were needed at that moment in time for 
Phase 2. However, in undertaking further analysis as to what type of work is being 
given out to our contractor and the skills currently held in-house, it has been 
established there are four areas to focus on which are summarised below.  

4.1.1 Expanding current skill sets – expand the workforce in the areas where 
we already have the skillset to bring those trades in their entirety back in 
house, such as fencing and wet trades.  Previously it was felt that there 
would always be a need for a contractor to provide these type of services.  
However over the last three years, our existing contractor has been unable 
to provide extra labour on request, particularly at short notice.  With this 
and the efficient scheduling of appointments some trades are now 
completed using only our in-house workforce such as double glazing, 
electrical repairs and plumbing and now other trades have been identified 
where this could happen.

4.1.2 Increasing in-house skillsets - recruiting to the trades that we do not 
currently have such as roofing and drainage as outlined in Appendix 3.

4.1.3 Creating less skilled roles to support trades – historically DSO Building 
Management has always kept the smaller jobs in-house giving the bigger 
work to a contractor.  However, a refocus over the last 18 months has 
resulted in us keeping the bigger and more expensive jobs in-house.  This 
can mean that if it is a two-man job, we may lose two skilled craft workers 
on one job for a week.  In exploring the industry it has been identified that 
we need labourer roles which will help to support the current operation and 
the new trades being brought back in-house, somebody to foot a ladder for 
a roofer is a good example.  There will also be opportunities to develop 
such labourers with specific trade courses which will benefit both them and 
the service.

4.1.4 Planned Works - the electrical testing and upgrade programme is a 
planned programme that has historically been completed by a contractor.   
The current contractor’s contract for the Electrical Testing and Upgrade 
programme expires in March 2021 and it is seen as an opportunity to bring 
this work back in-house.  The Code of Practice for Electrotechnical Care in 
Social Housing confirms that social housing landlords should be 
undertaking an inspection of the electrics in a property every five years. 
Whilst the cost of the test undertaken by the current contractor is not 
expensive, any remedial work following the test is.  

4.1.5 A comparison between the contractor’s schedule of rates and the costs to 
the DSO Building Management can be found below:

Work to be carried out Cost of Contractor 
to complete work

Cost of DSO to 
complete work

Renew 20A DP Ceiling 
Switch 

£24.78 £11.52

Install and size RCD £76.91 £23.03
Fan renew variable 
speed timer

£154.57 £23.03

Install new kitchen ring £451.39 £170.42

Page 31



6

4.2 Using the detailed information on Oneserve from 2017 we have forecast that we 
will need to grow the establishment in line with the new craft worker posts detailed 
in Appendix 3 and seek Council agreement to increase the establishment 
accordingly and start the recruitment process for these posts.

4.3 If approval is given and due to the current climate with Covid-19, the recruitment 
campaign will be focused on the fact the no staff have been furloughed and our 
expansion will be a good news story when there are so many companies having 
to make their staff redundant.

4.4 The current contractors for responsive repairs and the electrical upgrade 
programme are not local contractors and neither is their workforce, therefore 
expanding the workforce will bring employment in to the Borough at a time when it 
is needed most.

4.5 In addition to all the benefits an in-house workforce can deliver now, expanding 
the team and taking greater control of how we deliver our service more efficiently 
enables a more commercial approach to be taken which aligns with the corporate 
ambition of privately trading and selling our services to generate much-needed 
income.  

4.6 In preparation for private trading, it is important to succession plan and increase 
the number of trade apprentices employed within DSO Building Management in 
order to grow and shape the future workforce.  Work is on-going to review what is 
required and will be taken forward in Spring 2021 to fit in with the summer in-take 
of the local colleges.

5. Budget

5.1 A summary of the financial implications supplied by the Finance team can be 
found in Appendix 4.  

5.2 In addition to the costs that have been identified in Appendix 5, there will also 
need to be a Capital spend for the purchasing of additional vans.  There is already 
£120,000 in budget line C212/C001 and C212/C0048 set aside for the purchase 
of new vans in Phase 2. 

5.3 However, due to the proposals to increase the workforce above what was initially 
planned for Phase 2, an additional 16 vans are required totalling £184,000. 
Working with colleagues in Finance, the additional amount required can be funded 
from an underspend within the current financial year (budget H882/5113). 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 32



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal As a Landlord, the Council has a legal duty to respond to repair requests within set 
timescales to ensure compliance with legislation and therefore needs appropriate 
resources in place to comply with this requirement

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The total financial commitment of recruiting the additional craft workers would be 
£590,990 at top of grade, inclusive of on-costs and overheads which can be 
contained within existing budgets. 
The recruitment of additional craft workers can be accommodated within exisitng 
budgets, and will allow the service to continue to drive through efficiencies and 
savings by bringing more work back in-house.
The changes as proposed within this report are likely to generate an overall saving 
of £672,500 within Capital HRA budgets and £256,480 within HRA Revenue 
budgets whilst also increasing the quality of work and capacity to deliver more for 
our tenants.
There is also a risk that we may over resource however due to the data held in 
regards to levels of work and what is required this in unlikely.   

Risk Assessment Under Phase 1 to mitigate the risk of over resourcing the service, a two phase 
approach to recruitment took place and over the last 18 months we have been able 
to monitor the service and it has given extra time to determine what is needed.
There is a risk that we take on people without the extact skill set we are looking for 
however we are confident that our success in recruiting in Phase 1 will continue.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Page 33

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan #1 People
Provide A Proactive, Supportive & Financially Efficient Housing Service: high 
quality tenant management experienced through a service making full use of its 
assets. 
Deliver a skilled in-house building management team
#2 Place 
Increased local opportunities for residents will also have reduced the need to travel 
outside the Borough for employment.
#3 Progress
Develop an entrepreneurial culture.
Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council.
 

Climate Change
Having control over the appointments for DSO Building Management ensures that 
work is programmed in the most efficient way reducing fuel usage across the 
Borough.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Digital and website 
implications

N/A

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 34



Appendix 2–Phase 1 recruitment update

TRADE QUANTITY FUNDING JUSTIFICATION OUTCOMES

Kitchen & 
Bathroom 
Team. One 
team will 
consist of :

3 x Multi 
Trade

0.66 x 
Electrician

3 x teams of 3 
multi-trades 

and 

2 electricians to 
work across the 
three teams.

The total salary costs, at top of 
scale for these additional posts 
equates to £462,727. This will be 
funded from the Capital Budget 
(C406 & C409) that is currently 
managed by Asset Management 
Team and we will work with the 
Finance Team to decide the most 
appropriate and easiest way of 
altering existing budgets and 
creating new budget lines to 
reflect the new ways of working.

Over the next 30 years, it is estimated that the Asset Management Team is likely to spend in the region of 
£54.5m on installing new kitchens and bathrooms as confirmed within the recent stock condition survey. 
This equates to £1.8m per year in total with 1.3m allocated to kitchens and to bathrooms and £1.3m to 
kitchens. However, this figure is calculated using basket rates currently used by a contractor who undertake 
100% of this work on behalf of the council. 

On a rolling programme, and to ensure that we invest consistently and in line with our policies, on an 
annual basis an average of 189 kitchens and 283 bathrooms will be replaced on a capital programme of 
works.        

The current contractor’s basket rate is £5,500 per kitchen and £3,355 per bathroom. 

Using the calculations and comparisons with what it costs in a void property, it is estimated the in-house 
team would complete a kitchen for an average of £3,500 per kitchen and £2,000 per bathroom. This is an 
estimated saving of 36% on kitchens and 40% on bathrooms. Using these estimated figures, it is likely that 
we could reduce the capital commitment within the 30 year business plan by approximately £23m, or 
£760,000 per year. 

The capital budget for the kitchen and bathroom programme will be adjusted to allow for the recruitment of 
the teams and as this work progresses, we will work with the finance team to update the 30 year business 
plan to reflect the savings achieved. 

Phase 1 recruitment : 6 multi trade and 1 electrician

The in-house programme has proved popular with tenants with 
customer satisfaction being at 99%.  Across the Capital programme in 
2019/2020 210 kitchens and 127 bathrooms were installed.   

The 2019/2020 Kitchen Programme was brought back in-house as 
part of the Phase 1 recruitment process. It was anticipated that it 
would cost an average of £3,500 per kitchen install compared to 
£5,500 basket price with the contractor.  The end of year average 
figure was £3,134 per kitchen so slightly less than anticipated.  

It is important to note that the average price of £3,134 achieved in the 
last financial year also includes upgrading of pipework, flooring repairs 
where needed, upgrading of light fittings and sockets none of which 
would have been completed if the work had been given to a contactor.

Fewer tenants than anticipated took up the offer of a bathroom 
replacement which meant we did focus some of the resource to 
undertake some larger scale plumbing jobs and managed to keep 
92% in-house, up 12% on the previous year.

Multi Trade 
Carpenter 

2 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale for both posts is £64,686. 

This will be funded from the 
contractor budget within D101 
(Carpentry & UPVC) and the on-
going salary savings following the 
craft workers review. 

Carpenters carry out all carpentry and UPVC work on our properties and communal areas and this is 
probably the service which has the greatest demand put on them due to the nature of the work which is 
often related to security or fire safety.  We carry out 80 % of the workload with the other 20% undertaken by 
the contractor.  It is also one area with the highest turnaround time which averages 54 days for a non-
emergency from the call coming in to completion which is outside of the 28 day target. Whilst one carpenter 
would be sufficient to accommodate current workloads, it wouldn’t improve the current end to end times that 
remain outside of the target of 28 days. Therefore to ensure the targets are met, and to carry out the work 
at a more competitive rate two multi trade carpenters are required.

Phase 1 recruitment: 1 carpenter

The recruitment of a carpenter meant that we kept 91% of carpentry 
work in-house in 2019/2020 and reduced the average completion per 
job from 54 days to 9 days.

The decision has been taken to not recruit to the extra carpenter 
position as part of Phase 2 but to keep this under review with 
consideration to recruit further down the line with a carpenter who is 
competent to repair and fit fire doors, which is considered to be 
specialist work and therefore waiting for further government guidance.

In 2018/2019 the contractor spend for carpentry was £166,591 which 
reduced to £65,554 in 2019/2020.

Multi Trade 5 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale for all five posts is £161,715. 

The funding for these five posts 
will be taken from various budgets 
used for the elements of work they 
will be carrying out, and will 
include using the contractor 
budgets from D100 (Brickwork), 
D102 (Decorators), D109 
(Fencing), D114 (Damp & Mould) 
and D115 (Aids & Adaptations) 
and the on-going salary savings 
following the review. 

Since April 2017, 4,303 multi trade jobs have been completed with the DSO completing 37% of these in-
house. The other 63% have been completed by a contractor with an average end to end time of 32 days, 
which is just over the 28 day target. The length of time to complete these jobs such as fencing, aids and 
adaptations, decorating and bricklaying also generates a number of issues for Housing Management 
especially when the work relates to boundary and garden walls. The recruitment of the extra posts will also 
allow us to undertake some smaller scale garage repairs which are currently allocated to a contractor and 
also keep the majority of fencing work in-house.  There has been 727 fencing jobs undertaken with an end 
to end time of 44.8 days. Brickwork has proved to be more costly with the new term contractor as it is not 
always possible to use the schedule of rates and therefore ‘quoted’ work is used which can be expensive. 
Carrying out this work by an in-house team will generate further savings. 

Phase 1 recruitment: 2 Multi-trade

68% of multi trade work was kept in-house in 2019/2020, a significant 
increase on what had happened in previous years and generated a 
saving of £67,000.

In 2019/2020, 50% of fencing work was completed in-house at a cost 
of £25,249 by our multi trades in between other work. In 2018/19, 
£125,562 was paid to a contractor to deliver the other 50%, the type 
of work was also comparable.  The end to end time of fencing repairs 
undertaken by our contractor is 62 days compared to 19 for the in-
house team.  

Electrician 1 The total salary cost, at top of 
scale for this one post is £41,545.

 This will be funded from the 
contractor budget within D104 
(Electricians) and the on-going 
salary savings following the 
review.

Since April 2017, 5,478 electrical jobs have been completed in our occupied properties and communal 
areas.  84 % have been completed by DSO and 16% by the contractor.  The majority of the work which has 
been passed to the contractor relates to communal lighting repairs.  The end to end time for the work given 
to a contractor averages 75 days. This work can be carried out more economically in-house, along with 
improving the end to end times and customer satisfaction. 

Phase 1 recruitment: 1 electrician

In 2019/2020 100% of day to day responsive repair work was 
completed by the DSO with an average turnaround time of 3 days.  

A small amount of specialist work was given to a contractor such as 
street column repairs on the estates which generated a spend of 
£21,025 which was £57,000 down on the previous financial year. 

We also bought back in-house emergency light testing and repairs 
from July 2019 which generated a saving of £28,503 on the servicing 
budget.

Electrician 2 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale, for these two posts is 
£83,090. This will be funded from 

All empty properties must have an electrical check before the property can be re-let.  There are no directly 
employed electricians within the void team and all work has been sourced via a contractor over the last 2 
years. Since October 2017 our contractor has supplied us with 2 electricians who solely work on our empty 

Phase 1 recruitment: 1 electrician (not yet recruited to)

Unfortunately whilst a high number of suitable applicants had applied 
for this position we have experienced a number of issues during the 

P
age 35



Appendix 2–Phase 1 recruitment update

the contractor budget within D110 
(Voids) and the on-going salary 
savings following the review.

properties and have completed 214 checks and or/rewires. A check takes both electricians half a day, a 
kitchen upgrade a whole day and a rewire of a property between 3-5 days. Based on the costs of us 
bringing the work in-house, it is estimated that it is between 25% -35% cheaper than using our current 
contractor.

recruitment process with clearance of the applicants which had meant 
we were unable to start anybody and generate a saving.  

However during this time processes in terms of the electrical work on 
a void and how it is carried out has improved meaning we will only 
need 1 void electrician rather than recruit a further one in Phase 2.  

Multi Trade 4 The total salary costs, at top of 
scale, for these four posts is 
£129,372. This will be funded from 
the contractor budget within D110 
(Voids) and the on-going salary 
savings following the review.

Since January 2018 we have completed 176 voids, 64% by our in-house team and 36% by our contractors. 
Recruitment of the extra void teams will allow us to take on 96% of the work and use our contractor for 
some of the bigger refurbishment projects.

Phase 1 recruitment: 2 multi trade

In 2019/2020 the percentage of voids kept in –house increased from 
64% to 86%. 

Keeping more of the void work in-house did not adversely impact the 
turn- around times with minor voids remaining at 8 days and major 
increasing by one day to 24 days turn around time.

Whilst we had identified that recruiting a further two multi traders as 
part of Phase 2 would move us towards 96% being kept in-house, 
further analysis has been undertaken with the decision to recruit less 
skilled staff to free up the multi skilled workforce which will help with 
both turnaround time and keeping more work in-house.

P
age 36



Appendix 3– Proposed Additional Resources for Responsive Repairs

TRADE QUANTITY TEAM FUNDING JUSTIFICATION BENEFITS

Electrical 
(upgrade 
programme)

6 electricians and 2 
apprentices

Planned Work 
Surveyor will 
manage the 
Electrical Upgrade 
Team

Salary Costs- £284,120

Material costs- £236,000

Van overheads- £30,000

Third Party Auditor- £20,000

Total cost of the programme is 
£570,120

This will be funded from the 
Capital Budget (C851/C0031) that 
is currently managed by Asset 
Management

On a rolling programme, and to ensure that we invest consistently and in line with our policies, on an 
annual basis an average of 1,138 properties and 50 blocks are on the capital programme of works for 
electrical testing and upgrades which equates to £831,600 per annum, based on £700 on average per 
property.

Using the calculations and comparisons with what it costs us to undertake the work in occupied and void 
properties, it is estimated the in house team could complete the programme with an average price per 
property for £480 a saving of 31%.

Using these estimated figures, it is likely that we could reduce the capital commitment within the 30 year 
business plan by approximately £260,000 per year,

The capital budget for the electrical programme will be adjusted to allow for the recruitment of the teams 
and as this work progresses, we will work with the finance team to update the 30 year business plan to 
reflect the savings achieved and where the savings could be spent across the stock on any improvement/ 
compliancy work needed.

The in house craft workers already complete electrical testing and 
upgrades in both occupied and empty (void) properties which has 
allowed us to get a good understanding of the amount of resource 
required, time needed to be allocated and the costs involved and 
therefore we will be able to complete more properties than what is on 
the original programme.  This in turn should have a positive impact 
on the repairs budget as we will proactive rather than by finding 
faults at an earlier stage when it is easier to deal with and we have 
resource already on –site.  

Kitchen Team 3 Multi Traders Planned Work 
Surveyor will 
manage the Kitchen 
Team

Salary Costs- £104,910

Materials- £45,000

Van overheads- £15,000

Total cost  is £164,910

This will be funded from the 
Capital Budget (C409) that is 
currently managed by Asset 
Management.  

The budget had been increased 
for 20/21 to accommodate the 
Phase 2 recruitment process but 
did not go ahead due to Covid- 19 
and delay in these Capital works 
starting.

The 2019/2020 Kitchen Programme was brought back in house as part of the Phase 1 recruitment 
process. We had anticipated that it would cost an average of £3,500 per kitchen install compared to 
£5,500 basket price with the contractor.  The end of year average figure was £3,134 per kitchen so slightly 
cheaper than anticipated.  It is important to note that the average price of £3,134 achieved in the last 
financial year also includes upgrading of pipework, flooring repairs where needed, upgrading of light 
fittings and sockets none of which would have been completed if the work had been given to a contactor.

Over the next 30 years, it is estimated that the Asset Management Team is likely to spend in the region of 
£29,925,000 on installing new kitchens based on the most recent stock condition survey. This equates to 
an average of £997,500 per year. However, this figure is calculated using the contractor basket rate of 
who previously undertook the work.

On a rolling programme, and to ensure that we invest consistently and in line with our policies, on an 
annual basis an average of 181 kitchens will be replaced on a capital programme of works.        

Using these estimated figures, it is likely that we could reduce the capital commitment within the 30 year 
business plan by £10.9m, or £364,000 per year. 

The capital budget for the kitchen programme will be adjusted to allow for the recruitment of the teams 
and as this work progresses, we will work with the finance team to update the 30 year business plan to 
reflect the savings achieved.

The in house programme has proved popular with tenants with 
customer satisfaction being at 99%.

Having control of the programme has also meant we re-profiled the 
kitchen programme by area and were able to bring some properties 
in the same block which may not have been due to the following year 
or two forward.  This has created efficiencies by having the workforce 
in one area and reducing waste, such as part used bags of plaster or 
tins of paint.  For this 20/21 programme we have managed to 
programme 17 kitchens in one estate which would have been due in 
the next 3 years.  

Multi Trade 7 Multi traders that 
must have the skill 
sets of roofing, wet 
trades (decorating/ 
plastering/artexing), 
drainage, fencing 
and ground work

Responsive Repairs 
and will be 
managed by the 
Team Manager – 
Electrical QS

Salary Costs- £244,970

Material Costs- £54,660

Van overheads- £35,000

Total cost- £334,630

The multi traders will be 
supported by labourers (detail 
below), total salary costs, at the 
top of scale for labourers is 
£126,450

Total cost- £461,080

This is to bring in basic roofing, all 
wet trades, all fencing and ground 
work and all basic drainage in 
house. 

This will be funded from the 
contractor budget where currently 

Roofing: Historically we have always given roofing/ guttering work on our properties and communal areas 
to a contractor.  Analysis has been undertaken looking at the last 3 financial years of roofing and guttering 
repairs to establish what level of basic roofing repairs we could have undertaken if we’d had the right 
resource.  734 basic jobs were given to a contractor in 2017/18, 853 in 2018/19 and 989 basic jobs in 
2019/20

Roofing is currently a repair which isn’t always completed within target, this is due to the our contractor 
subcontracting out the work rather than it being a difficult repair and turn-around time is currently 
averaging 47 days.  It is likely that bringing this work in house will significantly reduce this. £169,115 was 
spent on the 989 jobs in 2019/20.

Drainage: Since April 2017, 2,091 small scale drainage jobs have been completed with the DSO 
completing 25% of these in house at a cost of £19,283. The other 75% have been completed by a 
contractor with an average end to end time of 8 days at a cost of £392,904.  Recruiting directly to these 
posts will be more cost effective. All of this work was directly comparable.

Wet trades: over the last three financial years we have increased the level of wet trade work carried out in 
house.  Prior to 2017 all of this work on the responsive repair side was given to a contractor.  In 2017/18 
we completed 3% of this work, 2018/2019 we completed 37% of the work and 2019/2020 we completed 
70% of this type of work.  To carry out 70% of this work it cost £99,566 and for the contractor to carry out 
30% it cost £163,819.  All of this work was directly comparable.

Fencing: Historically we have always given fencing work directly to our contractor, in 2019/2020 we 
managed to keep 50% of fencing work in house at a cost of £25,249 which was completed by our multi 

There are a number of benefits of keeping this work in house as well 
as it being significantly cheaper 

The multi trade work undertaken by contractors has the highest rate 
of failed post inspections compared to the other services.  Keeping 
the work in house will allow a quicker turnaround time for customers 
but also improved quality.

 This is also an area where we know that tenants have expressed an 
interest in this being a paid service going forward, particularly for 
decorating, minor home improvements etc. 

P
age 37



Appendix 3– Proposed Additional Resources for Responsive Repairs

£717,560 is apportioned to this 
type of work. (H882/51113)

trades in between other work.  We paid the contractor £125,562 last financial year in comparison.  The 
end to end time of fencing repairs undertaken by our contractor is 62 days compared to 19 for the DSO.  It 
is believed that recruiting to these roles we will be able to keep the majority, if not all, of the fencing work 
in house.

Labourers 5 Labourers 
working across 
voids and 
supporting multi 
trades undertaking 
fencing, ground 
work and roofing.

Responsive and 
Voids and will be 
managed by the 
Voids Supervisor/ 
Team Manager – 
Electrical QS

Salary Costs- £126,450

Material Costs- £0

The total cost is £126,450

The garden clearance and cleaning of a void prior to 2018 had been outsourced to a contractor, however 
Breyer group were unable offer this service which meant it was undertaken by the void multi trade 
workforce on top of the void work.  Whilst this has made a saving of £200,000 per year we have 
recognised that it also adds delays on to the void turnaround time and can mean we give voids to a 
contractor as we have got the resource free.  By having dedicated, cheaper resource to do this will free up 
the time of the void multi traders and reducing the work given to the contractor.

Historically the DSO have always kept the smaller jobs in house giving the bigger work to a contractor.  
However we have refocused this over the last 18 months to keep the bigger, more expensive jobs in-
house.  This can mean that if it is a two man job, we may lose two skilled craft workers on one job for a 
week.  We have looked across the industry and have identified that we need labourer roles which will help 
support the current operation and the new trades being brought back in house, somebody to foot a ladder 
for a roofer is a good example.  There will also be opportunities to develop the labourer with specific trade 
courses which will benefit both them and the service.  Freeing up the skilled multi trade on two man jobs 
will mean we will be able to keep more work in house.

Consideration has been given to whether these particular roles should be apprentices and whilst it would 
be a cheaper alternative we do need people to have a certain level of skill and ability plus it is also labour 
intensive to manage apprentices and would have an operational impact if we were to rely on them to 
provide this role.

As advised within the justification there are a number of benefits for 
employing a number of less skilled roles within the team in terms of 
freeing up the skilled workforce time to take on more work in house.  
However whoever is recruited in to these positions will have the 
opportunity to upskill and potentially move on to a trade role in the 
future.

P
age 38



**Current budget and likely saving is based on combining Multi-trade and Labourers

Appendix 4 - Financial Implications

Financial implication for Phase 2 including, salaries, van costs and materials

Phase Two

Team Resource
Current 
budget

Future 
budget

Likely 
saving

Budget line

Electrical Upgrade
6 x Electrician 2 x 
Apprentices £831,600 £570,120 £260,000 C851/C0031

Kitchen & Bathroom 3 x Multi-trade £1,300,000* 887,500 £412,500
C409/ C0031
C425/C0031

Responsive Repairs/ 
Voids 7 x Multi-trade £334,630 H882/51113
Responsive Repairs/ 
Voids 5 x Labourer £717,560** £126,450 £256,480 H882/51113

Total Cost (top of grade, Inc. on-cost & 
overheads and materials) 2,849,160 1,918,700 £928,980

*Budget reflects the Capital Budget figure which was reported at Phase 1 and the full capital kitchen/ bathroom 
programme

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Full Council

Date: 1 December 2020

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services)

Subject: Annual Climate Change Report

Purpose and summary of report: 
This report provides Members with a draft Climate Change Annual Report for consideration.

Recommendations:
1. Members are asked to note the progress of the council during 2020 in developing its 

activity to deliver the Climate Change motion.
2. Members are asked to approve the Annual Report set out at appendix two and give 

delegated authority for any final amendments to be made by the Director (Corporate 
Services), in consultation with the Leader of the Executive. 

1. Introduction

1.1 At its Full Council meeting on 25 June 2019, Gravesham Borough Council passed 
a motion to declare a climate emergency and, accordingly, committed to 
Gravesham Borough Council taking a lead in achieving Carbon Neutral status.

1.2 In the global context of long-term climate change, this motion represents a small 
step. As a local authority however, we have a social responsibility to improve the 
lives of local residents wherever possible and should therefore take a lead in the 
borough; taking action to reduce carbon emissions will also help make 
Gravesham a cleaner and more pleasant place to live in the short term.

1.3 The full Motion as adopted was:
Gravesham Borough Council with this motion declares we have a climate 
emergency and we will begin to take action to prepare for the borough to become 
carbon neutral by 2030.

1.4 In response to the Climate Change motion passed in June 2019, Full Council was 
presented with the Council’s planned activity and future reporting procedures at its 
meeting in December 2019.  As agreed at this meeting, a report on the council’s 
activities would be prepared and presented back to Full Council on an annual 
basis.

Page 41 Agenda Item 8



2

2. Climate Change Annual Report

2.1 The draft Climate Change Annual Report is provided at appendix two for Member 
review.

2.2 The reports sets out:

 Borough and Council Emissions Baseline
Enabling a better understanding of the level of carbon dioxide (CO2) 
emissions both in terms of the borough as a whole but also specifically 
from Gravesham Borough Council’s own operations.  It should be noted at 
this stage that the SCATTER Tool referenced in the report provides an 
overview of combined emissions for CO2, nitrous oxide (N2O) and methane 
(CH4), but provides a good indication of the areas of greatest concern for 
the Borough.

 Carbon Reduction Actions during 2020
An overview of the proactive work that has been undertaken by the council 
over the past 12 months, since December 2019 and how the council’s 
actions fit in with the wider Kent and Medway strategy.

 Future Carbon Pressure
Identification of the future projects and/or initiatives that will create added 
pressure for the borough in tackling climate change and specifically, the 
levels of carbon emissions.

 Areas of Focus for 2021
Identification of the key areas that will be considered in 2021, including 
identification of key deliverables for this period.

2.3 The council is in the process of drafting its Climate Change Strategy 2021-2025, 
which will be presented to Members in due course.

3. Next steps

3.1 Subject to approval of the draft annual report by Full Council, the document will be 
formatted in line with the council’s agreed branding and published on the council’s 
website.

4. Background Papers

4.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are held by the Director (Corporate 
Services).  Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first 
place, liaise with the Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 42



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
    

Legal The Council is committed to work towards achieveing the overall Government 
carbon reduction targets set out in the Climate Change Act 2008. 

Finance and Value 
for Money 

A specific Climate Change Reserve has been established to provide seed funding 
of activities relating to the council’s Climate Change agenda.  The reserve was 
established with a budget of £500k.

Risk Assessment There are no specific risks associated with the detail contained within the draft 
Annual Report.  It will be necessary however, for both officers and Members to 
consider any risks that may be associated with proposed climate change actions to 
ensure these are fully considered prior to implementation.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Within the Corporate Plan, there is a specific commitment within objective #1 - 
People, relating to carbon reduction:
- Carbon Neutral Borough: in declaring a climate emergency, begin to take action
   to prepare Gravesham to become carbon neutral by 2030.
The actions that are being taken however, cut across all of the council services and 
as such, support delivery of all corporate plan objectives.

Climate Change The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the specific actions the council 
has, and will be taking, to address its responsibilities in relation to Climate Change.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Page 43

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

Digital and website 
implications

Once approved, there will be a requirement for the Climate Change Annual Report 
to be published on the council's website.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

N/A

Page 44



Annual Report 2020

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Appendix Two

DRAFT
Page 45



 

2 | P a g e  

Foreword from the Leader of the Council 
It gives me great pleasure to present to you this first Climate Change Annual Report of the 
council. 

Climate change is a reality.  Over the course of the last 250 years, our actions have 
increased carbon dioxide emissions by more than 30%, resulting in higher temperatures and 
changing the world we live in. Without taking action now, the impact will be devastating.  

Councils have a key role to play in creating and facilitating low carbon communities and 
supporting the national commitment to tackle climate change and, as Leader of the Council, I 
take this role very seriously.  From waste collection and recycling to planning policy 
arrangements, the council has the ability to minimise the environmental impact of its own 
operations as well provide community leadership and support to reduce the wider impacts on 
climate change for the benefit of every person who lives, works or visits the Borough. But 
this is not something that can be achieved by the council alone. 

As this report sets out, the council has made significant and positive steps over the last year 
to deliver against its Climate Change pledge and turn words into actions.  The council is also 
very clear on how it can continue this work into 2021 and future years.  But to truly achieve 
change, every resident, business and key partner organisations needs to play their part.   

The COVID-19 pandemic has been devastating for many of us and has created 
unprecedented levels of uncertainty within the economy at a local and national level.  It has, 
however, also had noticeable effects on our environment and created a unique opportunity 
for us all to rethink the way we behave, both as a council and as individuals.  Increased 
levels of home working, coupled with reductions in commuting and more walking and cycling 
as part of our daily lives have all had positive impacts on the local environment.  It is critical 
that we learn from our experiences over the last year and use these to shape our behaviours 
going forward. 

I would like to thank everyone who has contributed to the delivery of the activity set out in 
this annual report and I hope, we can continue to work together for the benefit of the 
Borough as a whole. 

 

 

 

Cllr John Burden 

Leader of the Executive 

  

Page 46



 

3 | P a g e  

Introduction  
“Gravesham Borough Council with this motion declares we have a 

climate emergency and we will begin to take action to prepare for the 
borough to become carbon neutral by 2030” 

 

At its Full Council meeting on 25 June 2019, Gravesham Borough Council passed a motion 
to declare a climate emergency and, accordingly, committed to Gravesham Borough Council 
taking a lead in achieving Carbon Neutral status. 

In the global context of long term climate change, this motion represents a small step. As a 
local authority however, we have a social responsibility to improve the lives of local residents 
wherever possible and should therefore take a lead in the borough; taking action to reduce 
carbon emissions will also help make Gravesham a cleaner and more pleasant place to live 
in the short term. 

For Gravesham, carbon neutrality means the complete reduction in carbon dioxide (CO2) 
emissions and does not include other emissions such as nitrous oxide (N2O) and methane 
(CH4). 

In view of the Administration’s commitment to Climate Change, and recognising the 
commitment to climate change made by the council as a whole through its Corporate Plan, a 
cross-party working group has been established.  This comprises of Members, Management 
Team and senior Officers with the purpose of providing oversight of the actions of the council 
to deliver its Climate Change commitment, as set out in the Climate Change Action Plan.  
This group is supported by an internal officer group consisting of lead officers contributing to 
the delivery of the Climate Change Action Plan. 

A specific Climate Change Reserve has been established to provide seed funding of 
activities relating to the council’s Climate Change agenda.  The reserve was set up with a 
£500k budget and to date funding has been used to fund a pilot public space recycling 
scheme at St Andrew’s Gardens and to purchase a two-year license for the Carbon 
Reduction Options for Housing Managers (CROHM) tool which will enable data analysis as a 
basis to develop plans to deliver activity to reduce carbon emission within the council’s 
housing stock. 

 

  

Page 47



 

4 | P a g e  

Borough and Council Emissions Baseline 
It is important to recognise that the Council has been undertaking actions to reduce carbon 
emissions across its own estate and the wider Borough for many years.   

SCATTER Tool 

In order for the Council to evaluate success in implementing actions to deliver its Climate 
Change Commitment, it is important that there is an established baseline measurement 
across key areas of carbon reduction such as housing, planning, waste, travel and energy.   

As one of the tools the council is using to establish the baseline, the council has adopted use 
of the SCATTER Tool (Setting City Area Targets and Trajectories for Emissions Reduction) 
to report on authority wide emissions to carbon reporting frameworks.  This will also help to 
inform the setting of carbon reduction targets through a better understanding of potential 
pathways to meeting commitments in line with national and international objectives.   

It should be noted that the SCATTER Tool provides details on all greenhouse gas 
emissions; carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrous oxide (N2O) and methane (CH4) which is reported 
in CO2 equivalent. It is not possible to separate out individual emissions and therefore the 
data within the tool provides an indication of the emissions levels across the borough, but 
not solely for carbon dioxide emissions. 

As shown in the chart below, transportation and stationary energy were the largest areas 
contributing to the borough’s CO2 emissions in 2017 (most recent data available).  
Transportation relates to areas such as rail, freight and on-road emissions.  Stationery 
energy relates to emissions from buildings such as domestic housing stock and industrial 
and commercial buildings.   

Accounting for over 97% of all emissions, focused actions on these two sources will be 
fundamental to reducing carbon emissions in the borough. 

 

Page 48



 

5 | P a g e  

Greenhouse Gas Report 

The Climate Change Act (2008) placed a duty on the UK to ensure that net carbon 
emissions (greenhouse gas) are reduced by 80% by 2050 from the levels in 1990.  The 
Government introduced a new baseline in 2008/9 for the Council to report from.  The chart 
and table below, provide a summary of the overall reduction of Greenhouse Gas emissions 
in Gravesham since 2008-09 : 

 

The Council’s total gross greenhouse gas emissions are recorded against three specific 
‘scopes’ for categorising the emissions: 

• Scope 1 – All Direct Emissions from the activities of an organisation or under their 
control. Including fuel combustion on site such as gas boilers, fleet vehicles and air-
conditioning leaks. 

• Scope 2 – Indirect Emissions from electricity purchased and used by the 
organisation. Emissions are created during the production of the energy and 
eventually used by the organisation. 

• Scope 3 – All Other Indirect Emissions from activities of the organisation, 
occurring from sources that they do not own or control.  

The Council’s total gross greenhouse gas emissions for Scope 1, 2 and 3 for the last 
financial year 1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020 was 3410.64 MtCO2e (Metric tons of carbon 
dioxide equivalent).  This is a reduction in emissions of 5066.15 MtCO2e (59%) since 
2008/09 baseline. 

The Council has set a new baseline for carbon reduction on its own operations and services.  
The new baseline has been set from 2017/18 financial year.  Since 2017, there has been a 
significant reduction in emissions of 2140.56 MtCO2e (23%) with much of this reduction 
being measured during 2019/20. 

Page 49



 

6 | P a g e  

Three areas of the Council’s own operations and service delivery have contributed to this 
significant reduction in emissions: 

• Energy use - Whilst both gas and electric has reduced, electricity has halved in the 
Kwh use, principally due to the delivery of a programme to retrofitting lighting in its 
administrative buildings with LED/smart lighting. 

• Reductions in business mileage - Business car mileage has continued to 
decrease.  Tax incentives encourage staff to select leased cars with lower emissions.  
The Council also supports car sharing where possible and also attendance at 
meetings virtually. 

• Investment in fleet vehicles - As part of the council’s fleet vehicles replacement 
programme, all new vehicles are Euro 6 compliant to reduce pollution and the impact 
on climate change.    

 

Gravesham BC Operations  

In addition to the borough-wide emissions data from the SCATTER Tool, in the second half 
of the year the council has started to analyse emission data specifically in relation to its own 
operations, using a number of tools: 

• CROHM (Carbon Reduction Options for Housing Managers) System 

• LGA Carbon Emission Accounting Tool 

These tools will be used moving forward to inform actions taken by the council to reduce 
carbon emissions and enable the council to monitor the effectiveness of these actions. 

  

Page 50



 

7 | P a g e  

Carbon Reduction Actions during 2020 
In December 2019 the Council put in place an action plan detailing a suite of progressive 
interventions for it to deliver in order to prepare the Borough to be carbon neutral by 2030, 
and to do what is within its powers and resources to make Gravesham Borough Council 
carbon neutral by 2030. 

During 2020, key areas of activity against the three identified objectives have included: 

 

Objective 1 – Cleaner Environment 
• Increased recycling opportunities - A food waste recycling trial was completed 

successfully at Pickwick House (what was the impact) and formed the basis of further 
trials with larger communal food bins at new build apartment blocks at Whitehill, 
Valley Drive and St Patrick's Gardens.   

In addition, a recycling 'on-the-go' bin trial at St Andrew's Gardens started in 
November 2020 designed to encourage visitors to recycle their litter.  Assuming the 
trial is successful, the new recycling 'on-the-go' bins will be incorporated into the litter 
bin replacement programme at the Riverside Leisure Area and Woodlands Park by 
April 2021 as well as being considered for other areas across the borough including 
some of the smaller shopping parades. 

• Supporting Biodiversity - Recognising the important role bees play in agriculture, a 
new allotment bee keeping policy has been developed to help manage and support 
allotment holders who wish to keep bees on their allotment site.   

The council has also commenced its annual winter tree-planting programme, 
intended to deliver a net gain in the number of trees in Gravesham’s public spaces.  
Since 2017/18, the council has increased the number of trees planted with the net 
gain in trees increasing from 30 in 2017/18 to 215 in 2019/20 (when the number of 
felled trees are taken into account). 

• Efficient Route Planning - During 2019, the workforce in the DSO Building 
Management team was increased to enable more repairs and maintenance activities 
to be delivered in-house.   This naturally led to an increase in the number of journeys 
operatives were making and an increase in fuel usage.  However, through efficient 
route planning, the actual amount of fuel used per job has decreased from 1.93 litres 
in 2018/2019 to 1.43 litres in 2019/2020.  

• Training and impact awareness - All drivers of vehicles over 3.5 tonnes have been 
provided with specific training to teach them how to drive in a fuel-efficient manner as 
a way of contributing to lower carbon emissions. 

• Reducing environmental impact – Penalty Charge Notices are now issued in non-
plastic bags. 

• Policy Impact – the council are about to launch a consultation exercise on a revised 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy which will mandate the use of 
Euro 6 diesel vehicles which place stricter measures on CO2 emissions.  

 

 

Page 51



 

8 | P a g e  

Objective 2 – Strategic Environment 
• Decarbonisation of Transport – the council has commenced work with a partner to 

install electric vehicle charging points in Parrock Street, Rathmore Road and Milton 
Place car parks.   

• Supporting our Residents – the council has run a number of initiatives and 
campaigns during the year to support its residents in making their homes more 
energy efficient and securing savings in the supply of energy.  Specifically, these 
include: 
o Warm Homes Grant and ECO/LA Flex – 18 Private Sector households have 

been assisted with heating measures. 

o Social Housing insulation –89 properties have been assisted where Loft and 
Cavity Wall insulation have been installed. 

o Solar Together – 23 residents registered for the scheme in the October auction; 
currently awaiting the outcome of this. 

o Energy Deal – three auctions have taken place in February, May and October 
2020.  This that resulted in 155 registrations, an estimated £118 average 
annual savings for residents and estimated 19 Mt of carbon savings. 

• Carbon efficiency of the existing council housing stock - the council has 
commenced a proactive boiler replacement programme to ensure council homes 
have the most efficient A-rated boilers.  This programme has delivered a carbon 
reduction of 111,550kg within the current financial year (April 2020 to Oct 2020). 

• Energy Efficient new build homes – all new development proposals will benefit 
from the appointment of a sustainability consultant at the preparation and brief stage 
of the development.  The first scheme to benefit from this input is at St Columba’s 
Close where consideration is being given to help reduce the use of fossil fuels, 
reduce CO2 emissions, lower energy bills and protect the environment.   

• Energy Efficient Street Lighting - the council has commenced a project to retrofit 
council-owned lighting assets with LED bulbs, which are an energy efficient, 
ecologically friendly and long lasting alternative to other forms of lighting. 

• Working with our Contractors - The Council’s innovative approach to ensuring all 
Council homes have a valid gas safety certificate has resulted in less individual home 
visits being required by our contractor, Swale Heating. So far, this has reduced our 
carbon footprint by 53,096kg.   

• Planning for Carbon Neutral – As part of its consultation activity and through the 
development of the Local Plan, the council have started to consider a number of 
carbon reduction initiatives including Electric Vehicle Charging Points, Trees, 
Hedgerows and Woodland management, consideration of application in terms of 
renewable and low carbon energy proposals and biodiversity. 

• Seeking actions to reduce emissions in council projects – securing positive 
climate change impacts are high on the agenda in regeneration projects the council 
are involved in. By way of example, The Charter development in Gravesend Town 
Centre will remove dependencies on car usage and provide facilities for electric 
charging of vehicles. 

Page 52



 

9 | P a g e  

• Campaigning and Lobbying – the council has proactively sought to engage with 
Highways England, Central Government and other organisations to seek to minimise 
the impacts of major infrastructure projects, such as the Lower Thames Crossing, on 
the borough and its residents. 

 

Objective 3 – Progressive Council 
• Leading by example - the COVID-19 pandemic accelerated the council’s activity to 

enable its office-based employees to work in a more agile way.  Seventy per cent of 
office-based employees now have the ability to work remotely and not need to attend 
the office every working day which, moving forward, will reduce travel requirements 
and carbon emissions associated with this.  In addition, video conferencing is now 
routinely used by council officers and Elected Members for meetings.  A Home-
working Task & Finish Group has been established to review remote working and 
establish more permanent arrangements for this moving forward.  

• Mindful Decision Making – all decisions taken by the council are required to 
consider the implications on delivery of the council’s Climate Change commitment. 

• Working with Partners – along with other Kent authorities, the council has 
committed to explore securing cleaner, less polluting fleet vehicles and is leading on 
developing the options to take this forward. 

• Efficient Civic Buildings – the council has commenced a project to retrofit lighting 
in its administrative buildings with LED and Smart lighting.  The activity completed so 
far is expected to achieve an annual carbon reduction of 97 tonnes per annum 
across the council estate. 

• IT Infrastructure - The council has committed to reducing its own data centre power 
consumption by adopting a “cloud first” policy for new system procurements. 

• Reducing reliance on single-use plastics - All Gravesham Borough Council 
Officers have been provided with reusable water bottles, eradicating the need for 
single use plastic cups in staff and meeting room facilities, reducing the ongoing 
costs for the purchase of single use plastic cups and contributing towards the “Give 
me Tap” initiative where by each bottle sold gives a person in Africa clean drinking 
water for 5 years.  

• Environmentally friendly facilities management – the council has secured a new 
cleaning product suppliers for its main operational sites which contributes to our 
intention to reduce reliance on single use plastics by providing products in post-
consumer recycled (PCR) plastic, the first company in the UK to make their bottles 
from 100% recycled plastic. Products are also manufactured in the UK, reducing 
carbon generation through the supply chain. 

The actions identified will continue to be reviewed to ensure they are ‘fit for purpose’ and 
are supporting the direction of the local authority, with progress continuing to be 
monitored moving forward. 

 

 

 

Page 53



 

10 | P a g e  

Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 

From a county-wide perspective, the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 
has been developed to provide a pathway to deliver specific actions with the aim of meeting 
the UK Government’s target to achieve net-zero emissions by 2050 for the country. 

The aims of the strategy are as follows: 

•  EVIDENCE: Provide an ongoing evidence and intelligence base; linking data sets to 
identify hot spots and opportunities, and to build the business case for action across 
Kent and Medway. 

• POLICY AND STRATEGY: Facilitate the development of evidence-based policy and 
strategy to future proof growth, tackle emerging issues and realise opportunities. 

• LEADERSHIP: Support the public sector across Kent and Medway to play a strong 
leadership role with regards to challenges and opportunities. 

• ACTION: Facilitate increased and accelerated action and implementation across 
Kent and Medway. 

The strategy sets out a collaborative approach across the county to tackling the climate 
emergency.  The strategy was recently reviewed in May 2020 to take account of the impact 
of COVID-19. 

Ten priority actions have been identified, and are supported by a detailed implementation 
plan set out in the full Strategy document.  The priorities are as follows: 

• PRIORITY 1:  EMISSION REDUCTION PATHWAYS TO 2050  
Set area and organisational five-year carbon budgets and emission reduction pathways 
to 2050, with significant reduction by 2030. 

• PRIORITY 2:  PUBLIC SECTOR DECISION MAKING  
Develop a consistent approach across Kent and Medway, to assess, manage and 
mitigate environmental impacts (both positive and negative), resulting from public sector 
policies, strategies, service delivery, commissioning and procurement. 

• PRIORITY 3:  PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
Ensure climate change, energy, air quality and environmental considerations are 
integrated into Local Plans, policies and developments, by developing a clean growth 
strategic planning policy and guidance framework for Kent and Medway, to drive down 
emissions and mainstream climate resilience. 

• PRIORITY 4:  CLIMATE EMERGENCY INVESTMENT FUND 
Establish a trusted Kent and Medway 'Climate Emergency’ carbon sequestration, offset 
and renewable energy investment scheme and fund. 

• PRIORITY 5:  BUILDING RETROFIT PROGRAMME 
Set up a Kent and Medway net-zero buildings retrofit plan and programme for public 
sector, domestic and businesses. 

 

 

Page 54



 

11 | P a g e  

• PRIORITY 6:  TRANSPORT, TRAVEL AND DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY 
Set up a smart connectivity and mobility modal shift programme – linking sustainable 
transport, transport innovations, active travel, virtual working, broadband, digital services, 
artificial intelligence and behaviour change. 

• PRIORITY 7:  RENEWABLE ENERGY GENERATION 
Set up an opportunities and investment programme for renewable electricity and heat 
energy generation 

• PRIORITY 8:  GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
Develop a multi-functional, natural capital opportunity and investment programme – 
focusing on environmental projects that store carbon, increase climate change resilience, 
improve air quality and increase biodiversity. 

• PRIORITY 9:  SUPPORTING LOW CARBON BUSINESS 
Develop a support programme for Kent and Medway’s Low Carbon Environmental 
Goods and Services sector. 

• PRIORITY 10: COMMUNICATIONS 
Develop a comprehensive communications, engagement and behaviour change 
programme targeted at residents, employees, businesses and visitors.  

Page 55



 

12 | P a g e  

Future Carbon Pressure 
The borough of Gravesham and the surrounding areas are going through a significant 
amount of redevelopment. 

As highlighted earlier in this report, transport is already the second most significant 
greenhouse house emitter. 

In July 2020, transport for quality of life published “The carbon impact of the national roads 
programme” and whilst they make the point that carbon increases are often under-estimated, 
they point out that Highways England predict that the Lower Thames Crossing will increase 
carbon emissions by 5.7 MtCO2 over its 60-year life. We don’t know how much of that would 
be in Gravesham. Also as we think that the modelling has serious undercounted traffic 
volumes and we don’t think construction impacts have been considered, this will be an 
under-estimate. 

London Resort’s consultation in July 2020 advised that they are pursuing an operational net 
zero emissions goal and whilst we don’t know if this will be achievable, there will clearly be 
carbon emissions from the construction phase of a project of this scale. Most of the 
development is in Dartford but there will be construction traffic and other impacts that will 
create emissions in Gravesham. 

 

 

  

Page 56



 

13 | P a g e  

Areas of Focus for 2021 
In order to determine the way forward for Gravesham, both the borough and the Council, the 
Council has used the SCATTER Tool.  The SCATTER Tool enables the council to map 
various ‘interventions’ with a view to reducing emissions across a number of segments. It 
allows local authorities the ability to model different routes (‘pathways’) they may wish to 
take to reduce the level of emissions in their local area.  Although the tool maps progress out 
to 2050, it does allow monitoring at various stages in this period, therefore enabling the 
council to monitor emissions to 2030, in line with its pledge. 

Based on the interventions identified to date, the reduction in total CO2 equivalent emissions 
(taking account of all emissions – CO2, NO2 and CH4), there would be an overall reduction 
of 18.47% in emissions. 

 

It should be noted that the tool assumes that the council is able to have some level of 
influence/impact across all segments identified.  As such the interventions that have been 
identified in the attached appendix, take account of the level of control/influence that the 
council has in terms of affecting the overall level of emissions. 

In addition, the figures included within the SCATTER tool do not include reference to 
proposed locally specific infrastructure projects. For Gravesham, we have both the Lower 
Thames Crossing and the London Resort projects which we know will have a detrimental 
effect on the council’s Transport emissions and as such, the figures above are not truly 
reflective of what we know is actually going to occur in the borough. 

 

Key Deliverables in 2021 

• Further expansion of recycling opportunities in the borough both in the home and within 
council owned sites in the Borough. 

• Continue to support biodiversity projects through parks and grounds maintenance 
activity, specifically through an increase in the provision of Council owned land 
designated as Wildflower and ‘Set Aside’ areas. 
 

2030 emissions - 314,534 

Page 57



 

14 | P a g e  

• Continued review and adjust council processes to reduce or mitigate climate impacts: 

o Virtualisation of systems and processes, such as the vehicle permit system, to 
make such processes carbon neutral. 

o Upgrading of the pay and display arrangements within council car parks to 
reduce cash handling, cash collections and therefore the emissions associated 
with this activity. 

• Continued exploration of the introduction of electric vehicle charging in both off-street 
and on-street parking areas. 

• Further reduce energy usage in council administrative buildings through completing the 
programme of LED/Smart lighting upgrades, anticipate to result in a further 60 to 70 
tonnes per annum carbon reduction. 

• Facilitate the take up of active travel by the council workforce by increasing bicycle 
storage at the Civic Centre and Brookvale Depot.  

• Continue to reduce single use plastics within the Civic offices by removing all single use 
plastic consumables within the Spotlites Café and office areas, including meeting 
rooms.   

• Improve the environment and quality of air of working areas within council administrative 
buildings by removing Volatile Organic Compounds from the air through activity such as 
the installation of green walls. 

• Further develop council policy around decarbonisation of transport, considering the 
council’s own areas of activity and also how borough wide impacts can be delivered. 

• Undertake further activity to recognise Climate Change in planning and development 
activity. 

• Continue to campaign and lobby promoters of significant projects affecting the Borough 
to consider this Council’s Climate Emergency and articulate how their proposals are 
working towards Carbon Neutrality. 

• Increase activity to levy external funding where possible to implement sustainable 
schemes in support of the council’s climate change commitment and work towards 
greener energy, renewables and behaviour change. 

• Progress activity to improve the energy efficiency of council-owned homes. 

• Continue to promote initiatives and campaigns to residents intended to make their 
homes more energy efficient and securing savings in the supply of energy.  

• Develop support to businesses in the Borough to consider and take action to manage, 
minimise or mitigate the negative environmental impacts of their activity. 

• Working with partners, complete work to deliver energy efficient street lighting in the 
Borough. 

• Increase the focus of climate change in the procurement activity of the council. 

• Continue to lead by example and seek actions to reduce emissions in council projects. 

• Formalise arrangements to enable council employees to work in a more agile way.   

Page 58



 

15 | P a g e  

• Continue to reduce data centre power consumption by adopting a “cloud first” policy for 
new system procurements and existing systems. 

• Actively explore opportunities for community involvement in the borough’s approach to 
Climate Change to encourage community engagement in Climate Change activities.  
This will involve exploring opportunities with the Youth Council, through The Gr@nd, to 
prepare a resource pack for schools to promote Eco Schools status. Also, working with 
other community organisations, such as Age UK, to provide information and assistance 
on how to make homes more energy efficient and to promote schemes such as 
recycling. 

 

 

Climate CHANGE Strategy 

The council is in the process of drafting its Climate Change Strategy 2021-2025, which will 
be focused on reducing carbon emissions based on the baseline position set out earlier in 
the report.   The strategy will recognise that the council can directly control its own estate 
and operations but has a role to play in using its influence, working with partner 
organisations, and supporting residents and local businesses to ensure the borough can 
effectively respond to the changing climate and protect and minimise the impacts of our 
actions on the environment we live and work in. 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Full Council

Date: 01 December 2020

Reporting officer: Perry Holmes, Monitoring Officer

Subject: Amendments made to the Constitution – to reflect formation 
of Rosherville Limited

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform Council of amendments that have been made to the Constitution to reflect the 
incorporation of the wholly-owned trading company, Rosherville Limited, and its subsidiaries.

Recommendations:
1. To note the amendments made to the Constitution by the Monitoring Officer.

1. Introduction

1.1 In December 2019, Full Council approved the proposals for the establishment of a 
Local Authority Trading Company and also agreed for the council’s Constitution to 
be amended to ensure that the council continues to have robust arrangements in 
place.

1.2 Rosherville Limited was formally incorporated on 07 January 2020, followed by 
Rosherville Servicing and Rosherville Property Development Limited on the 14 
and 15 May respectively.

1.3 The purpose of this report is to set out the necessary amendments that have been 
made in relation to the Constitution to reflect the new arrangements that are in 
place.

2. Proposals

2.1 Annex 1.13 (Functions Delegated to Officers of the Council) paragraph 1.13B.60 
of Gravesham Borough Council’s Constitution delegates the function “to make 
minor and necessary amendments to this constitution” from Cabinet, Regulatory 
Board and Council to the Monitoring Officer.

Page 61 Agenda Item 9



2

2.2 The Monitoring Officer considers that the Constitution should be amended to 
reflect the necessary changes that are required to reflect the introduction of the 
trading company.

2.3 There are a number of elements of the Constitution which require updating:
2.3.1 Annex 1.4 – Responsibilities of the Cabinet

Updated to reflect the added responsibility in terms of the Shareholder 
responsibilities in relation to Rosherville Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.3.2 Annex 2.4 – Cabinet Procedure Rules
Updated to reflect the need to recognise the potential for conflicts of 
interest arising at Cabinet as a result of the appointment of the lead 
member for Commercial Services to the Rosherville Board.

2.3.3 Annex 2.6 – Financial Procedure Rules
Updated to reflect the way in which the Council may provide funding to 
Rosherville Limited and/or its subsidiaries and to reflect the potential use 
of Gravesham BC staff by Rosherville Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.3.4 Annex 2.8 – Employment Procedure Rules
Updated to reflect the potential use of Gravesham BC staff by Rosherville 
Limited and its subsidiaries.

2.3.5 Annex 3.2 – Officer Code of conduct
Updated to reflect the dual-role that some officers will play in terms of 
Gravesham BC and appointed roles on Rosherville Limited and/or its 
subsidiaries.

2.4 The Monitoring Officer considers that the constitution should be amended to 
reflect the changes set out above, in line with the approval to make the required 
changes at Full Council in December 2019. The Monitoring Officer has therefore 
made the amendments to the Constitution and requests Full Council to note the 
amendments.

2.5 The relevant pages of the annexes in the Constitution, as detailed in paragraphs 
2.1-2.5, have been amended with the new wording in track changes for ease of 
reference and copies of these are attached as appendices two-four.

3. Background papers

3.1 There are no background papers to this report

Page 62



IMPLICATIONS             APPENDIX 1

Legal A Local Authority is under a duty to prepare and keep up to date its constitution 
under S9P of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Amendments have been made to Annex 2.6 – Financial Procedure Rules, although 
there are no specific budgetary implications.

Risk Assessment It is of critical importance that the council has sufficient government arrangements 
in place which is provided by a constitution that is kept up to date.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
N/A

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan This report supports the delivery of Objective 3 – Progress 

Climate Change There are no climate change implications resulting from this report.

Crime and Disorder There are no Crime and Disorder implications resulting from this report.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no digital and website implications resulting from this report.

Page 63

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

IMPLICATIONS             APPENDIX 1

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report.

Page 64



Appendix Two

Annex 1.4: Responsibilities of the Cabinet
Under Section 13(2) of the Local Government Act 2000, the Cabinet is responsible for 
carrying out all those functions of the Council which are not reserved by law to either -

(1) the full Council itself; or 
(2) one of the Committees, Boards, or Statutory Officers appointed under the following Articles 

of the Constitution:
 Article 6 [Scrutiny Committees];
 Articles 8&9 [Other Committees and Boards];
 Article 11[Joint Arrangements]; 
 Article 10[Area Committees and Forums]; or
 Article 12[Statutory Officers]

Membership:  No more than ten Cabinet Members (appointed by the Leader of the Executive), 
including the Leader and the Deputy Leader. 

Functions
The functions of the Cabinet are listed below.  Where functions have been delegated, these are 
listed in Annexes 1.5 to 1.9.  In all cases, the exercise of Cabinet functions is subject to the Cabinet 
Procedural Rules set out in Annex 2.4 to this Constitution.

1. Community Leadership
(a) to promote the well-being of the people and the Borough of Gravesham;
(b) to provide a clear vision and leadership for the conduct of local affairs;
(c) to consult and involve local communities on important issues;
(d) through a range of partnership arrangements with others, including a Locality Board, to 

develop and maintain a Community Strategy and other policies and proposals that respond 
to people's concerns and shape the agenda for the Council's Policy Framework and 
Budgets;

(e) to influence and respond to policies and initiatives from government and other public sector 
agencies at the national, regional, and county levels.

2. Best Value
(a) to approve the scope of Best Value service reviews;
(b) to decide upon the implementation of service improvement plans;
(c) to co-ordinate the preparation of and implementation of the Council's Best Value 

Performance Plans, and regularly to monitor their implementation;
(d) to ensure appropriate action is taken where necessary to secure the delivery of performance 

against the Plans;

(e) to deal with reports from the Audit Commission relating to best value and service 
improvement.

3. Annual Budget
Annually to propose a Policy Framework and Budget to the full Council designed to:
(a) advance the aims and objectives of the Community Strategy;
(b) deliver the service standards and targets in the Council's Best Value Performance Plan;
(c) respond to the needs and aspirations of local communities;

Page 65



Appendix Two

(d) ensure adequate resources are available for these purposes and their efficient use;
(e) meet all requirements of law.

4. Management of Resources
Subject to the requirements of the approved Policy Framework and Budget to exercise the 
Council’s powers and duties relating to -
(a) the strategic and operational management of all of the Council's current and future resources 

of land, buildings, finance, personnel and other assets, including the use of Council-owned 
land declared surplus to operational requirements;

(b) corporate risk management:  keeping under review  the corporate risk strategy and register,  
taking appropriate action to ensure that corporate business risks are being actively 
managed, including reporting to full Council at least annually and  securing the embedding of 
risk management in the Council’s strategic and financial planning, policy making and review, 
and performance management;

(c) counter fraud and corruption work across the Council, including housing benefits,  ensuring 
that effective arrangements  are in place to enable effective work to be undertaken on a 
proactive basis;

(d) pursue and utilise appropriate external funding opportunities to facilitate the achievement of 
the Council's policies and programmes;

(e) administer the provision of grants to individuals and organisations for statutory and other 
approved purposes.

5. Rating and Valuation, etc.
To deal with rating, valuation, Council Tax, Housing and Council Tax Benefits, charities and 
related matters.

6. Planning and Transportation
To deal with all matters of planning and transportation policy, including the content of:
(a) the Local Plan;
(b) development briefs;
(c) supplementary Planning Guidance;
(d) responses to government and government agencies, and regional and sub-regional bodies in 

relation to all matters of planning and transportation policy.

7. Regeneration
To discharge the Council’s responsibilities for the economic, social and environmental 
regeneration of the Borough in a sustainable manner, so that existing communities are able to 
participate as fully as possible in the benefits of improvements and new opportunities created, 
and in particular to -
(a) develop and implement programmes and schemes for the redevelopment and/or 

regeneration of areas of significance to the local economy and local communities across the 
Borough;

(b) develop and implement proposals for increasing tourism and visitor attractions of benefit to 
the local economy;

(c) develop and implement proposals to help local people to improve their knowledge and skills 
and increase job opportunities;

(d) develop and implement proposals for the conservation, improvement and promotion of the 
Borough’s physical heritage of buildings, landscapes and townscape features.

Page 66



Appendix Two

8. Housing
To deal with all matters relating to the improvement of housing conditions and people’s housing 
circumstances within the Borough, and in particular to exercise the Council’s powers and duties 
in relation to -
(a) assessing the housing needs of the Borough and developing and implementing measures to 

address the needs identified;
(b) homelessness, care in the community, and housing advice/information services;
(c) the Council’s Housing Revenue Account dwellings, caravan and mobile home sites;
(d) private sector housing, including house renovation grants, the Rent Acts, loans under the 

Housing Acts and policies relating to fitness for habitation, repair, multiple occupation and 
overcrowding (but excluding decisions relating to enforcement action in individual cases, 
which are reserved to the Planning Committee);

(e) applications for financial assistance from Registered Social Landlords for the provision, 
repair and improvement of housing.

9. Leisure
To deal with all matters relating to the provision, maintenance and improvement of appropriate 
opportunities to participate in the cultural, artistic, sporting and recreational life of the community, 
and in particular to exercise the Council’s powers and duties in relation to -
(a) assessing requirements for new and improved leisure opportunities  and developing and 

implementing proposals to address them;
(b) parks, open spaces, pleasure grounds, children’s playgrounds, sports and leisure facilities, 

swimming and leisure pools and public entertainment halls;
(c) cemeteries;
(d) the promotion and provision of cultural, artistic, entertainment, sporting and other 

recreational activities;
(e) library, museum and exhibition services;
(f) the Council’s catering services and concessions.

10. Environment and Health
To develop and implement policies and programmes to protect and improve the environment of 
the Borough and the health of the population of the Borough, and in particular to discharge the 
Council’s responsibilities for -
(a) drainage and water supply;
(b) the provision of services for refuse collection, waste reduction and recycling, street cleansing 

and public conveniences;
(c) health and safety at work (including matters relating to the Shops Act 1950 and trading on a 

Sunday), health education and safety in the home;
(d) the control of pollution, nuisances and offensive trades, etc.;
(e) food safety and hygiene and related matters;
(f) the control of unauthorised encampments and the control of caravans;
(g) animal welfare, the control of dogs and dangerous wild animals, and the control of pests;
(h) controlling the spread of infection.
but excluding decisions relating to enforcement action in individual cases, which are reserved to 
the Planning Committee.

Page 67



Appendix Two

11. Public Relations and Information
To deal with public relations, marketing and public information matters, including the production 
of a Council newspaper, in-house magazine and other publications.

12. Director (Housing & Operations)
To deal with all matters relating to the Council’s Direct Services Organisation, Director (Housing 
& Operations).

13. Emergency Planning and Action in Emergencies
In collaboration with the Kent County Council, the emergency services, other public agencies, 
private organisations and community groups (and subject to the urgency procedure contained in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules detailed in Annex 2.2 to this Constitution) to 
discharge the Council’s responsibilities for emergencies, and in particular - 
(a) to ensure that up-to-date plans are in place to deal with peace-time emergency situations, 

including major emergencies; 
(b) in the event of an emergency occurring, to take all necessary and practicable actions to deal 

with the effects of emergencies on the population, infrastructure, environment and economy 
of the Borough.

14. Member Support Services and Civic Matters
To deal with civic matters, including those relating to the mayoralty, the use of the coat of arms 
and town twinning.

15. Shareholder Responsibility in respect of Rosherville Limited
To deal with all matters that have been reserved for the Cabinet in relation to the council’s 
wholly-owned trading company, Rosherville Limited. Specifically these relate to the following:
a) Approval of the Parent Company’s annual Business Plan (or mid-year amendments), which 

will include key aspects from the Business Plans of the subsidiary operations

b) Appointment and dismissal of Directors for the Board of the Parent company as well as 
establishing the membership for the Shareholder Group.

c) Investment decisions (in so much as the Council’s investment in the company is protected).

d) The financial agreements which set out the financial assistance that will be provided by the 
Council. Any decisions relating to funding and onward lending to the holding company and/or 
subsidiaries (where budgetary provision has been made by Full Council) will rest with the 
Cabinet.

e) Delivery of appropriate social and financial returns on investment.
f) Ensuring that trading activities are conducted in accordance with the values of the Council.
g) The business case for the establishment of each subsidiary.  This must assess risk and is 

the start of the full business planning process for the trading company ( as per appendix 
three).  The initial business plan for the subsidiary will be included as part of the initial 
business case document to Cabinet but once established, the responsibility for approving 
annual business plans of the subsidiaries will rest with the holding company Board.

h) The Articles of Association (AoA), which establishes the constitution for the company 
structure.

i) The Shareholders Agreement which sets out the rights of the Council as the sole 
shareholders and details the powers of the Board of the company and at what point the 
shareholder can influence this.

Page 68



Appendix Two

All other decisions relating to the company will rest with the Leader who can execute these 
either as a direct result of discussions with the Shareholder Group or, if felt appropriate, through 
discussions with the Cabinet directly.

16. Other Matters
To deal with and determine any matter not reserved to the Council or specifically delegated to 
any other Committee or to an officer of the Council.

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Three

 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 1

Annex 2.4:  Cabinet Procedure Rules

1. Operation of the Cabinet 

1.1 Bodies and Persons Authorised to Make Decisions

The Leader of the Executive may make arrangements for the Executive 
functions to be discharged by:-

(1) the Cabinet as a whole;

(2) a Committee of the Cabinet; 

(3) an individual Member of the Cabinet;  

(4) an Officer of the Council;  

(5) an Area Committee; 

(6) Joint Arrangements; or  

(7) another local authority.

1.2 Delegation by the Leader or Cabinet 

1.2.1 The Proper Officer will maintain a written record of the current 
delegations made by the Leader or Cabinet, which shall be included in 
Annex 1 to this Constitution. 

1.2.2 Annex 1 will contain the following information about Executive 
functions:-  

(1) the names of the Members appointed to the Cabinet; 

(2) the extent of any authority delegated to Cabinet Members 
individually, including details of the limitation on their authority; 

(3) the terms of reference and constitution of such committees of 
the Cabinet as the Cabinet appoints and the names of Cabinet 
Members appointed to them;  

(4) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive functions 
to any Area Committees, any other authority or any joint 
arrangements and the names of those Cabinet Members 
appointed to any joint committee; and  

(5) the nature and extent of any delegation of Executive functions 
to officers of the Council with details of any limitations on those 
delegations, and the title of the officer to whom the delegation 
is made. 

1.3 Sub-delegation of Cabinet Functions

Page 71



Appendix Three

 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 2

1.3.1 Where the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet or an individual 
Member of the Cabinet is responsible for an Executive function, they 
may delegate further to an area committee, joint arrangements or to 
an officer.

1.3.2 For the avoidance of doubt, in cases where Executive functions have 
been delegated, that fact does not prevent the discharge of delegated 
functions by the body or person who granted the delegation.

1.4 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation Relating to Executive Functions

1.4.1 Following the Annual Meeting of the Council, the Leader will re-affirm 
(or otherwise amend) the Scheme of Delegation relating to the 
Executive functions as set out in Annex 1.6 to this Constitution.

1.4.2 The Leader may amend the Scheme of Delegation relating to 
Executive functions at any time during the year.

1.4.3 Following a decision of the Leader to do so, the Proper Officer will, as 
soon as reasonably practicable, inform the person, body or committee 
concerned in writing.

1.4.4 The Proper Officer will then present a report to the next ordinary 
meeting of the Council setting out the changes made by the Leader.

1.4.5 Where the Leader seeks to withdraw a delegation from a committee, 
that withdrawal will be deemed to take effect when the Proper Officer 
has informed the Chair of that Committee in writing.

1.5 Conflicts of Interest

1.5.1 If the exercise of an Executive function has been delegated to a 
committee of the Cabinet, or to an individual Member then, should a 
conflict of interest arise, the function will be exercised in the first 
instance by the person or body by whom the delegation was made 
and otherwise as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for 
Members in Annex 3.2 to this Constitution.

1.5.2 Decisions relating to the specific activities of the Local Authority Trading 
Company, Rosherville Limited, may give rise to a conflict of interest for 
individual Cabinet Members.  Should a conflict of interest arise, the function 
will be exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom the 
delegation was made and otherwise as set out in the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members in Annex 3.1 to this Constitution.

1.6 Meetings of the Cabinet: Time and Place 

1.6.1 The Cabinet will meet at least 10 times per year at times to be agreed 
by the Cabinet. 

1.6.2 Meetings of the Cabinet will be held at the Civic Centre, Windmill 
Street, Gravesend or (in the event that these premises are unavailable 
[or if other circumstances make it desirable to meet elsewhere]) at 
another location to be agreed by the Leader of the Executive. 

Page 72



Appendix Three

 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 3

1.7 Meetings of the Cabinet: Public or Private 

1.7.1 Meetings of the Cabinet at which decisions are to be taken will be held 
in public except when:-

(1) confidential or exempt information is to be discussed; or  

(2) the Leader of the Executive considers it would be in the public 
interest to meet in private, in which case s/he will state the 
reasons for doing so.

1.7.2 Meetings held solely for the purpose of briefing Members of the 
Cabinet will be held in private.

1.8 Quorum

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet, or a committee of it, shall be three 
Members of the Cabinet (including the Leader).

1.9 Decision taking by the Cabinet

1.9.1 Cabinet decisions taken by the Cabinet as a whole will be made at a 
meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules set out in Annex 2.2 to this Constitution.

1.9.2 Where Cabinet decisions are delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, 
the Procedure Rules applying to Cabinet decisions taken by the 
committee will be the same as those applying to decisions taken by 
the Cabinet as a whole. 

2. The Conduct of Cabinet Meetings 

2.1 Chair

If the Leader of the Executive is present at any meeting of the Cabinet or its 
committees s/he will preside.  In his/her absence, then the Deputy Leader will 
preside.  In the absence of the Deputy Leader, the meeting will chaired by a 
person appointed to do so by those Members of the Cabinet present.

2.2 Attendance 

The Rules governing who may attend meetings of the Cabinet are set out in 
the Access to Information Procedure Rules in Annex 2.2 to this Constitution. 

2.3 Business to be carried out

2.3.1 At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be 
conducted:-

(1) signature of the minutes of the last meeting; 

(2) declarations of interest, if any;  

Page 73



Appendix Three

 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 4

(3) matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by a Scrutiny 
Committee or by the Council) for reconsideration by the 
Cabinet in accordance with:-  

(a) the Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out in Annex 2.5 to 
this Constitution; or  

(b) the Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules set 
out in Annex 2.3 to this Constitution.

(4) consideration of reports from Scrutiny Committees; and

(5) matters set out in the agenda for the meeting.

2.3.2 Matters set out in the agenda shall indicate those items of business 
that are Key Decisions and which are not in accordance with the 
Access to Information Procedure rules set out in Annex 2.2 to this 
Constitution.

2.4 Consultation

2.4.1 All reports to the Cabinet from any Member of the Cabinet or an 
Officer on proposals for changes to the Policy Framework and Budget 
(other than in accordance with paragraphs 5 [virement] and 6 [in-year 
changes] of the Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules) must 
contain details of the nature and extent of consultation with:-

(1) other bodies and groups of people who may be affected by the 
proposals; and 

(2) the relevant Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet Committee, and 
the outcome of that consultation. 

2.4.2 Reports about other matters will set out the details and outcome of 
consultation as appropriate.  The level of consultation required will be 
appropriate to the nature of the matter under consideration.

2.5 Placing Items on the Cabinet Agenda 

2.5.1 By the Leader of the Executive

The Leader of the Executive may put on the agenda for meetings of 
the Cabinet any matter which s/he wishes, whether or not authority 
has been delegated to the Cabinet, a committee of it or to any 
Member or officer in respect of that matter.  The Proper Officer will 
comply with the Leader’s requests in this respect.

2.5.2 By the full Council or by a Scrutiny Committee

The Proper Officer will make sure that an item is placed on the 
agenda of the next available meeting of the Cabinet where either the 
full Council or a relevant Scrutiny Committee has resolved that an item 
be considered by the Cabinet. 

Page 74



Appendix Three

 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 5

2.5.3 By individual Members of the Council

Any Member of the Council may ask the Leader of the Executive to 
put an item on the agenda of a meeting of the Cabinet for 
consideration and, if the Leader agrees, that item will be considered at 
the next available meeting of the Cabinet.  The notice of the meeting 
will give the name of the Councillor who asked for the item to be 
considered, who will be invited to attend the meeting whilst that item is 
discussed, whether or not it is a public meeting.  

2.5.4 By the Statutory Officers

(1) the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Financial Officer may 
include an item for consideration on the agenda of a meeting 
of the Cabinet and may require the Proper Officer to call such 
a meeting in pursuance of their statutory duties.   

(2) in other circumstances, where any two of the Head of Paid 
Service, Chief Financial Officer and Monitoring Officer are of 
the opinion that a meeting of the Cabinet needs to be called to 
consider a matter that requires a decision, they may jointly 
include an item on the agenda of a meeting of the Cabinet.  

(3) if there is no meeting of the Cabinet soon enough to deal with 
the issue in question, then the person(s) entitled to include an 
item on the agenda under paragraph 2.5.5(1) or (2) above may 
also require that a meeting be convened at which the matter 
will be considered.

Page 75



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 6

Annex 2.6:  Financial Procedure Rules

1. Interpretation

In these Rules:

(1) References to Committees will include any sub-Committees, Area 
Committees or joint arrangements with other authorities that are responsible 
for incurring expenditure.  

(2) References to Budget Manager will include any officer designated as having 
responsibility for a financial budget.

(3) References to Chief Officers will include the Chief Executive, Directors, 
Assistant Directors and Service Managers. 

(4) The Chief Officer Management Team will mean the Chief Officers of the 
Council collectively.

(5) The Corporate Management Team will mean the Chief Executive and 
Directors and the designated Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer 
collectively.

(6) The Section 151 Officer will mean the Director (Corporate Services), as 
appointed under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which 
requires that “Every local authority will make arrangements for the proper 
administration of their financial affairs and will secure that one of their officers 
has responsibility for the administration of those affairs.”  The Section 151 
Officer may delegate in writing certain of his/her responsibilities within these 
Rules to his/her staff but must retain overall responsibility as the Section 151 
officer.

(7) The Deputy Section 151 Officer will mean the Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services).

(8) The Monitoring Officer will mean the existing Chief Legal Officer and 
Monitoring Officer for Medway Council who is formally designated as the 
Monitoring Officer for Gravesham Borough Council in accordance with  
Section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and amended by 
Schedule 5 paragraph 24 of the Local Government Act 2000.

2. Introduction

2.1. These Financial Procedure Rules are made pursuant of the Local Government Act 
1972 Section 151(as amended) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and 
all other enabling powers.

Page 76



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 7

2.2. The Financial Procedure Rules provide the framework for management of the 
Council’s financial affairs. They apply to every Elected Member and Officer of the 
Council and anyone acting on behalf of the Council. The rules identify the financial 
responsibilities of employees and Members and where these responsibilities are 
delegated, a written record should be maintained of the delegation to whom and any 
limits that apply. 

2.3. All Elected Members and Officers of the Council have a responsibility for taking 
reasonable action to provide the security of the assets under their control, and for 
ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, is properly authorised and provides 
value for money for the Council and its community.

2.4. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for: 

 Maintaining a continuous review of these financial procedure rules and 
submitting any additions or changes necessary to Full Council for approval. 

 Reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the financial regulations to Full 
Council. 

 Issuing advice and guidance to underpin the financial regulations which 
Members, officers and others acting on behalf of the Council are required to 
follow.

2.5. Each Chief Officer is responsible for the accountability and control of staff and the 
security, custody and control of all assets associated with their area of responsibility.  
In particular, Chief Officers are responsible for:

 ensuring that all staff in their departments are aware of the existence and 
content of these Financial Procedure Rules and other internal regulatory 
documents and that they comply with them.

 ensuring that responsibility for monitoring and managing each budget head 
within their area has been assigned to a Budget Manager.

2.6. All Elected Members and Officers of the Council have a duty to abide by the highest 
standards of probity in dealing with financial issues. If there should be any doubt 
over the application of these Financial Procedure Rules the matter should be 
referred to the Section 151 Officer.

2.7. Any person found to have breached these rules may, after consultation between the 
Section 151 Officer, Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer, be subject to 
disciplinary action.

3. Financial Planning

3.1. Strategic Financial Planning

3.1.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for directing the strategic financial 
planning arrangements of the Council.  This includes the production and 
publication of the Medium Term Financial Strategy which sets the aims, 
objectives and principles by which the Council’s finances are planned, 
directed and managed.

Page 77



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 8

3.1.2. Full Council is responsible for approving the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
as part of the overall Policy Framework of the Council.

3.2. Budget Format

3.2.1. Subject to the Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules set out in 
Annex 2.3 to this Constitution, the detailed form of capital and revenue 
estimates will be determined by the Section 151 Officer and be consistent with 
the general directions of the Cabinet and after consultation with the Chief 
Officer Management Team. 

3.3. Budget Setting – General Fund Revenue

3.3.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is 
prepared on an annual basis by the statutory date required for consideration 
by the Chief Officer Management Team and Cabinet before submission to Full 
Council.    Full Council may amend the budget before approving it. The 
approved budget sets the annual cash limit within which the Council is 
expected to operate.

3.3.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for maintaining a Medium Term 
Financial Plan for the Council, setting out the projected financial position of 
the Council over a future time period.  The Medium Term Financial Plan will 
form part of the reporting to Members in considering and approving the annual 
revenue budget for the Council.

3.3.3. Chief Officers are required to participate fully in the budget setting process in 
accordance with necessary standards and deadlines. They are responsible for 
ensuring that their financial and service planning activity results in accurate 
figures and plans being submitted for inclusion in the overall budget.

3.3.4. In accordance with Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1980 
the Section 151 Officer is required to report to Full Council, Cabinet and the 
External Auditor if the authority or one of its officers:-

(1) has taken, or is about to take, a decision which involves 
incurring unlawful expenditure;

(2) has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has 
resulted or would result in a loss or deficiency to the authority;

(3) is about to make an unlawful entry in the authority's accounts.

3.4. Business Planning – Housing Revenue Account

3.4.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is 
prepared on an annual basis regarding the income from rents and other 
charges in respect of houses and other property, and the expenditure in 
respect of the repair, maintenance, supervision and management of such 
property and such other matters connected with the Housing Revenue 
Account.  The budget will be considered by the Chief Officer Management 
Team and Cabinet before submission to Full Council.    Full Council may 
amend the budget before approving it. The approved budget sets the annual 
cash limit within which the Council is expected to operate.

Page 78



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 9

3.4.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for maintaining a Business Plan for the 
Housing Revenue Account, setting out the projected financial position of the 
account over a future time period.  The Business Plan will form part of the 
reporting to Members in considering and approving the annual revenue 
budget for the Housing Revenue Account.

3.4.3. Chief Officers are required to participate fully in the budget setting process in 
accordance with necessary standards and deadlines. They are responsible for 
ensuring that their financial and service planning activity results in accurate 
figures and plans being submitted for inclusion in the overall budget.

3.5. Budget Setting – Capital

3.5.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a programme of 
capital expenditure is prepared on an annual basis, following the principles 
established in the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.  Capital 
expenditure programmes will cover a three-year period and show projects 
already approved and those for future consideration.  Such programmes will 
be considered by the Chief Officer Management Team and Cabinet before 
submission to the Full Council. 

3.5.2. Upon approval by Full Council of the programme of capital expenditure, the 
Chief Officer concerned will be authorised to:-

(1) take steps to enable land required for the purposes of the 
programme to be acquired in due time; and 

(2) prepare a scheme and estimate, including associated revenue 
expenditure, for approval by the Cabinet as required by 
paragraph 4.3.1 of these Financial Procedure Rules.

3.6. Capital Funding Sources

3.6.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that a register of capital 
funding sources is maintained.  This responsibility is shared with the Director 
responsible for development management in relation to S106 Agreements, 
Developer Agreements or other capital funding derived from development 
management activity.

3.7. Establishment, Use and Maintenance of Financial Reserves

3.7.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising Cabinet and Full Council 
on the appropriate level of working balances and the establishment of specific 
financial reserves.  As part of the annual budget setting process, the Section 
151 Officer will undertake a formal review of working balances and current 
reserves to ensure that they continue to be relevant and prudent.  The 
findings of the review will be reported to the Corporate Management Team 
and Cabinet before submission of the proposed annual budget to Full Council.  

3.7.2. Use of working balances will be in accordance with the arrangements 
contained within the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

Page 79



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 10

3.7.3. Use of reserves will be in accordance with spending patterns notified to the 
Section 151 Officer as part of the formal review of working balances and 
current reserves or with approval from the Section 151 Officer in consultation 
with the Corporate Management Team.

4. Financial Management

4.1. Financial Organisation

4.1.1. The Cabinet is responsible for regulating and controlling the finances of the 
Council, subject to the Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules set out 
in Annex 2.3 of this Constitution. 

4.2. Budget management and control 

4.2.1. Budget management ensures that the financial resources allocated by 
Members are used for their intended purposes and are properly accounted 
for. Budgetary control is a continual process enabling the authority to review 
and adjust its budget targets during the financial year. It also provides the 
mechanism to call to account Budget Managers responsible for defined 
elements of the budget.

4.2.2. The inclusion of items in approved annual budgets establishes the authority to 
incur such expenditure, except where the Cabinet or Full Council have placed 
a reservation on any such item or items.  Expenditure on any such reserved 
items may be incurred only when, and to the extent that, any such reservation 
is removed.

4.2.3. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for providing appropriate and timely 
financial information to each Budget Manager to enable budgets for income 
and expenditure to be effectively monitored.  

4.2.4. It is the responsibility of Budget Managers to control income and expenditure 
within their areas of responsibility and to monitor performance, taking account 
of financial information provided by the Section 151 Officer.  

4.2.5. Budget Managers are responsible for regularly reviewing the budgets under 
their responsibility and identifying and explaining variances against budgetary 
target.  By doing this, Budget Managers can identify changes in trends and 
resource requirements at the earliest opportunity. Budget Managers should 
take any action necessary to avoid exceeding their overall budget allocation 
and alert the Section 151 Officer to any problems, making proposals for 
dealing with each situation.

4.2.6. All reports to Full Council, committees, and the Corporate Management Team 
will contain a financial appraisal setting out the full financial implications 
arising from the proposal contained in the report and the adequacy or 
otherwise of financial budget in relation to the item for decision.  The financial 
appraisal (or its absence from a report or reports) must be agreed with the 
Section 151 Officer.

Page 80



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 11

4.2.7. Each Chief Officer will consult the Section 151 Officer in respect of any matter 
within their areas of responsibility which has the potential to materially affect 
the finances of the Council.  If, after consultation with the Section 151 Officer, 
the Chief Executive and the Leader of the Executive, the expenditure cannot 
be contained within the overall budget or through methods set out in 
paragraph 4.4.5 of these Financial Procedure Rules, the Chief Officer 
concerned will be required to seek approval for a supplementary budget from 
Full Council.  This will take place before any financial commitment is made 
and/or before reporting the matter to the Cabinet.

4.2.8. Where it appears that the amount of any head of expenditure is likely to vary 
from that approved, by an amount in excess of £10,000, it will be the duty of 
the Chief Officer concerned to report this to the Section 151 Officer unless 
delegated power to authorise virement is exercised as at section 4.4 of these 
Financial Procedure Rules.  Such variances should be reported to Cabinet by 
the Chief Officer or the Section 151 Officer via either the budget monitoring 
report or a specific report.

4.2.9. The Section 151 Officer will produce a report of the Council’s financial position 
on a quarterly basis for consideration by the Corporate Management Team 
and Elected Members in accordance with the responsibilities for monitoring 
and regulating the Council’s financial performance as set out at Annex 1 to 
this Constitution.

4.2.10.Subject to the provisions of the Policy Framework and Budget Procedure 
Rules, the Cabinet Procedure Rules and the Scrutiny Procedure Rules set out 
in Annexes 2.3, 2.4, and 2.5 to this Constitution:-

4.2.10.1. Neither the Cabinet nor any Committee nor any Officer of the Council 
may incur expenditure which:-

(1) is not legal; or  

(2) is not related to a function for which responsibility has been 
delegated to them in accordance with this Constitution; or  

(3) cannot be met from the amounts provided in the annual 
revenue and capital estimates. 

4.2.11.Nothing in these Financial Procedure Rules will prevent the commitment by 
Chief Officers of expenditure which is essential in meeting any immediate 
needs created by a sudden emergency or which is related to Section 138 of 
the Local Government Act 1972, subject to such action being reported 
forthwith to the Cabinet.

Page 81



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 12

4.3. Specific budget monitoring and control arrangements for capital projects

4.3.1. In the case of:-

(1) any proposal for capital expenditure involving the acquisition of 
land or the undertaking of building or other constructional works 
in excess of £100,000; or  

(2) any proposal for capital expenditure which might entail the 
Council taking on significant potential liabilities,

a full report giving an estimate of total expenditure and any on-going revenue 
or other financial implications will be made submitted to the Cabinet before 
any contractual commitment is entered into, save where delegated authority 
to progress with the transaction has been granted.  Any such report will make 
reference to the adequacy or otherwise of the financial budget contained 
within the capital programme.

4.3.2. Where a revised estimate is made of expenditure for the acquisition of land or 
the undertaking of building or other constructional works, and that revised 
estimate both:-

(1) exceeds £100,000 in total; and  

(2) exceeds the last reported estimate by an amount equal to 2% 
(two percent) of the last reported estimate or £10,000, 
whichever is the lesser figure; then

a report giving full details of the revised estimate of total expenditure and 
revenue and other financial implications will be made to the Cabinet before any 
contractual commitment is entered into.

4.4. Virements

4.4.1. A scheme of virement exists to enable the management of budgets with a 
degree of flexibility to optimise the use of resources within the overall Policy 
Framework and Budget Procedure Rules set out in Annex 2.3 to this 
Constitution.

4.4.2. Virements between the Housing Revenue Account and the General Fund 
must be approved by Full Council.

4.4.3. Directors and Assistant Directors may, after consultation with the Section 151 
Officer, vire up to £10,000 between any heads of expenditure or income within 
the approved revenue or capital budget for which they are responsible. 

4.4.4. The Corporate Management Team may, after consultation with the Section 
151 Officer, vire up to £50,000 between any heads of expenditure or income 
within the approved revenue or capital budget for which they are responsible.

 
4.4.5. Cabinet Members may, after consultation with the Section 151 Officer, vire up 

to £100,000 between any heads of income or expenditure within the approved 
budgets within their respective portfolio. 

Page 82



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 13

4.4.6. The Cabinet may incur, without Council’s prior approval, expenditure not 
within the approved budget provided that the following criteria apply: 

(1) The cost is to be met from external funding, a contingency or 
reserve set up for the purpose; or 

(2) It is to be met from proven savings elsewhere in the revenue 
budget and does not exceed £100,000; or 

(3) It is to be met from proven savings in that financial year in the 
Capital programme and does not exceed £100,000 per project; 
or

(4) The new project (whether revenue or capital) is fully funded by 
a grant or external contribution and resources already 
contained within the Councils’ budgets provided that the cost of 
the project does not exceed £100,000, and

(5) The expenditure in is line with the delivery of existing Council 
policy or furtherance of the Council’s Corporate Objectives. 

4.4.7. Any proposal to vire which is not covered in 4.4.5 must be approved by Full 
Council. 

4.5. Treatment of Year-end balances

4.5.1. Chief Officers can request to carry forward unspent budget for specific 
purposes.  Requests to carry forward unspent budget must be made to the 
Section 151 Officer specifying the relevant budget head, the budget amount to 
be carried forward and the reason for the carry forward request.

4.5.2. Such requests will be considered and approved by the Corporate 
Management Team once the year-end position is finalised; the ability to carry-
forward unspent budget is dependent on the overall financial position of the 
Council. 

4.6. Accounting policies

4.6.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for maintaining the accounting policies 
adopted by the Council, ensuring that they are in accordance with proper 
practice and applied consistently.

4.7. Accounting Arrangements and Duties

4.7.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for maintaining satisfactory accounting 
arrangements for the financial transactions of the Council. Where such 
procedures and records are maintained in a department other than that of the 
Section 151 Officer, these will be held in accordance with instructions to staff 
in the form of manuals, guidance notes and procedure notes. 

4.7.2. The following principles will be observed in the allocation of accounting 
duties:-

Page 83



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 14

(1) the duties of providing information regarding  the sums due to 
or from the Council and of calculating, checking and recording 
these sums will be separated from the duty of collecting or 
disbursing such sums;   

(2) officers charged with the duty of examining and checking the 
accounts of cash transactions will not themselves be engaged 
in any of these transactions.

4.8. Annual Statement of Accounts

4.8.1. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for ensuring that the Annual Statement 
of Accounts is prepared in accordance with proper practice, currently 
recognised as the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom. 

4.8.2. Full Council has delegated responsibility for approving the Annual Statement 
of Accounts to the Finance and Audit Committee.

4.9. Public Access

4.9.1. In accordance with statutory requirements, the Section 151 Officer will make 
arrangements each year to allow persons to inspect related documents 
associated with the Annual Statement of Accounts.

5. Governance, Risk Management & Control of Resources

5.1. Corporate Governance

5.1.1. The Council has in place a Code of Corporate Governance which sets out the 
procedures and processes put in place to deliver the Council’s Corporate 
Objectives.  

5.1.2. The Council will review its governance arrangements on an annual basis and 
reported the findings of the review in the Annual Governance Statement.

5.2. Risk Management

5.2.1. The Cabinet is responsible for approving the Council’s Risk Management 
Strategy and Corporate Risk Register prior to adoption by Full Council.  The 
Finance & Audit Committee are responsible for monitoring the effective 
development and operation of risk management arrangements.

5.2.2. Chief Officers are responsible for embedding risk management into the daily 
operations of the Council. 

5.2.3. The Council will consider risk in most of its activities and decisions. Reports to 
the council’s Management Team and Members require risks associated with 
the decision being taken to be considered. The council’s project management 
approach also recognises the need to identify, manage and monitor risks as a 
contributing factor to effective project management.

Page 84



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 15

5.3. Internal Control

5.3.1. Internal control refers to the framework of policies and procedures and 
systems of control devised by management intended to direct the activity of 
the Council and ensure transparency in decision making.  An effective system 
of internal control helps ensure that the Council’s objectives are achieved in a 
manner which promotes economical, efficient and effective use of resources 
and that the Council’s assets and interests are safeguarded.

5.3.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of 
internal control. These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all 
applicable statutes and regulations and other relevant statements of best 
practice. They should ensure that public funds are properly safeguarded and 
used economically, efficiently, and in accordance with the statutory and other 
authorities that govern their use.

5.3.3. It is the responsibility of all Chief Officers to establish sound arrangements for 
planning, appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to 
achieve continuous improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness and 
for achieving their financial and other performance targets.  

5.3.4. Each Chief Officer will ensure the same officer is not responsible for receiving 
or paying money and creating accounts or issuing receipts for the same.

5.3.5. All Members and Officers of the Council are required to declare any financial 
and other interest in any outside bodies or organisations which could be 
considered or perceived as having an influence on their actions on behalf of 
the Council. 

5.3.6. The Council operates a Policy for Improving Performance which incorporates 
the Council's disciplinary procedure, which applies to all employees. The 
Council has established a Standards Committee to deal with matters relating 
to the Member’s Code of Conduct. 

5.4. Internal Audit

5.4.1. The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to undertake 
an effective internal audit to evaluate the effectiveness of its risk 
management, control and governance processes, taking into account public 
sector internal auditing standards or guidance. This is the responsibility of the 
Section 151 Officer, albeit the delivery of a compliant internal audit service 
has been delegated to the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver 
internal audit services through the Shared Service to both authorities. 

5.4.2. Internal Audit is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It helps an 
organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined 
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes.  The work of Internal Audit should be 
carried out in accordance with proper practice, currently recognised as the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.  The Chief Audit Executive has the 
ability to report in their own right to the Chief Executive and the Chair of the 
Finance & Audit Committee.

Page 85



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 16

5.4.3. Internal Audit Staff have the authority to:-

(1) enter at all times any Council premises or land or location from 
which Council services are provided;

(2) have access to all property, records, documents and 
correspondence relating to all activities of the Council;

(3) require and receive explanations concerning any matter; and

(4) require any employee of the Council, without prior notice, to 
produce cash, stores or any other property for which they are 
responsible.

5.4.4. Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate adequate internal 
controls exist, without regard to audit activity. It is for management to decide 
whether or not to accept and implement audit findings and recommendations, 
subject to adherence to Council Policy and Financial Procedure Rules.  
Implementation of internal audit recommendations will be monitored by the 
Corporate Management Team. 

5.5. External Audit

5.5.1. The Local Audit & Accountability Act 2014 requires local authorities to have 
an annual external audit of its accounting records and Statement of Accounts 
and governs the process for the appointment of the external auditor for this 
purpose.

5.5.2. The Section 151 Officer will ensure that the appointed External Auditor is 
given access at all times to premises, personnel, documents and assets that 
he/she considers necessary for the purposes of their work. The Section 151 
Officer will also ensure there is effective liaison between external and internal 
audit and other departments of the Council.

5.6. Counter Fraud & Irregularities

5.6.1. The Council recognises the importance of managing the risk of fraud and 
putting in place adequate arrangements to prevent, detect and investigate 
fraudulent activity committed against the Council.  The Section 151 Officer of 
Medway Council has responsibility for the delivery of counter fraud services to 
the Council through the Shared Service to both authorities.  The team also 
acts as the Single Point of Contact between the Council and the Department 
for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of Benefits 
Fraud.

5.6.2. Chief Officers are responsible for informing the Section 151 Officer of any 
matter which may involve loss or irregularity concerning cash, stores or other 
property of the Council or any suspected irregularity in the operations or 
exercise of the functions of the Council as soon as they become aware or 
suspect any such activity is taking place.  The Council will then conduct any 
further activity deemed necessary in accordance with the formal procedure for 
conducting such investigations. 

5.6.3. Chief Officers are expected to co-operate and support fraud detection activity 
such as the National Fraud Initiative and other data-matching.

Page 86



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 17

5.7. Value for Money

5.7.1. Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that proper arrangements are in 
place to secure economy, efficiency and effective in the use of Council 
resources within their respective areas of responsibility.  

5.7.2. The External Auditor is required by Section 21 of the Local Audit & 
Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy themselves that the Council has put in place 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion.

5.8. Contracts

5.8.1. All contracts issued on behalf of the Council should have due regard to the 
Contract Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution.

5.8.2. Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that the Section 151 Officer is 
informed as soon as possible of all contracts, agreements, awards or other 
instruments involving the payment or receipt of money on behalf of the 
Council.

5.8.3. Before any contract for the supply of goods and services is entered into, the 
appropriate Chief Officer should ensure that an evaluation is carried out on 
the financial competence of the prospective contractor.  This can be provided 
on request by the Exchequer function within the Financial Services Team.

5.8.4. The appropriate Chief Officer must ensure that adequate insurances and 
bonds are in place where deemed necessary prior to any contract being 
entered into.  Advice on this can be provided by the Legal Shared Service and 
by the Exchequer function within the Financial Services Team.

5.8.5. The Council is required to publish details on all contracts with an annual value 
that exceeds £5,000.  The appropriate Chief Officer is responsible for 
providing details of any such contracts awarded by the Council to the Section 
151 Officer.  The Section 151 Officer will make arrangements to maintain a 
register of contracts with an annual value that exceeds £5,000 showing:-

(1) the purpose and nature of the contract;

(2) the contractor selected to provide the supply or service;

(3) the annual value of the contractor;

(4) contract start, end and review dates;

(5) procurement route for securing contract;

(6) whether the supplier is a small or medium sized enterprise or a 
voluntary or community sector organisation.

Page 87



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 18

5.8.6. Payments to contractors on account will be made only where a certificate of 
payment is authorised by the relevant Chief Officer (or private architect, 
engineer or consultant where engaged by the Council) as appropriate, or by 
any other officer nominated by the Chief Officer in writing for the purpose. The 
certificate of payment should show the total amount of the contract, the value 
of work executed to date, retention money, amount paid to date and the 
amount now certified.

5.8.7. No payment will be made in advance on a contract unless specifically 
authorised by the Director responsible for that contract, or his nominated 
representative, after consultation with the Section 151 Officer.

5.9. Specific control arrangements for the acquisition and disposal of investment, 
non-investment and housing assets

5.9.1. The arrangements for the acquisition and disposal of commercial investment 
property assets by the Council will be as set out in the approved Property 
Acquisition Strategy.

5.9.2. The arrangements for the acquisition and disposal of dwellings and other 
HRA property assets will be as set out in the approved Housing Development 
Strategy.

5.9.3. The arrangements for the acquisition and disposal of other property and land 
assets of the Council will be as set out in the approved Property Strategy.

5.10. Specific control arrangements for procuring other assets on behalf of the 
Council

5.10.1.Directors will be responsible for determining whether an asset will be leased 
or financed by an alternative means, in conjunction with the Section 151 
Officer.  Before entering into any contract hire, finance or operating lease, or 
lease-rental agreement, Directors will consult the Section 151 Officer to 
ensure that the arrangement is financially advantageous to the Council and 
the proper accounting treatment can be determined. Any resultant legal 
agreement must be approved by the Monitoring Officer.

5.10.2.Directors will be responsible for undertaking the selection of the supplier of an 
asset to be leased following the normal rules for procurement. 

5.10.3.The Section 151 Officer will sign leasing agreements and any extensions 
thereof.

5.11. Specific control arrangements for construction and building works projects

5.11.1. Subject to the provisions of the contract in each case, every variation will, 
unless otherwise evidenced to the Chief Officer's satisfaction, be authorised in 
writing by the relevant Chief Officer  (or private architect, engineer or  
consultant where engaged by  the Council) as appropriate, or by any other 
officer nominated by the Chief Officer in writing for the purpose.  Any such 
variation which affects the scope of works or value of the original contract 
must be referred to the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer, with 
consideration made of the reporting requirements to Cabinet set out in 
Section 4.3 of these Finance Procedure Rules.

Page 88



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 19

 
5.11.2.Claims from contractors in respect of matters not clearly within the terms of 

any existing contract will be referred to the Monitoring Officer for consideration 
of the authority’s legal liability and, where necessary, to the Section 151 
Officer for financial consideration before a settlement is reached. 

5.11.3.Where completion of a contract is unreasonably delayed, it will be the duty of 
the Chief Officer concerned to take appropriate action in respect of any claim 
for liquidated damages.

5.12. Insurance

5.12.1.The Section 151 Officer will put in place insurance cover relating to Council 
activity and negotiate all claims and maintain all necessary records, in 
consultation with other officers where appropriate.  This will include the provision 
of indemnity insurance for both officers and Members of the council, who undertake 
an official Director role on the Boards on the Local Authority trading Company and/or 
its subsidiaries.

5.12.2.Chief Officers will give prompt notification to the Section 151 Officer of the 
nature and extent of all risks to be insured and of any changes to council 
activity that may give rise to insurable risks within their area of responsibility. 

5.12.3.Chief Officers will immediately notify the Section 151 Officer in writing of any 
loss, liability or damage or any event likely to lead to a claim in connection 
with their area of responsibility.

5.12.4.All appropriate employees of the Council will be included in a suitable fidelity 
guarantee insurance. 

5.12.5.The Section 151 Officer will, at least annually, review all insurances in 
consultation with Chief Officers as appropriate. 

5.12.6.Chief Officers will not issue any indemnity which the Council is requested to 
give before consulting the Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer.

 
5.13. Trading Accounts/Business Units 

5.13.1. It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to seek advice from the Section 151 
Officer on the establishment and operation of trading accounts and business 
units. 

5.14. Stocks and Stores

5.14.1.The appropriate Chief Officer will be accountable for the security and custody 
of stores items in their area of responsibility.

5.14.2.Stores will not be held in excess of reasonable requirements except where 
agreed between the Chief Officer concerned and the Section 151 Officer.

5.14.3.Stores records will be kept in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer.

5.14.4.The Section 151 Officer will be entitled to check stores and be supplied with 
such information relating thereto as may be required for the accounting, 
costing and financial records of the Council.

Page 89



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 20

5.14.5.The relevant Chief Officer will be responsible for ensuring at least annual 
stock checking is carried out as at 31 March. Adjustments to write-off 
deficiencies, or to bring surpluses into charge, will be subject to the approval 
of the Section 151 Officer. They will be submitted to the Section 151 Officer 
on schedules certified by the appropriate Chief Officer.

5.14.6.Surplus stores will be disposed of by means set out is Section 5.17 of these 
Financial Procedure Rules unless the Chief Officer and Section 151 Officer 
determine otherwise.

5.15. Asset Management (including Inventories)

5.15.1.Chief Officers should ensure that records of assets with a value more than 
£500 are properly maintained and securely held. Each Chief Officer will be 
responsible for maintaining an annual check of all items on any such inventory 
and will give prompt notification to the Section 151 Officer of any surpluses or 
deficiencies.

5.15.2.The Section 151 Officer will issue instruction and ensure the maintenance of 
an Asset Register for all fixed assets with a value in excess of £12,000. The 
Section 151 Officer will ensure assets are valued in accordance with the Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.

5.15.3.The Director with responsibility for Housing will maintain a record of all 
properties owned by the Council in a form approved by the Section 151 
Officer.

5.15.4.Directors should ensure that assets are properly maintained and securely 
held. They should also ensure that contingency plans for the security of 
assets and continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure are 
in place. 

5.15.5.The Council's property will not be removed except in accordance with the 
ordinary course of the Council's business nor used for any purposes other 
than the Council's business, except in accordance with specific directions 
issued by the Chief Officer concerned.

5.15.6.Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that any appropriations, disposals 
or material changes to assets are promptly notified to the Section 151 Officer 
and are administered in accordance with the provisions at Section 5.17 and 
Section 5.19 of these Financial Procedure Rules.

5.15.7.The Monitoring Officer will be responsible for ensuring that all title deeds are 
held in a secure manner.

5.16. Land & Property Terrier

5.16.1.The Director responsible for Estates Management will be responsible for 
maintaining a terrier database of all Council land and property recording the 
purpose for which held, including details of any appropriations, location, 
extent and plan reference, purchase details, rents receivable and payable.

Page 90



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 21

5.16.2.The Section 151 Officer will make arrangements for the Asset Register to be 
reconciled to the Land and Property Terrier as appropriate.

5.17. Miscellaneous Sales

5.17.1.Disposal of all ICT (Information and Communications Technology) equipment 
must be in accordance with the ICT Disposal Policy.

5.17.2.Chief Officers are authorised to arrange the sale/disposal of non ICT surplus 
materials or assets, without offers, when expected income is not greater than 
£1,000.

5.17.3.Chief Officers are authorised to arrange the sale/disposal of non ICT surplus 
materials or assets, without offers, when expected income is not greater than 
£5,000 provided they have first sought evidence of the appropriate value of 
the item to be sold.

5.17.4.When expected income is greater than £5,000, offers for the item must be 
invited and the terms of disposal will be agreed between the Section 151 
Officer and the Chief Officer concerned.

5.17.5.The sale/disposal of non ICT surplus materials or assets where the estimated 
proceeds exceed £10,000 will be approved in advance by the appropriate 
Cabinet Member. 

5.17.6.Payment must be made before the goods are released, unless the Section 
151 Officer has agreed otherwise.

5.17.7.Chief Officers must maintain complete records of items sold, including details 
of the item(s), serial numbers or unique references, the customer and the 
actual sale income generated. Chief Officers will be responsible for issuing 
receipts for monies received in respect of miscellaneous sales.

5.17.8.Any items sold should be notified to the Section 151 Officer to enable items to 
be removed from the Council’s insurance inventory where appropriate.

5.18. Intellectual Property

5.18.1.The Monitoring Officer in conjunction with the Section 151 Officer will 
determine the policy and procedure guidance relating to intellectual property 
of the Council.  Intellectual property of the Council may include, for example, 
inventions, writings and computer software. If these are created by members 
of staff during their employment they will generally belong to the Council and 
not the employee.  Certain software development may be patentable.

5.19. Banking Arrangements

5.19.1.The Section 151 Officer will be responsible for establishing and operating the 
banking arrangements of the Council as considered necessary.  No officer will 
be permitted to open bank accounts for the purpose of transacting Council - 
related business.

5.19.2.Bank accounts operated on behalf of the Council will be in the name of 
"Gravesham Borough Council".

Page 91



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 22

5.19.3.All payments will be made directly by BACS (Bankers Automated Clearing 
System) unless the Section 151 Officer determines use of the Clearing House 
Automated Payments System (CHAPS) or the Faster Payments Service is 
more appropriate.

5.19.4.Payments made, irrespective of value, should be supported by a Purchase 
Order unless deviation from this arrangement is explicitly set out in paragraph 
6.5.1 of these Financial Procedure Rules or authorised by the S151 Officer.  
In such cases, payments should be supported by an invoice or payment 
authorisation form.  Purchase Orders, invoices and payment authorisation 
forms must be signed by the Officer responsible for producing the payment 
and approved by an authorised signatory.  Such signatures may be electronic 
in form. 

5.19.5.No officer will make arrangements for recurrent payments to be made by 
Direct Debit or Standing Order without the prior approval of the Section 151 
Officer.

5.19.6. In the limited instances where a cheque is required to be drawn manually on 
behalf of the Council, the cheque will be signed by the Section 151 Officer or 
other authorised signatories for the bank account in question. Manually 
prepared cheques for £5,000 or more will require the signatures of two 
authorised signatories for the bank account in question. 

5.19.7.Payment of individual invoiced amounts exceeding £25,000 will require the 
signatures of two authorised signatories.

5.19.8.Third-party cheques may not be accepted in payment by any officer of the 
Council except where authorised to do so by the Section 151 Officer.

5.19.9.No cheques may be cashed from the Council's money by any officer of the 
Council except where authorised to do so by the Section 151 Officer.  

5.19.10. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for making arrangement to periodically 
reconcile the Council's bank accounts with the cash book and ledger.

5.20. Corporate Credit Card Arrangements

5.20.1. The issue of Credit Cards or Procurement Cards to certain members of 
Council staff will be approved by the relevant Director and receive final 
approval by the Section 151 Officer and will normally be restricted to 
members of staff who are authorised to sign official orders.

5.21. Treasury Management 

5.21.1. The Council has adopted the Code for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).

5.21.2. The Council has delegated responsibility for the implementation and 
monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to the Cabinet 
and for the execution and administration of treasury management decisions to 
the Section 151 Officer who will act in accordance with CIPFA’s Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

Page 92



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 23

5.21.3. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for creating and maintaining:-

(1) a treasury management policy statement, stating the policies 
and objectives of its treasury management activities;

(2) suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the 
manner in which the organisation will seek to achieve those 
policies and objectives and prescribing how it will manage and 
control those activities.

5.21.4. The Section 151 Officer will prepare a proposed Treasury Management 
Strategy and associated Statements for the forthcoming year.  This will be 
considered by the Finance & Audit Committee before being presented to Full 
Council for approval. 

5.21.5. The Section 151 Officer has delegated responsibility for implementing the 
Treasury Management Strategy, including decisions on borrowing, investing 
and financing.  

5.21.6. The Finance and Audit Committee will receive reports on the Council’s 
treasury management policies, practices and activities including, as a 
minimum, an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, and an annual 
report after its close and before 30 September of the following financial year.

5.22. Investments & Borrowing

5.22.1. All investment of money under its control will be made in the name of the 
Council or in the name of nominees approved by the Cabinet.  Bearer 
securities will be excepted from this requirement, but any purchase of such 
securities will be reported to the Cabinet.

5.22.2. All securities other than land, the property of or in the name of the Council or 
its nominees will be held in custody of the Section 151 Officer, Monitoring 
Officer or the Council's bankers.

5.22.3. All borrowings will be in the name of the Council.

5.22.4. The Section 151 Officer will be the Council’s registrar of bonds and bills and 
will maintain records of all investments and borrowings of money by the 
Council.

5.22.5. All trust fund investments will, wherever possible, be in the name of the 
Council. 

5.22.6. All officers acting as trustees by virtue of their official position will deposit all 
securities, etc., relating to the trust with the Section 151 Officer or the 
Council's bankers, unless the trust deed provides otherwise.

5.23. Staffing

5.23.1. The Chief Executive is responsible for determining how officer support for 
Cabinet roles and non-Cabinet roles within the Council will be organised, 
providing overall management of staff and ensuring that there is proper 
evaluation for determining the remuneration relative to individual job roles.

Page 93



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 24

5.23.2. Directors are responsible for controlling total staff numbers by:

(1) advising the Section 151 Officer on the budget necessary in 
any given year to cover estimated staffing levels, as part of the 
annual budget setting process;

(2) adjusting the staffing to a level that can be funded within 
approved budget provision;

(3) ensuring the proper use of appointment procedures.

5.23.3. Chief Officers are required to formally advise the Corporate Management 
Team of any changes to the staffing establishment.

5.23.4. The Section 151 Officer will provide periodic information to the Corporate 
Management Team and Members on the employee expenditure budget and 
spend to date.

5.24. Security

5.24.1. Each Director is responsible for ensuring that reasonable arrangements exist 
for maintaining proper security at all times for all buildings, stocks, stores, 
furniture, equipment, cash and advances, under their control in accordance 
with guidance provided by the Section 151 Officer. They will consult the 
Section 151 Officer in any case where security is thought to be defective or 
where it is considered that special arrangements may be needed.

5.24.2. Maximum limits for cash holdings will be agreed with the Section 151 Officer 
and will not be exceeded without express permission from the Section 151 
Officer.

5.24.3. Keys, combinations or access codes to safes and similar receptacles are to 
be carried, where possible, on the persons of those responsible at all times.  
Where this is not possible, suitable alternative arrangements must be made. 
The loss of any such access tools must be reported to Section 151 Officer 
immediately.

5.25. Register of Interests

5.25.1. The Monitoring Officer is responsible for agreeing the procedures for 
registering Members’ and officer interests.

5.25.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for holding and maintaining records of 
officer interests. 

5.26. Gifts and Hospitality Registers

5.26.1. Officers and Members are required to formally declare any gifts or hospitality 
offered, whether accepted or not.

5.26.2. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for holding the Gifts and Hospitality 
Register.

Page 94



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 25

6. Systems and Procedures

6.1. General

6.1.1. The Section 151 Officer will carry out periodic reviews to ensure that 
instructions and guidance issued in relation to corporate financial systems and 
procedures are in place and operating as intended.  

6.2. External Funding

6.2.1. Chief Officers are required to notify the Section 151 Officer of any new bids 
for grant applications and provide copies of grant applications and letters of 
acceptance to the Section 151 Officer. Chief Officers should ensure that all 
grants and external funding income is promptly claimed and proper records 
and working papers are retained to justify claims.

6.2.2. For bids under £50,000 where any partnership/match funding can be met from 
within existing budgets, approval to make the bid should be agreed with the 
relevant Chief Officer and notified to the Section 151 Officer. 

6.2.3. All bids between £50,000 and £100,000 should be approved by the relevant 
Cabinet Member and notified to the Section 151 Officer.  Bids over £100,000 
require Cabinet approval and should also be notified to and agreed by the 
Section 151 Officer. 

6.2.4. For each bid made, a report should be prepared and submitted to the relevant 
Chief Officer, Cabinet Member or to full Cabinet seeking formal approval to 
proceed with the bid and should contain: 

(1) Details of the funding opportunity/scheme;
 

(2) Details of the bid’s objectives, and how these contribute to the 
Council’s priorities;

(3) Financial implications including grant request (capital or 
revenue);

(4) Match funding required from Councils or other sources, any 
links to existing projects financial or otherwise, VAT 
implications;

(5) How the project will be managed;

(6) Thorough risk assessment;

(7) Exit Strategy and Evaluation and Monitoring plans including 
thorough consideration of any revenue implications for the 
Councils once funding ceases, mainstreaming etc.;

(8) Partner involvement, including where the Council may be 
required to act as Accountable Body and any associated 
implications;

Page 95



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 26

(9) Timetable including deadline for submission, expected date of 
notification, anticipated start date and duration of the project;

(10) Any legal or financial implications arising from Accountable 
Body status, shared indemnity etc. 

6.2.5. Chief Officers will ensure that all claims for funds are made by the due date.

6.2.6. The Section 151 Officer will maintain a central grants register which will be 
used to record grants held and when grants are utilised.

6.3. Income Collection

6.3.1. Arrangements for the collection of money due to the Council must be 
approved by the Section 151 Officer prior to their implementation. 

6.3.2. Chief Officers should ensure that, wherever possible, payment is received in 
advance of delivery of the service.

6.3.3. Chief Officers are responsible for maintaining sufficient information regarding 
the work done, goods supplied or services rendered in order to record 
correctly all sums due to the Council and ensure the prompt recovery of 
income due.

6.3.4. Chief Officers must promptly notify the Section 151 Officer of all money due to 
the Council and of contracts, leases and other agreements and arrangements 
entered into which involve the receipt of money by the Council.

6.3.5. The Section 151 Officer will determine which items are to be treated as 
controlled stationery and will control the custody and issue of such items.

6.3.6. All money received by an officer on behalf of the Council must be paid into the 
Council’s banking accounts without delay.   No deductions should be made 
from such money unless specifically authorised in advance by the Section 151 
Officer.  Banking of money received on behalf of the Council will be as per the 
process determined by the Section 151 Officer. 

6.3.7. Every transfer of council money from one officer to another must be recorded 
by the department releasing the money through the signature of the receiving 
officer.

6.3.8. Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that debtor's invoices are raised 
promptly for their own service area and for providing information as necessary 
to representatives of the Section 151 Officer in the recovery of such debt.

6.4. Write-off of debts and losses

6.4.1. The Council has a duty to maximise revenue collection.  The writing-off of 
monies owed to the council is viewed as a last resort and should not be 
actioned until all other possible avenues for recovery have been explored.  
The Council has a documented corporate write-off process and the scheme of 
write-off set out below exists to enable the effective management of debt:

6.4.1.1. Service Managers have authority to write-off individual debts or 
losses of up to £10.

Page 96



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 27

6.4.1.2. Directors and Assistant Directors have authority to write-off 
individual debts or losses of up to £1,000.

6.4.1.3. The Section 151 Officer and Deputy Section 151 Officer have 
authority to write-off individual debts or losses of up to £10,000.

6.4.1.4. The Section 151 Officer and Deputy Section 151 Officer have 
authority to write-off individual debts or losses of up to £15,000, in 
consultation with the relative Cabinet Portfolio holder. 

6.4.1.5. The Cabinet will authorise the write-off of individual debts or losses 
exceeding £15,000.

6.5. Purchase Orders for Goods, Works and Services

6.5.1. Official orders will be issued for all goods, works and services to be supplied 
to the Council except for rents, payments for continuing liabilities, purchases 
on corporate credit cards, council tax, business rates and small cash 
purchases properly paid for out of petty cash. Other specific exceptions must 
be agreed by the relevant Director and the Section 151 Officer.

6.5.2. Official orders will be in a form approved by the Section 151 Officer and are to 
be authorised only by officers approved to do so.  

6.5.3. Orders should be placed through the on-line ordering system and have due 
regard to the thresholds stated within the Contract Procedure Rules regarding 
seeking quotations and tenders.

6.5.4. An oral order will be given only by or under the authority of an officer 
authorised to sign the relevant order and will be confirmed as soon as 
possible by the issue of an official order. 

6.5.5. No order for goods, works or services except for goods being taken into a 
store will be issued unless the cost is covered by the approved annual 
estimates, virement or by supplementary estimate. 

6.5.6. Official orders will only be used for fulfilling Council purposes and no personal 
acquisitions will be made using official orders. 

6.6. Payment of Accounts (Invoices and Payment requests)
 

6.6.1. Chief Officers authorising official orders will be responsible for making proper 
arrangements for the examination, verification and authorisation of accounts 
relating to the purchase of goods, works and services within their respective 
areas of responsibility.  

6.6.2. Certification of an account for payment will mean confirming that: 

(1) the goods have been received, examined and approved as to 
quality and quantity, that works or services have been 
completed satisfactorily, and that this is in line with the order; 

(2) the account is a proper liability of the Council;

Page 97



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 28

(3) the expenditure is within the estimate or is covered by special 
financial provision and has been incurred in accordance with 
the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules; 

(4) the prices (including value added tax) are arithmetically correct, 
accurately reflect any discounts or other credits or allowances 
to be applied and have been properly allocated to budget 
codes; 

(5) the account has not been previously certified for payment; 

(6) the proper entries have been made in the inventories or stores 
records, where appropriate.

6.6.3. The Section 151 Officer will maintain a record of authorised signatories for 
this purpose which will include the financial limit for transactions.  Chief 
Officers are responsible for notifying the Section 151 Officer of any change.

6.6.4. Authorised accounts for payment should be passed to the Section 151 Officer 
without undue delay, especially where discounts are involved.  

6.6.5. The Section 151 Officer will examine, so far as considered necessary, 
certified accounts passed for payment, and is entitled to receive such 
information and explanations as may be required before payment is released. 

6.6.6. The Section 151 Officer will make arrangements to pay promptly all accounts 
which are deemed to be in order. Apart from petty cash and other payments 
from advance accounts, the normal payment of money due from the Council 
will be by BACS or other instrument drawn on the Council's banking accounts 
by the Section 151 Officer

6.6.7. After 31 March each year, the Section 151 Officer will provide Chief Officers 
with a certified schedule of accounts outstanding relating to their department 
for the previous financial year.  

6.7. Late Payment Rules

6.7.1. The council is legally obliged to settle undisputed commercial invoices within 
30 days. 

6.8. Imprest Accounts (Petty Cash, Advances and Cash Floats)

6.8.1. The Section 151 Officer will determine the need for imprest accounts, 
intended for purpose of paying petty cash, meeting expenses or for providing 
change.

6.8.2. Alternative procurement options must be explored before purchasing through 
petty cash.  Petty cash should only be used for small transactions where it is 
quicker and more efficient to buy goods locally rather than by official order or 
use of Corporate Purchase Cards. 

Page 98



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 29

6.8.3. No income received on behalf of the Council may be paid into an advance 
account.  Income must be banked or paid to the Council as provided 
elsewhere in these Rules. 

6.8.4. Officers operating imprest accounts are responsible for ensuring that:
 

(1) Adequate arrangements are made for the safe custody of the 
account

(2) Vouchers are provided and retained to support each payment 
from the imprest account, including where appropriate an 
official receipted VAT invoice.

(3) They are able to produce upon demand by the Section 151 
Officer cash and all vouchers to the total value of the imprest 
amount 

(4) Account transactions are recorded promptly and charged to the 
appropriate budget.

(5) Each account is reconciled and balanced at least monthly, with 
reconciliation sheets signed and returned to the Section 151 
Officer.

(6) They provide, upon request, the Section 151 Officer with a 
certificate of the value of the account held at 31 March each 
year, detailing the breakdown between cash at bank, cash in 
hand, petty cash floats advanced and vouchers. 

(7) The account is never used to cash personal cheques or to 
make personal loans and that the only payments into the 
account are the reimbursement of the float and change relating 
to purchases where an advance has been made.

(8) They account to the Section 151 Officer for the amount 
advanced to them on leaving the authority’s employment or 
otherwise ceasing to be entitled to hold an imprest advance.

6.9. Payments to Employees and Members

6.9.1. The Director (Communities) is responsible for putting in place the 
arrangements for preparing the payrolls for all salaries, gratuities, allowances 
(including Members Allowances) or other emoluments of employees or former 
employees from timesheets and other authorised documentation certified by 
authorised officers of the departments. Medway Council are responsible for 
the operational delivery of the payroll service under a formal Service Level 
Agreement.
 

6.9.2. The interpretation and application of pay scales, conditions of service and 
other related matters will be the responsibility of the Director (Communities) 
with whom the other Directors will confer, as necessary, in connection with 
their application to employees in the departments.

6.9.3. Appointments of all employees will be made in accordance with the law and 
the policies of the Council.

Page 99



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 30

6.9.4. The Director (Communities) will consult with the Monitoring Officer and the 
Section 151 Officer about the necessary level of information and certification 
to be contained in timesheets and other payroll documentation. 

6.9.5. The method of payment of employees, former employees or Members is by 
Banking Automated Clearing Services (BACS.).  Utilisation of any other 
payment method will only take place with the authorisation of the Section 151 
Officer.

6.9.6. Chief Officers will notify in writing to the Section 151 Officer and Human 
Resources Manager as early as possible of all matters affecting the payment  
of such  emoluments, including:

(1) appointments, dismissals, resignations or suspensions;

(2) absences from duty (other than for annual, discretionary, or 
sick leave);

(3) transfers or secondments;

(4) proposed changes of employee remuneration, other than 
normal increments and pay awards, compensation and 
agreements of general application.

together with such other information as is necessary to maintain adequate 
personnel records, maintain record for superannuation, income tax, national 
insurance and other deductibles and enable effective payroll administration. 

6.9.7. The arrangements for maintaining proper national insurance, income tax and 
other statutory pay records will be the responsibility of the Director 
(Communities).  Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that:

(1) all persons employed by the authority are added to the 
authority's payroll.

(2) all payments to staff (other than those for which a dispensation 
is held) are made via the Council's payroll system;

(3) confirmation is sought from suppliers of labour other than 
employees (e.g. "consultants") that they are not liable to 
deduction of tax and national insurance as if they were an 
employee, i.e. by obtaining evidence of Schedule D 
employment of CIS status.

6.10. Travel and Subsistence Allowances

6.10.1. Any claim for business mileage, post-entry training expenses, subsistence 
allowances or other incidental expenses should be duly evidenced, certified 
and submitted through the payroll system or to the Director (Communities). 

6.10.2. All claims should be submitted within three months of the activity associated 
with the claim taking place. 

Page 100



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 31

6.11. Taxation

6.11.1. Chief Officers are responsible for seeking advice from the Section 151 Officer 
on all taxation issues that affect the Council.  The Section 151 Officer is 
responsible for providing such advice as is requested, in the light of guidance 
by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies. 

6.11.2. Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that VAT can be correctly and 
accurately accounted for within the Council's accounts in accordance with HM 
Customers and Excise Regulations.  This will include:-

(1) establishing the correct VAT liability for services or goods 
supplied thus ensuring that VAT is charged and paid over;

(2) ensuring tax liabilities under the Construction Industry Scheme 
and any other schemes can be identified and applied;

(3) ensuring that VAT on income is declared / accounted for in the 
correct accounting period;

(4) obtaining VAT invoices / VAT authenticated receipts in respect 
of all payments, which include a VAT charge;

(5) taking advice on all property and land transactions, which could 
impact upon the Council's ability to fully recover VAT.

6.11.3. The Section 151 Officer is responsible for maintaining the Council’s tax 
records, making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax 
returns by their due date as appropriate. 

6.11.4. The Section 151 Officer or his authorised representative will be responsible 
for liaising with HM Revenue and Customs on all VAT related matters and for 
submitting and signing the necessary returns/claims in a timely manner. 

6.11.5. In all circumstances where any one transaction exceeds £50,000, the Chief 
Officer will be responsible for obtaining the specific confirmation of the Section 
151 Officer or his authorised representative that any VAT liability has been 
properly assessed. Such confirmation should, if possible, be obtained prior to 
entering into any contractual agreement.

6.12. Commercial Operations/Alternative Business Structures

6.12.1. Chief Officers are responsible for consulting the Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer in the consideration of commercialisation of any non-
statutory activity undertaken by the council.

6.13. Fees and Charges

6.13.1. Chief Officers will ensure that all rents, fees and charges are reviewed at least 
annually in accordance with the Council's budget setting framework and 
Charging Strategy.

Page 101



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 32

6.13.2. Where it is proposed to introduce, revise or discontinue a discretionary scale 
of fees and charges, the Section 151 Officer should be consulted before the 
proposal is progressed.  Any such action will also need approval from the 
relevant Cabinet Member.

7. External Arrangements

7.1. Partnerships and shared working arrangements

7.1.1. The Council has defined a partnership as an “agreement between the Council 
and one or more independent bodies to work together to achieve one or more 
objectives”.  A shared working arrangement is one whereby the Council 
chooses to work with another local authority to deliver a service or function of 
the council.

7.1.2. Chief Officers are required to give due consideration to the council’s Working 
in Partnership Framework in setting up, managing or ending partnership 
arrangements and/or shared working arrangements between the Council and 
other organisations.  

7.1.3. Directors are responsible for ensuring that the requirements of the Working in 
Partnership Framework are met for all partnerships and shared working 
arrangements in which their departments are involved.

7.1.4. The Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer are responsible for 
ensuring sound advice is given in relation to legal and financial aspects of the 
partnerships and shared service arrangements either in place or being 
proposed.

7.1.5. Cabinet Portfolio Holders, in consultation with the Leader of the Executive, 
have overall responsibility for overseeing and reviewing the partnerships and 
shared working arrangements in which the council participates.  

8. Local Authority Trading Company Accounting

8.1 The Cabinet will be responsible for the allocation of funding to Rosherville Limited 
and/or its subsidiaries, subject to there being sufficient budgetary provision which 
has been approved by Full Council.

8.2 Officers will be responsible for:
a) ensuring annual accounts are produced in a timely manner and presented for 

external audit review.

b) as necessary, ensuring the Company is registered for VAT and that this is 
levied at the appropriate rate.

c) providing budgetary support to Rosherville Limited and/or its subsidiaries to 
enable the company to manage its financial affairs accordingly.

8.3 These services will be provided to Rosherville Limited and/or its subsidiaries 
through a formal service level agreement.

Page 102



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 33

9. Review of these Rules

9.1. From time to time, and at least every three years, these rules will be reviewed with 
recommendations made for any changes considered necessary and desirable to 
ensure that the Council maintains robust supervision and control of the financial 
arrangements of the Council.

9.2. Any amendment to add to, vary or revoke these Financial Procedure Rules will be 
considered and adopted by Full Council.

 

Page 103



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 34

Annex 2.8:  Officer Employment Procedure Rules

1. Definitions

1.1 In these Officer Employment Procedure Rules, the terms “Director” and “Chief 
Officer” shall, solely for the purposes of the Local Authorities (Standing 
Orders) (England) Regulations 2001, be treated as though they refer to “Chief 
Officer” and “Deputy Chief Officer” respectively.   

1.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the term “Chief Officer” shall not mean or imply 
“Deputy Chief Officer” in any context other than that specified in sub-
paragraph 1.1 above.

2. Recruitment and Appointment

2.1 Declarations

2.1.1 The Council will draw up a statement requiring any candidate for 
appointment as an officer to state in writing whether they are the 
parent, grandparent, partner, child, stepchild, adopted child, 
grandchild, brother, sister, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece of an existing 
councillor or officer of the Council; or of the partner of such persons.

2.1.2 No candidate so related to a councillor or an officer will be appointed 
without the authority of the relevant Director or Chief Officer or an 
officer nominated by him/her.

2.2 Seeking Support for Appointment

2.2.1 Subject to sub-paragraph 2.2.2 below:-

(1) the Council will disqualify any applicant who directly or 
indirectly seeks the support of any councillor for any 
appointment with the Council. The content of this paragraph 
will be included in any recruitment information;  

(2) no councillor will seek support for any person for any 
appointment with the Council.

2.2.2 Nothing in sub-paragraphs 2.2.1(1) and (2) above will preclude a 
councillor from giving a written reference for a candidate for 
submission with an application for appointment with another authority 
or organisation.

3. Recruitment of Head of Paid Service, Directors and Chief Officers

3.1 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Director or Chief Officer and it is not 
proposed that the appointment be made exclusively from among their existing 
officers, the Director (Housing & Operations)  will:

(1) draw up a statement specifying:-

Page 104



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 35

(a) the duties of the officer concerned; and  

(b) any qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be 
appointed;

(2) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such a way as is 
likely to bring it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply 
for it; and

(3) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in sub-
paragraph 3.1(1) above to be sent to any person on request.

3.2 Where no qualified person has applied, the Director (Communities) shall 
make further arrangements for advertisement in accordance with sub-
paragraph 3.1 above.

4. Appointment of Head of Paid Service

The full Council will approve the appointment of the Head of Paid Service following the 
recommendation of such an appointment by the Appointments Board of the Council or the 
relevant Appointment Panel constituted from within the membership of the Appointments 
Board in accordance with Article 12.04 of this Constitution.

An offer of employment as Head of the Paid Service shall only be made where no material or 
well-founded objection has been received from the Leader of the Executive on behalf of the 
Cabinet within a period specified by the Proper Officer.

5. Appointment of Directors and Chief Officers

5.1 The Appointments Board or the relevant Appointment Panel constituted from 
within the membership of the Appointments Board in accordance with Article 
12.04 of this Constitution will appoint Directors and Chief Officers of the 
Council. 

5.2 An offer of employment as a Director or Chief Officer shall only be made 
where no material or well-founded objection has been received from the 
Leader of the Executive on behalf of the Cabinet within a period specified by 
the Proper Officer.

6. Other Appointments

6.1 Officers below Chief Officer Level 

The appointment of officers below Chief Officer level (other than assistants to 
political groups) is the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or his/her 
nominee, and may not be made by councillors.

6.2 Assistants to Political Groups  

In the event that the Council authorises the appointment of political 
assistants, then such appointments shall be made in accordance with the 
wishes of the Leader of the relevant political group in each case.

Page 105



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 36

6.3. Appointments to Local Authority Trading Company Boards
In establishing the Local Authority Trading Company and/or any subsidiaries, 
the Cabinet will be responsible for the appointment of Directors to the 
company Boards.

6.4. Requirement of officers to work on behalf of the Local Authority Trading 
Company and/to its subsidiaries
Whilst employed by Gravesham Borough Council, officers may be required to 
provide assistance to Rosherville Limited and/or its subsidiaries to deliver 
services to the public.  Any such arrangements will be delivered through a 
formal agreement; Gravesham Borough Council will continue to be the 
employing body.

7. Disciplinary Action

7.1 Statutory Officers

7.1.1 The Chief Finance Officer, Head of the Council’s Paid Service or 
Monitoring Officer may not be dismissed by an authority unless the 
procedure set out in the following paragraphs is complied with.

7.1.2 The Council must invite Relevant Independent Persons to be 
considered for appointment to a committee appointed by the authority 
under section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972(3) for the 
purposes of advising the Council on matters relating to the dismissal 
of relevant officers of the Council (“the Panel”), with a view to 
appointing at least two such persons to the Panel.  “Relevant 
Independent Person” means any Independent Person who has been 
appointed by the Council or, where there are fewer than two such 
persons, such Independent Persons as have been appointed by 
another authority or authorities as the Council considers appropriate.

7.1.3 Subject to paragraph 7.1.4, the Council must appoint to the Panel 
such Relevant Independent Persons who have accepted an invitation 
in accordance with the following priority order:-

(a) a Relevant Independent Person who has been appointed by 
the Council and who is a local government elector;

(b) any other Relevant Independent Person who has been 
appointed by the Council;

(c) a Relevant Independent Person who has been appointed by 
another authority or authorities.

7.1.4 The Council is not required to appoint more than two Relevant 
Independent Persons in accordance with paragraph 5 but may do so.  
The Council must appoint any Panel at least 20 working days before 
the relevant meeting.

7.1.5 Before the taking of a vote at the relevant meeting on whether or not 
to approve such a  dismissal, the Council must take into account, in 
particular:-

(a) any advice, views, or recommendations of the Panel;

Page 106



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 37

(b) the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed 
dismissal; and

(c) any representations from the relevant officer.

7.2 Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the Council to an Independent 
Person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of remuneration, 
allowances or fees payable to that Independent Person in respect of that 
person’s role as Independent Person under the Localism Act 2011.

7.3 Officers below Chief Officer Level

7.3.1 Directors and Chief Officers will be responsible for dealing with all 
disciplinary matters in respect of all officers below Chief Officer level.

7.3.2 All such disciplinary action shall be taken in accordance with these 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules and the Council’s Disciplinary 
Code for Officers as may be adopted from time to time, and the 
requirements of natural justice. 

7.4 Involvement of Councillors

7.4.1 Except as provided in paragraphs 7.1.1 (discipline of Statutory 
Officers), 8.3, 8.4 and 8.5 (appeals against dismissal) of these Officer 
Employment Procedure Rules councillors will not be involved in 
determining the disciplinary action to be taken against any officer of 
the Council. 

7.4.2 However, councillors may be involved in an investigation or inquiry 
into matters which may be the subject of disciplinary action.

8. Dismissal

8.1 No Officer of the Council shall be dismissed other than in accordance with the 
requirements of the law, the Council’s Disciplinary Code as adopted from time 
to time, and these Officer Employment Procedural Rules.  

8.2 No notice of dismissal of a Head of Paid Service, Chief Finance Officer, 
Monitoring Officer, Chief Officer or political assistant shall be issued unless, 
within a period specified by the Proper Officer, no material or well-founded 
objection has been received from the Leader of the Executive on behalf of the 
Cabinet.

8.3 The Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance 
Officer shall each have a right of appeal to the full Council against a decision 
of a Disciplinary Panel to dismiss him/her.  Any such request shall be made in 
writing to the Service Manager (Communities) within seven days of a 
dismissal decision being issued by a Disciplinary Panel, and shall state the 
grounds for appeal.  The Service Manager (Communities) shall then summon 
a meeting of the Council to be held within 14 days of any such request being 
made.

8.4 All other officers shall have a right of appeal against dismissal to an Appeals 
Panel appointed by the Council. The Appeals Panel shall comply with the 
political proportionality rules and shall comprise a minimum of three 
councillors.

Page 107



 Annex 2 (Procedural Rules) to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council Page 38

8.5 In the event that an officer exercises his/her right of appeal to Members under 
paragraph 8.4 above, no Member who has taken part in any investigation or 
inquiry into allegations or matters which subsequently form all or part of the 
evidence on which the dismissal decision was based may sit on the Appeals 
Panel established to hear the appeal. 

9. Contracts of Employment

All contracts of employment for officers of the Council shall include provisions giving 
effect to these Officer Employment Procedure Rules as they apply to the particular 
post concerned.

Page 108



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 1

Annex 3.2:  Code of Conduct for Officers of the Council

The Code of Conduct for Officers of the Council was approved by Cabinet on 
16 October 2006 and updated in December 2015.

1.  Introduction

1.1 The public is entitled to expect the highest standards of conduct from all staff who 
work for Local Government and therefore Gravesham Borough Council.  This 
code outlines existing laws, regulations and conditions of service and provides 
further guidance to assist the council and its staff in their day to day work.  The 
Code if produce in light of the challenges which staff face in the new and more 
commercially orientated environment of today.  However, the code cannot be 
exhaustive and officers should seek guidance on any matter where they are 
unsure of the standards required.

1.2 In addition, Gravesham Borough Council as outlined in our Corporate Plan,  the 
council aspires to be one of the best-performing authorities in England.  We want 
our performance to be in the top quarter of councils; but, more importantly, we 
want to be excellent in the eyes of our customers.

2. Background

2.1 The first two reports of the Nolan Committee on Standards in Public Life set out 
a common ethical framework 'which is in line with current thinking and good 
practice'.  'We recommended that everybody providing public services should 
draw up codes of conduct for both managers and staff which incorporate these 
(seven) principles (of public life), and should reinforce these through training’.

2.2 The seven principles are:

Selflessness: Holders of public office should take decisions solely in terms of 
the public interest.  They should not do so in order to gain 
financial or other material benefits for themselves, their family or 
their friends.

Integrity: Holders of public office should not place themselves under any 
financial or other obligation to outside individuals or organisations 
that might influence them in the performance of their official 
duties.

Objectivity:  In carrying out public business, including making public 
appointments, awarding contracts, or recommending individuals 
for rewards and benefits, holders of public office should make 
choices on merit.

Accountability: Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and 
actions to the public and must submit themselves to whatever 
scrutiny is appropriate to their office.

Page 109



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 2

Openness: Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all 
the decisions and actions they take.  They should give reasons 
for their decisions and only restrict information when the wider 
public interest clearly demands.

Honesty: Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private 
interests relating to their public duties and to take steps to resolve 
any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest.

Leadership: Holders of public office should promote and support these 
principles by leadership and example. 

2.3 This Code of Conduct has been prepared in response to that recommendation 
and guidance from the Audit Commission.

3. Code of Conduct Explained

3.1 Gravesham Borough Council aims to provide excellent local government for 
the people of the Gravesham. It has, therefore, agreed this Code of Conduct 
in order to:

(a) promote the highest standards in public life.

(b) promote harmonious working relationships.

(c) protect employees from misunderstanding or criticism.

3.2 Every organisation has its rules.  Generally the vast majority of staff in 
Gravesham Borough Council work with integrity.  However, the reputation of all 
staff is helped when a misdemeanour is discovered and corrected.

3.3 This code sets out the minimum standards by which the council and its staff work.  
It is not a complete list of what you can and cannot do, but its aim is to enable 
staff to understand the ground rules. 

3.4 Examples used in this code are for guidance and it is up to you to think for 
yourself what impact your actions may have on your job.

3.5 The council expects and obtains high standards from its employees because:

(a) Council services can affect the health, wealth and well-being of local 
people.

(b) the council is subject to democratic control and is accountable to the 
electorate.

(c) local people fund council spending and take an interest in the way money 
is spent.

(d) the council sometimes has a monopoly on the service it offers.

3.6 The code is binding on all council staff.  

Page 110



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 3

4. Appointments and Other Employment Matters

4.1 Employees involved in appointments should ensure that these are made on the 
basis of merit and in accordance with the council’s policies and procedures.  It 
would be unlawful for an employee to make an appointment which was based on 
anything other than the ability of the candidate to undertake the duties of the post.  
In order to avoid any possible accusation of bias, employees should not be 
involved in an appointment where they are related to an applicant, or have a 
close personal relationship outside work with a prospective employee.

4.2  Only the Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers and 
the Human Resources team may give employer’s references on behalf of the 
council.  It is acceptable for employees to give character references to their 
colleagues; but they should make it clear that they are writing in their own 
personal capacity.

4.3  Similarly, employees should not be directly involved in decisions relating to 
discipline, promotion or pay adjustments for any other employee who is a relative, 
partner, etc.

4.4   Where a relationship exists with an applicant for a post with the council such a 
relationship must be clearly indicated on the application form.  Where an 
employee of the council is aware that a relation is applying for a post they must 
bring this to the attention of the appropriate manager as soon as possible.

4.5  All employees of the council must disclose to their line manager and Human 
Resources any formal criminal charges including cautions which have been 
made against them.

4.6 Employees may be required to provide assistance to Rosherville Limited and/or 
its subsidiaries to deliver services to the public. Any such arrangements will be 
delivered through a formal agreement; Gravesham Borough Council will continue 
to be the employing body.  Employees must continue to abide by the Code of 
Conduct of Gravesham Borough Council.

5. Working with the Public and with Other Staff

5.1 Council staff are responsible to the elected members who represent the local 
community. The council itself is looking continually to improve its responsiveness 
to the people of its district and expects its staff to be courteous, efficient, helpful 
and impartial in their dealings with the public.  The council expects its staff to be 
as open as possible in their dealings.  Some information is sensitive and should 
not be disclosed (see Para. 14 for examples) but your line manager will be the 
final arbiter.

5.2  All employees should ensure that the policies relating to equality issues agreed 
by the Authority are complied with in addition to the requirements of the law.  All 
members of the local community, customers and other employees have a right 
to be treated with fairness and equity

5.3 It is the responsibility of each employee to create a positive climate in the 
workplace where individual differences are respected and valued.

Page 111



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 4

5.4 Please ensure that you:

(a) meet agreed standards of service to the public when dealing with people, 
in person, by phone, by letter and in their own home.

(b) are clean neat and appropriately dressed (in council work clothes, if 
issued).

(c) identify yourself, when dealing with the public, unless the nature of your 
work, as agreed by your line manager, makes identification unwise.

(d) avoid actions in public areas of council offices which may discredit council 
services.

(e) comply with the council's policy on smoking.

(f) disclose any matter it is your duty to report.

(g) do not discriminate against or harass the people you meet in the course 
of your work, particularly on grounds of race, sex or disability.

(h) implement council policy. Never use your work to further the aims of any 
group whose ideas are in conflict with council policy.

(i) respect confidential information about members of the public, members 
of the Council or staff.

(j) respect other people, their rights and property.

6. Working with Your Managers

 Staff are expected to show loyalty to the council and support its managers.  A climate 
of mutual confidence, trust and respect between managers and staff is critical to 
achieving work targets and providing a high quality service.

6.1 Please ensure that you:

(a) work reliably and diligently.

(b) carry out any proper instruction your managers give you, including 
general instructions like Customer Care Codes of Practice, Standing 
Orders, Financial Regulations, Contracts Code of Practice, legal 
requirements, health and safety requirements, Performance 
Management Framework Branding Guidelines or other codes of 
conduct and rules that apply in your work place.

(c) complete accurately and honestly any document, form or record your 
managers need for work.  Never destroy, damage, alter or falsify any 
such document or record.

Page 112



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 5

7.   Working with Your Staff

7.1 The people employed by the council make the difference between success and 
failure.  The council expects managers to provide staff with clear direction, 
positive motivation and the opportunity to develop their skills.

7.2 Please ensure that you:

(a) deal with staff fairly and consistently, and provide equal opportunities in 
your application of the council's personnel policies and procedures.

(b) Working to the Performance Management Framework standards of 
work, give feedback and advice to staff on how improvements can be 
made.

(c) support and assist staff to carry out their work properly, including help 
in dealing with customers or other employees.

     (d) train and develop staff to meet the current and future needs of the 
service (within budgetary limits).

8.   Working Safely
8.1 The council is committed to promoting good health, welfare and safe working 

among its staff.  Each employee has an obligation to take reasonable care for 
his/her own health and safety and for the safety of others who may be affected 
by his/her acts or omissions.  Failure to do so may endanger him/her, the public 
and other staff.

8.2 Please ensure that you:

(a) Follow Health and Safety codes and report any damage to council 
property and anything that might prove a health and safety risk to 
others.

(b) comply with hygiene requirements.

(c) wear any safety clothing supplied by the council.

(d) report any accidents or near misses you have at work.

(e) attend any medical examination the council requires.

(f) never risk injury or danger to yourself or others.

(g) never do anything that affects your performance or judgement at work 
including:

    
 taking illegal drugs.
 drinking, where the safety of yourself or others may be affected.
 drinking enough to affect your performance at work.
 drinking enough so as to affect the public's perception of yourself 

or the council. [Please refer to the council’s Drugs and Alcohol 
Policy].

Page 113



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 6

9.   Working Hours and Attendance

9.1  Poor attendance and bad timekeeping increase costs, reduce service levels 
and undermine the reputation of the employee and the council.

9.2  Please ensure that you:

     (a) adhere to the rules of the Flexible Working Hours scheme or the 
standard hours of:

Monday and Friday 8.45 a.m. – 5.00 p.m.
Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday 8.45 a.m. – 5.15 p.m.
[with one hour for lunch each day].

(b) tell your supervisor if you are not going to be at work e.g. for a doctor's 
visit.

(c) agree all leave with your manager BEFORE you take any time off.

 (d) never claim sick leave when you are not sick.

(e) comply with the council's rules on reporting sickness absence and act 
sensibly to speed your recovery and return to work.

(f) do nothing which is inconsistent with your illness or injury, or which may 
delay your recovery or worsen the problem.

         
10.   Working Honestly

10.1  Staff must ensure that they use public funds entrusted to them in a responsible 
and lawful manner.  It is a criminal offence for staff to receive or give any gift, 
reward or advantage for work done in their official capacity.  If an allegation is 
made, the employee must demonstrate that any such rewards have not been 
corruptly obtained.

10.2  Please ensure that you:

    (a) avoid corruption and the suspicion of it e.g.

 do not ask for or accept bribes of any sort.

 never seek or take any reward or favour for providing council 
services or letting a contract other than wages/salary. 

(b) comply with Financial Regulations and Standing Orders.

(c) avoid fraud and report any evidence of it you find.

Fraud happens when someone gets some benefit (usually money or 
property) through deception e.g. an employee commits fraud if s/he:

Page 114



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 7

 gets a car loan from the council and uses the money for 
another purpose, or buys a car cheaper than the one in the 
loan agreement.

 falsifies documents to claim pay, bonus or sick pay to which 
s/he is not entitled.

     (d) respect council property or equipment.  Take care not to waste, lose or 
damage it.

     (e) never steal, take or make personal use of council property.
                              
 (f) keep personal phone calls to a minimum and reimburse the council on 

a monthly basis [paying ten pence per phone call].

(g) get agreement from your manager and pay for any phone calls, faxes 
or photocopying that cannot be done away from work.

(h)   only use the internet for personal use during your own time in line with 
the council’s internet policy.  It should be noted that internet usage is 
reported on a monthly basis to Management Team and large use of this 
facility is always investigated and abuse can lead to disciplinary action.

(f)     ensure that you comply with the council’s Whistle Blowing Policy.

11. Accepting Hospitality, Gifts and Tips

11.1 The council expects staff to be open and responsible in dealing with 
hospitality and gifts.  Your conduct, and what the public believes about your 
conduct, will affect your reputation and that of the council.  Further guidance 
is given at Appendix 1

11.2 Staff should not accept offers of hospitality unless they can clearly be seen 
to be in the furtherance of work, for example working lunches where 
discussions continue from a morning meeting into the afternoon.

11.3 Please ensure that you:

(a) do nothing that could be seen as likely to influence your work and 
decisions e.g.

 accepting or asking for any gifts of more than token value.

 putting yourself in debt to someone.

 accepting unreasonable or undue hospitality from an outside 
organisation.

     
(b) any gifts or hospitality you are offered must be recorded in the Gifts and 

Hospitality register. 

(c) all members of staff must get the consent of their director or section 
head to the acceptance of lunch or hospitality.

Page 115



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 8

(d) where a lunch or hospitality is approved, it should be modest in extent 
and not be open to accusations of extravagance.

12. Working with Integrity

12.1 The council expects staff to do whatever is needed to protect their own 
reputation and standing with the public and to build respect for the council.  
There should be no reason to suspect staff of seeking opportunities for 
private gain.  The relationships that the council has with its partners, 
contractors, consultants, community groups, suppliers and others, must be 
managed so that there can be no suspicion of corruption, or dishonesty with 
public money.  See Appendix 1 for further guidance.

12.2 Please ensure that you:

(a) do whatever is necessary to protect the council's reputation and your 
own.

(b) do nothing away from work which might damage public confidence in 
the council, or make you unsuitable for the work you do.

(c) are fair and impartial in dealing with all customers, competitors, 
suppliers, contractors and sub-contractors.

         
(d) do not disclose confidential information useful to any of the council's 

competitors unless required by law.  

(e) report it to the Chief Executive if anyone, with whom you have had 
dealings in the course of your work for the council, leaves you anything 
in their will.

     (f) get written permission before you carry out any private work (even if it 
is unpaid) e.g.

 being a director, agent or professional advisor to a company.

 supplying goods or services to the council, its competitors, 
contractors,    suppliers, clients or  tenants.

 get permission to use any council equipment at home on 
personal business.

12.3 Employees must declare to their line manager, any non- financial interests 
that they consider could bring about conflict with the authority's interests.

12.4 Employees should declare to the Director, Communities, membership of any 
organisation not open to the public without formal membership and 
commitment of allegiance and which has secrecy about rules or membership 
or conduct.

Page 116



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 9

13.  Reporting Improper Conduct

13.1 The council is committed to the highest standards of openness and 
accountability and it expects staff to raise any reasonable suspicion of improper 
conduct, fraud or corruption with an appropriate manager.

13.2 The council is committed to protecting those who report the misconduct of 
others.  As far as is possible, the council offers to anyone reporting corruption: 

 anonymity or confidentiality.
 support and protection from reprisal.
 information about any action taken as a result of the  report.

13.3 Staff can raise any misconduct with their line manager or, if necessary, the 
Chief Executive.

13.4 If someone feels unable to approach their line manager or Chief Executive,   
then they may raise the matter directly and in confidence with the Human 
Resources Manager, or the Director, Finance & Environment. 

13.5 The Chief Executive will take appropriate action if frivolous or malicious 
allegations are made. 

14.  Working with Sensitive Information

14.1 The council is required to make some information available to members, 
auditors, government departments, service users and the public.  The council 
expects staff to use sensitive information properly and to have due respect for 
confidentiality.  Information gathered while working for the council should not 
be used for commercial or personal gain or otherwise misused.

14.2 Please ensure that you:

(a) know what information the council treats as confidential.

(b) who is entitled to have access to certain information.

(c) never discuss or misuse confidential information.

(d) are responsible and professional in using and allowing access to 
personal information on clients, councillors, staff and others.

(e) use personal information held on computer in line with the principles of 
the Data Protection Act. Such information must be:

 obtained lawfully and fairly.
 held only for specified and lawful purposes.
 relevant and just sufficient for those purposes
 used or disclosed for no other purpose.
 accurate, up to date and kept only as long as necessary.
 held securely to prevent unauthorised access or tampering.
 available for inspection and correction by the person the 

information is about.

Page 117



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 10

N.B Manual information should be treated in the same way as 
information held on computer.

14.3 Employees are, by virtue of the nature of their duties and the responsibilities 
arising from them under a special obligation to further the interests of the 
council.  Ownership of any copyright, design right, database or invention 
made by an employee during the course of his/her normal duties or in the 
course of duties falling outside his/her normal duties but specifically assigned 
to him/her will be with the council.

14.4 In your dealings with consultants and contractors you should, wherever 
appropriate, ensure that the council acquires ownership of any database or 
intellectual property rights produced specifically in connection with work for 
the council. 

15.  Working within the Law

15.1 The council must carry out its business in a way that is rational, proper and fair.  
The council cannot do anything without Statutory Authority and without 
following the relevant procedures.

15.2 The council expects staff to work within the law.  Unlawful or criminal behaviour 
at, or even away from work, may result in a loss of trust and confidence in the 
employee or the council.  

15.3 Please ensure that you:

(a) uphold the law at work.
  

(b) understand the law relevant to your sphere of work.

(c) never break or disregard a law away from work which could damage 
public confidence in you or the council, or which makes you unsuitable 
for the work that you do. 

16.  Working with Councillors

16.1 Staff serve the authority as a whole.  They serve all members and not just those 
of any controlling group.

16.2 Staff are expected to contribute to proper and effective working relationships 
with councillors.  They must ensure that the rights of councillors are respected 
and must ensure that they maintain their own political neutrality. Close personal 
familiarity between individual councillors and officers can damage this 
relationship and give rise to the appearance of improper conduct.

16.3 Please ensure that you:

     (a) are aware of the National Code of Local Government Conduct (which 
applies to members) in relation to:

 member involvement in recruitment, discipline and other 
employment issues.

Page 118



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 11

 relationships with officers.

 the distinctive roles of members and officers.

 use of confidential or private information.

(b) serve all members, not just those of the largest group.

(c) do not permit your own personal or political opinions to interfere with 
your work and do not allow your political neutrality to be compromised.

     (d) do nothing that might embarrass others or damage your relationship 
with members.

(e) deal with member enquiries efficiently.

(f) avoid close personal familiarity with members.

(g) disclose to the Chief Executive, any family, business or personal 
relationships with members where this may put you in a position to 
exercise improper influence over the workings of the council.

(h) report to the Chief Executive any time a member asks or pressures you 
to deal with a matter outside of council procedure or policy.

(i) do not seek to influence members prior to any appointment.

(j) do not take up any work problems or personal problems you have with 
managers, with members.

(k) report any claims or allegations about other staff to an appropriate 
manager and not directly to members.

(l) respect any confidence received from a Councillor.

17.   Managing Contact with the Media

17.1 The council expects staff to promote the policies and reputation of the council.  
Each department will set guidelines which will identify staff authorised to talk to 
the media.  Employees who are not authorised to deal with representatives of 
the media should refer any enquiries they receive to their line manager or to 
the Communications Section.

17.2 Please ensure that you:

(a) are aware of departmental guidelines and refer enquiries from the 
press to the appropriate person.

(b) get permission from the Chief Executive to speak, write or give 
interviews to the media about:

 the council.

 your work.

Page 119



Appendix Four

Annex 3 to the Constitution of Gravesham Borough Council (Codes and Protocols) Page 12

 other issues where your connection with the council may 
damage its reputation.

(c) never bring the council into disrepute by publicising material which is 
confidential, or against the interests of the council or its employees. 

(d) Anonymous stories to the press will always be investigated and 
disciplinary action taken if the stories are malicious or intended to harm 
the reputation of the council.

(e) An employee who speaks as a private individual direct to the press, or 
at a public meeting, or where their remarks may be reported to the 
press, should ensure that nothing they say might lead the public to think 
they are acting in their capacity as a Gravesham Borough Council 
employee. Where employees are speaking on behalf of a recognised 
trade union, this must be made clear.

18.   Working within the Code

18.1 The council undertakes to apply this code of conduct consistently and fairly. 
The code is a public document and is distributed to all staff. Any breach of the 
Code may result in disciplinary action. Some breaches (known as gross 
misconduct) would be serious enough to justify the council in dismissing staff 
for a first offence, and without notice.   

18.2 Examples of gross misconduct can be found in the Disciplinary Policy or on the 
council Intranet.

Page 120



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Full Council

Date: 01 December 2020

Reporting officer: Melanie Norris, Director (Communities) 

Subject: Dog Fouling – Public Space Protection Order

Purpose and summary of report: 
To seek approval to replace the expired Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) for Dog 
Fouling with a new PSPO for a further three years.

Recommendations:
1. That Members agree to the making of the new Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) 

for dog fouling which will last for a period of three years and instruct officers to 
proceed with the same.

2. That Members approve the deletion of paragraph 1.13A.14 within Annex 1.13 of the 
Constitution relating to the delegation of making of PSPOs, as set out in Section 4 of 
this Report.

1. Background

1.1 The Antisocial Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 came into force on 20 
October 2014 and included provisions for councils to make Public Space 
Protection Orders (PSPOs) for the purpose of stopping individuals or groups 
committing anti-social behaviour, like failing to pick up after their dogs, in a public 
space.

1.2 A PSPO can be made by the council if they are satisfied on reasonable grounds 
that the activity or behaviour concerned, carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a 
public space:

1.2.1 has had, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality;

1.2.2 is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;
1.2.3 is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and
1.2.4 justifies the restrictions imposed.

1.3 Prior to the 2014 Act, councils were able to utilise powers under the Clean 
Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 to make Dog Control Orders (DCO) 
for the purposes, amongst other things, of dealing with dog fouling. The council 
had made a DCO for dog fouling which came into force on 11 April 2011.

Page 121 Agenda Item 10



2

1.4 With effect from 20 October 2014 Councils could no longer make new DCOs and 
any existing ones only remained in force for 3 years. After this time they 
automatically became Public Spaces Protection Orders as long as there were no 
changes to the Order. Consequently, Gravesham’s Dog Control Order for dog 
fouling transitioned into a dog fouling PSPO, following the necessary review and 
approval process, with effect from 20 October 2017.

1.5 The PSPO covers the whole borough with the exception of exempt land (i.e. land 
used for agriculture, rural common land, Jeskyns Park - as this is Forestry 
Commission land, highways with a speed limit of 50mph or more, and most 
private land) and makes it a legal requirement for the person in charge of a dog to 
pick up after them and remove any fouling from site to dispose of appropriately. 

1.6 The PSPO expired on 19 October 2020 and if the council wishes to continue to be 
able to enforce against those that do not pick up after their dog then the PSPO 
needs to be replaced by a new PSPO as there are no alternative provisions in law 
to facilitate this. 

2. Current Dog Fouling Service

2.1 The primary mechanism for the public to report incidents of dog fouling is via an 
online form on the council’s webpage; designed to provide them with the ability to 
submit reports at any time and from any internet enabled device.  The public can 
however also report dog fouling by phoning Customer Services who then enter the 
information into the online reporting form. 

2.2 The following numbers of reports were received :

2.2.1 In 2017/18 - 122 complaints of dog fouling were received. 
2.2.2 In 2018/19 - 110 complaints of dog fouling were received. 
2.2.3 In 2019/20 - 46  complaints of dog fouling were received, 4 of which 

identified the owner 
2.2.4 To the end of September in 2020 – 18 complaints of dog fouling were 

received, 3 of which identified the owner. 

2.3 Where the owner is identified in a report to the council by a member of the public, 
the Environmental Protection Team contact the person reporting it to confirm that 
the person in charge of the dog will be contacted. The person reporting the matter 
is asked to report the person again if they witness them not picking up after the 
dog again.  The dog owner is contacted in writing to remind them of their 
responsibility to pick up after their dog. None have been reported again for not 
having picked up after their dog.  

2.4 All notifications of dog fouling made to the council are also passed to the Waste 
Management Unit to arrange for the cleansing of the pavement if necessary.

2.5 Formal enforcement is by way of a £75 Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) or 
prosecution. 

2.6 Currently, dog fouling is enforced by the Safer Place Officers (SPO) whilst on 
patrol. No FPNs have been served since the current PSPO was made. It is 
considered that this, along with the significant reduction in reports to the council 
demonstrates that the PSPO is effective and that more dog walkers consider that 
it is socially irresponsible not to pick up after their dog. 

Page 122



3

2.7 The SPOs have witnessed three people not picking up after their dog in the last 
three years. All three were approached and, as the guidance requires, given the 
opportunity to pick up after the dog. All three did and advice was given. A fourth 
person did pick up after the dog but then threw the bag over a wall. The SPO 
served a fixed penalty notice for littering. 

2.8 Whilst the responsible dog owners do pick up after their dogs and the number of 
dog fouling complaints has reduced significantly on previous years; it is 
considered that this is a clear example of the effectiveness of the PSPO and clear 
justification for the need for it to remain in place.

2.9 Dog fouling remains a matter of concern for the public, is unsightly, and presents 
a public health risk. 

2.10 Dog fouling and irresponsible dog ownership are ongoing and repeated concerns 
of community groups and parish councils, and an area where the council is 
expected to be able to take action through both education and enforcement.

3. Public and Stakeholder Consultation

3.1 Following approval from Management Team on 22 September 2020, officers 
undertook the necessary stakeholder and public consultation in accordance with 
the requirements of The Antisocial Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 
between 23 September 2020 and 07 October 2020.  The results of the 
consultation were reported to Management Team on 27 October 2020. 

3.2 The following statutory consultees were consulted directly – Chief Inspector at 
Kent Police, The Police and Crime Commissioner, Kent County Council as well as 
the Parish Councils. 

3.3 Additionally the public were also consulted as were the heads of other services 
within the council, the RSPCA, the Dogs Trust and the Kennel Club.

3.4 The methods by which the consultation took place were:

3.4.1 by email invitation to the following:

Borough Councillors
Parish Councillors
The Police and Crime Commissioner
Kent Police
Kent County Council
Heads of Service, Gravesham
Community Safety Unit, Gravesham
The Dogs Trust
The Kennel Club
The RSPCA

3.4.2 the Public via the council’s website and with the use of social media by the 
council’s Communications Team, 

3.5 All consultation responses have been collated and any that have resulted in an 
amendment to the draft PSPO have been detailed below. 

3.6 Seventeen responses were received including four from the public. All were in 
support of a PSPO for dog fouling for a further three years. These responses are 

Page 123



4

listed in Appendix 2. There was one comment, from the Kennel Club, that has 
resulted in the wording of the draft PSPO to be amended. 

3.7 The Kennel Club’s first comment was that the council should ensure there is 
sufficient signage in the areas included in the PSPO. There is a significant amount 
of signage advising of the requirement to pick up after your dog or face a penalty. 
This is supplemented and or replaced when requested by the public in areas 
where they would like more signage or people remove/deface the signs etc. 

3.8 The Kennel Club also commented that the council should consider whether the 
wording relating to the exemption for assistance dogs should be brought up to 
date. They suggested the use of wording by either of two councils – 
Northumberland County Council and Mole Valley DC. 

3.9 The Council’s shared Legal Service confirmed that “there may well be a challenge 
to the order based on the current wording. In terms of the suggested wording… 
the wording used by Northumberland CC is likely to be simpler to enforce”.

3.10 Therefore the following wording relating to the exemption for assistance dogs in 
the existing PSPO has now been replaced in the draft PSPO,  attached as 
appendix 3, with the following wording from Northumberland CC:

3.10.1 Existing wording:

“Nothing in this Order applies to a person who-
(i)  is registered as a blind person in a register compiled under section 29 of 
the National Assistance Act 1948; or
(ii)  has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical 
coordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in 
respect of a dog trained by a prescribed charity and upon which he relies 
for assistance.

Replaced with:

“Nothing in this Order applies to a person who-
(i)  is registered as a blind person in a register compiled under section 29 of 
the National Assistance Act 1948; or
(ii)  has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical 
coordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in 
respect of a dog which has been trained to assist a person with a 
disability. 

3.10.2 Existing wording:

(iv) “each of the following is a “prescribed charity” –

o Dogs for the Disabled (registered charity number 700454)
o Support Dogs (registered charity number 1088281)
o Canine Partners for Independence (registered charity number 

803680)

Replaced with:

(iv)  The expression “disability” shall have the meaning prescribed in section 6 
of the Equality Act 2010 or as may be defined in any subsequent amendment 
or re-enactment of that legislation.

Page 124



5

4. Delegation 

4.1 The council’s Dog Control Order for dog fouling remained in force for 3 years after 
The Antisocial Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 came into force on 20 
October 2014, after which it converted to the Public Spaces Protection Order for 
dog fouling with effect from 20 October 2017 and expired on 19 October 2020. 

4.2 At the time the new legislation came in the Constitution was amended. At the 
meeting of the Cabinet on 05 January 2015 authority was delegated to exercise all 
the powers and functions of the council under and in connection with the Anti-
Social Behaviour Crime & Policing Act 2014 including any orders or regulations 
made thereunder, and any legislation amending or replacing same, to the Chief 
Executive, all Directors and all Assistant Directors - with the exception that the 
power to make a Public Space Protection Order be reserved to the Chief 
Executive, or any officer designated by him for that purpose. 

4.3 The reason for this decision, as noted in the Record of Decision: Executive 
Functions 1/C/2015 was “The Council has a duty to seek to prevent crime and 
disorder in its area in carrying out its duties. The Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014 provides a new set of powers for tackling antisocial behaviour to 
the benefit of victims and the community and provides a deterrent to perpetrators.” 

4.4 The relevant section of the Constitution (Annex 1.13) Functions Delegated to 
Officers of the Council, is paragraph 1.13A.14). This power has not been 
exercised to date, the council having relied upon the above legislation to transition 
the previous DCO to the current PSPO.

4.5 This delegation was intended to mean that the extension of the current PSPO can 
be agreed and approved by the Chief Executive. However upon further reflection 
on this issue in working towards the replacement of the PSPO on 20 October 
2020 it is now considered more appropriate for the decisions regarding any new 
PSPOs to be made by full Council in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Functions & Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000/2853 which provides in 
Schedule 1 a list of functions not to be the responsibility of an authorities’ 
executive. That list includes under 1. Miscellaneous functions, Part I, item 49 
“Power to make an order identifying a place as a designated public place for the 
purposes of police powers in relation to alcohol consumption” under s13(2) of the 
Criminal Justice & Police Act 2001. 

4.6 The guidance relating to PSPOs says that “Given that the effect of Public Spaces 
Protection Orders is to restrict the behaviour of everybody using the public place, 
the close or direct involvement of elected members will help to ensure openness 
and accountability. This will be achieved, for example, where the decision is put to 
the Cabinet or full Council.”

4.7 Therefore it is recommended that the paragraph 1.13A.14 referred to above is 
deleted. It is not necessary to add any wording to the Constitution in relation to the 
council deciding on these matters as Annex 1.1 Responsibilities Reserved to Full 
Council already contains the appropriate wording at Section 5 (d) “to deal with any 
other matter which must, by law, be reserved for determination by the Council.” 

4.8 Directors and Assistant Directors are able to authorise officers to enforce under a 
PSPO including the service of FPNs. All relevant officers within the Environmental 
Protection Team are already duly delegated.

Page 125



6

5. The Way Forward

5.1 Should Members, having duly considered all consultation responses, approve the 
replacement of the PSPO for dog fouling with a new PSPO valid for a further three 
years, (draft attached as Appendix 3), the following actions must be undertaken:

5.1.1 The draft order and commencement date will be published on the council’s 
website and shared with the Parish and County Councils, as required by 
legislation, 

5.1.2 The Head of Legal Services will be instructed to make the order prior to 
commencement on such future date to be determined. 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS

6.1 None

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 126



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal This report has been triggered by the requirement of The Antisocial Behaviour 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 for existing PSPOs to expire after 3 years on 19 
October 2020. 
The reference to delegated authority to make PSPOs should be removed from the 
Constitution as outlined in section 4 of this report.
The Head of the Shared Legal Service will need to sign and seal the new PSPO 
and support and carry out any future court action relating to the non-payment of a 
FPN etc.
The order can be challenged on two grounds; that the Council did not have the 
power to make the order or to include particular prohibitions or requirements; or that 
one of the requirements of the legislation, such as consultation, has not been 
complied with.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The minimal costs associated with the extension of the PSPO will be 
accommodated within existing budgets.  There may be costs in the future should 
there be a decision to expand enforcement of PSPOs and approval of any such 
expenditure will be sought via the usual channel. 

Risk Assessment The existing PSPO expired on 19 October 2020.  Failure to ensure that the streets 
are kept clean leads to public dissatisfaction and potential for action to be taken 
against the council.  The replacement PSPO will be under exactly the same terms 
as the existing PSPO therefore the impact on the public is minimal, but the council's 
reputation and ability to take action against offenders is maintained.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

Yes

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
The AC&P Act is fully inclusive and affects all people equally.  

The legislation allows exemptions for registered blind persons and certain other 
disabled persons in respect of picking up after their dog.

Page 127

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


8

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan There are direct links to all three Objectives:
 #1 People, #2 Place and #3 Progress.

Climate Change There are no direct links to climate change

Crime and Disorder The presence of dog fouling gives rise to people feeling disgusted by their local 
environment. Suitable controls and enforcement improves feelings that the 
environment is clean and that those that impact detrimentally on the locality may 
face being penalised for having done so.

Digital and website 
implications

The Digital Team set up the reporting portal for dog fouling following the transition 
of the DCO to the PSPO so no further work is anticipated in this area.  
The draft PSPO will be posted on the website once agreed and before it comes into 
force. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No direct impact 

Page 128



 
Appendix 2 – Consultation on Extension of PSPO for Dog Fouling for three years

Name and address Yes 
I support 
the PSPO 
extension

No 
I do not 
support the 
PSPO 
extension

Comments

Helen Ashenden, Councillor 
for Westcourt and Councillor 
Derek Ashenden Councillor 
for Riverview
By email

Yes In complete agreement with the proposed extension to the PSPO - Dog Fouling

Jenny Wallace, Councillor for 
Pelham
By email

Yes I am very much in favour of extending this please. We still see so many incidences 
and if this is not extended then the message to dog owners, I think, would be the 
wrong one. 

Tony Rana, Councillor for 
Whitehill
By email

Yes I’m happy for this to protection order to be extended.

Anne Moorhouse,
Councillor for Luddesdown 
Parish
By email

Yes I am happy for the PSPO for dog fouling to be extended for a further three years.

Sarah Gow, Councillor for 
Singlewell
By email

Yes Yes I agree. 

Amanda Mendzil, Councillor 
for Higham Parish 

Yes I am happy for the proposed extension of the public space protection order - dog 
fouling.

P
age 129



By email

Shane Mochrie-Cox, 
Councillor for Coldharbour
By email

Yes I am happy with this order being extended and indeed further enforced if possible!

Nicki Jerram, Clerical 
Assistant, Meopham Parish 
Council
By email

Yes Meopham Parish Council is in full support of the proposed extension of the PSPO for 
Dog Fouling for a further 3 years

Tim Harris, Environmental 
Enforcement Manager, GBC
By email

Yes I am in total support of this extension and will ensure that the Safer Place Officers 
and any future environmental Enforcement staff enforce the PSPO at every 
opportunity.

Neil Loudon Chief Inspector 
Kent Police 
By email

Yes Based on the information you have provided, on behalf of the Chief Constable in my 
role as District Commander for Gravesham I fully support this part of the PSPO also 
being extended for the requested period. 
I am fully aware of the negative impact dog fouling has on local communities 
including the significant health and safety risk it also poses to communities. I am 
aware that without the PSPO there will be limited accountability for those individuals 
who allow their dogs to foul and extremely limited opportunities to hold offenders to 
account, which threatens the possibility of these incidents increasing. 
The continued use of the PSPO will allow both of our teams to tackle this issue 
effectively where we can.

Neil Parker
Force Liaison & Staff Officer 
to the Police & Crime 
Commissioner
By email

Yes I am happy to provide my support to the proposed continuation of this order in the 
areas of Gravesham having due regard to the fact enforcement of these matters will 
remain unchanged.

The Kennel Club 
by email

Yes As a general principle, we would like to highlight the importance for all PSPOs to be 
necessary and proportionate responses to problems caused by dogs and 
irresponsible owners. It is also important that authorities balance the interests of dog 

P
age 130



owners with the interests of other access users. 

Response to proposed measures:
Dog fouling 
The Kennel Club strongly promotes responsible dog ownership and believes that 
dog owners should always pick up after their dogs wherever they are, including 
fields and woods in the wider countryside, and especially where farm animals graze 
to reduce the risk of passing Neospora and Sarcocystosis to cattle and sheep 
respectively. 
We would like to take this opportunity to encourage the local authority to employ 
further proactive measures to help responsible dog ownership throughout the local 
area in addition to introducing Orders in this respect. Proactive measures could 
include: increasing the number of bins available for dog owners to use; 
communicating to local dog owners that bagged dog faeces can be disposed of in 
normal litter bins; running responsible ownership and training events; or using poster 
campaigns to encourage dog owners to pick up after their dog. 

Assistance dogs 
We welcome the intent to include exemptions for assistance dogs, however we 
would suggest further consideration of the wording contained within the Order, 
specifically with reference to “prescribed charity”. 
While a proportion of assistance dogs relied upon by disabled people are trained by 
charities, many are not. 
With regard to providing exemptions for those who rely on assistance dogs, we 
would urge the Council to review the Equality and Human Rights Commission 
guidance for businesses and service providers – 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/assistance-dogs-a-guide-for-
all-businesses.pdf 
A number of well-known assistance dog providers are members of Assistance Dogs 
UK. This umbrella group, currently has eight member organisations which can be 
viewed here - http://www.assistancedogs.org.uk/. However, it is important to note 
that the membership of 
Assistance Dogs UK is not a definitive list of all UK assistance dog organisations, 
and may change during the currency of the PSPO, it also does not provide for owner 
trained assistance dogs. We would therefore encourage the Council to allow some 
flexibility when considering whether a disabled person’s dog is acting as an 
assistance dog. 

P
age 131



The Council could consider adopting the definitions of assistance dogs as used by 
Mole Valley District Council which can be found on page 4 of this document - 
https://www.molevalley.gov.uk/media/pdf/1/b/83072_-_Completed_PSPO.pdf 
Or that of Northumberland County Council - 
“(4) The term “Assistance Dog” shall mean a dog which has been trained to assist a 
person with a disability. 
(5) The expression “disability” shall have the meaning prescribed in section 6 of the 
Equality Act 2010 or as may be defined in any subsequent amendment or re-
enactment of that legislation” 

Appropriate signage 
It is important to note that in relation to PSPOs the “The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces Protection Orders) Regulations 
2014” make it a legal requirement for local authorities to – 
“cause to be erected on or adjacent to the public place to which the order relates 
such notice (or notices) as it considers sufficient to draw the attention of any member 
of the public using that place to - 
(i) the fact that the order has been made, extended or varied (as the case may be); 
and 
(ii) the effect of that order being made, extended or varied (as the case may be).” 
With relation to dog access restrictions such as a “Dogs on Leads Order”, on-site 
signage should make clear where such restrictions start and finish. This can often be 
achieved by signs that on one side say, for example, “You are entering [type of 
area]” and “You are leaving [type of area]” on the reverse of the sign. 
While all dog walkers should be aware of their requirement to pick up after their dog, 
signage should be erected for the PSPO to be compliant with the legislation.

Penny Gardner, Campaigns 
Assistant, Dogs Trust
By email

Thank you for making us aware that Gravesham Council is planning to renew a 
Public Space Protection Order relating to dogs. Please find our comments below, for 
consideration.  
 
Dogs Trust’s Comments 
 
 Re; Fouling of Land by Dogs Order: 

Dogs Trust consider ‘scooping the poop’ to be an integral element of responsible 

P
age 132



dog ownership and would fully support a well-implemented order on fouling.  We 
urge the Council to enforce any such order rigorously. In order to maximise 
compliance we urge the Council to consider whether an adequate number of 
disposal points have been provided for responsible owners to use, to consider 
providing free disposal bags and to ensure that there is sufficient signage in place. 

The PDSA’s ‘Paw Report 2018’ found that 89% of veterinary professionals believe 
that the welfare of dogs will suffer if owners are banned from walking their dogs in 
public spaces such as parks and beaches, or if dogs are required to be kept on 
leads in these spaces. Their report also states that 78% of owners rely on these 
types of spaces to walk their dog.  
 
I would also like to bring your attention to the similar recommendations stated in the 
Government’s ‘Anti-social behaviour powers -Statutory guidance for frontline 
professionals’ document, pages 52/53.  
 
We believe that the vast majority of dog owners are responsible, and that the 
majority of dogs are well behaved. In recognition of this, we would encourage local 
authorities to exercise its power to issue Community Protection Notices, targeting 
irresponsible owners and proactively addressing anti-social behaviours. 
 
Dogs Trust works with local authorities across the UK to help promote responsible 
dog ownership.  If you are interested, I can send you a copy of our Services Guide, a 
document listing the ways in which we may be able to help with promoting 
responsible dog ownership in your community. Please do not hesitate to contact 
should you wish to discuss this matter.  
 
We would be very grateful if you could inform us of the consultation outcome and 
subsequent decisions made in relation to the Public Space Protection Order. 

Members of the Public
(anonymised) 

C
By email

Yes As a dog owner I definitely think the PSPO should be extended. I always pick up 
after my dog. It annoys me so much when I see dog mess on the streets of 
Gravesend. If people have dogs they must take responsibility and pick up after them. 

P
age 133

https://www.pdsa.org.uk/media/4371/paw-2018-full-web-ready.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679712/2017-12-13_ASB_Revised_Statutory_Guidance_V2.1_Final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/679712/2017-12-13_ASB_Revised_Statutory_Guidance_V2.1_Final.pdf


N
By email
 

Yes I think the council should extend the PSPO making dog fouling an offence in this 
borough, or make it permanent. 

D
By email

Yes Please mark me as approving the 3 year extension.

A
By email 

Yes Please continue to treat animal fouling as an offence. 

P
age 134



Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

The Fouling Of Land by Dogs (Gravesham) Public Space Protection Order 2020

Notice is hereby given that Gravesham Borough Council (‘the Council’) has made the 
following Public Space Protection Order under section 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 (‘the Act’)

1. This Order is made to replace the Fouling of Land by Dogs (Gravesham) Public Space 
Protection Order 2017 which expired on 20 October 2020. 

2. The land specified in the Schedule being the areas in which the Act applies and that 
will be protected by the making of this Order.

3. The Order may be cited as The Fouling of Land by Dogs (Gravesham) Public Space 
Protection Order 2020.

4. The Council is satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that activities carried on in a public 
place have had or are likely to have a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those 
living or working in or visiting the locality and the activities are or are likely to be 
persistent or continuing, and unreasonable and justify the condition imposed by this 
Order.

3. The Order takes effect on @@ 2020 for the duration of three years.

4. The effect of the Order is to impose the following conditions of the use of the land:

(a) If a dog defecates at any time on land to which this Order applies, any person 
who is in charge of the dog at that time must remove the faeces from the land. If the 
person fails to remove the faeces from the land forthwith, that person shall be guilty of 
an offence unless:

(i)    he has a reasonable excuse for failing to do so; or
(ii))  the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land 
has consented (generally or specifically) to his failing to do so.

(b) Nothing in this Order applies to a person who-
(i)  is registered as a blind person in a register compiled under section 29 of the 
National Assistance Act 1948; or
(ii)  has a disability which affects his mobility, manual dexterity, physical 
coordination or ability to lift, carry or otherwise move everyday objects, in 
respect of a dog which has been trained to assist a person with a disability. 

Page 135



(c) For the purposes of this Order -
(i)  a person who habitually has a dog in his possession shall be taken to be in 
charge of the dog at any time unless at that time some other person is in 
charge of the dog;
(ii)  placing the faeces in a receptacle on the land which is provided for the 
purpose, or for the disposal of waste, shall be a sufficient removal from the 
land; 
(iii)  being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the 
vicinity or otherwise), or not having a device for or other suitable means of 
removing the faeces shall not be a reasonable excuse for failing to remove the 
faeces;
(iv)  The expression “disability” shall have the meaning prescribed in section 6 
of the Equality Act 2010 or as may be defined in any subsequent amendment 
or re-enactment of that legislation.

5. A person found in breach of any of the conditions within the Order shall, under 
section 67 of the Act, be liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding 
Level 3 on the standard scale or a fixed penalty notice of a maximum of £75.

6. If any interested person wishes to question the validity of this Order on the 
grounds that the Council had no power to make it or that any requirement of the 
Act has not been complied with in relation to this Order, he or she may apply to 
the High Court within six weeks from the date on which this Order is made.

The COMMON SEAL of GRAVESHAM 
BOROUGH COUNCIL was hereunto 
affixed on the authority of: 

Authorised Sealing Officer

Dated this day    

Schedule to The Fouling Of Land by Dogs (Gravesham) Public Space 
Protection Order 2020

1. Subject to the exception in paragraph 2 below, all land which is in the administrative 
area of the Council and which is
(i) open to the air (which includes land that is covered but open to the air on at 

least one side) and
(ii) to which the public are entitled or permitted to have access (with or without 

payment).

2. Excepted from the description in paragraph 1 above is land that is placed at the 
disposal of the Forestry Commissioners under section 39(1) of the Forestry Act 1967.

Page 136



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Full Council

Date: 1 December 2020

Reporting officer: Community Safety Operations Manager 

Subject: Alcohol Control - Town Centre Public Space Protection Order 
(PSPO)

Purpose and summary of report: 
To advise Full Council of the outcome of the public consultation in respect of the proposed 
replacement of the expired Town Centre Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) for an 
Alcohol Control Zone with a new three-year Order and to seek approval of the draft Order 
provided for consideration.  

Recommendations:
1. That Full Council note the contents of the report, consider the consultation responses 

and endorse the draft Town Centre PSPO. 

1. Background

1.1 Public Space Protection Orders (PSPO) were introduced as part of the reform of 
the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 and guidance provided to 
Councils.  The Act gives Councils the authority to implement PSPOs in response 
to particular issues affecting their communities. 

1.2 The test for a PSPO is designed to be broad and focus on the impact that anti-
social behaviour (ASB) is having on victims and communities.  A PSPO can be 
made by the Council if they are satisfied on reasonable grounds 

1.2.1 that the activity is being carried out, or is likely to be carried out in a public 
space;

1.2.2 has had, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of 
those in the locality;

1.2.3 is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;

1.2.4 is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and

1.2.5 justifies the restrictions imposed.

Page 137 Agenda Item 11



2

1.3 In July 2017, it was reported to Management Team that the Designated Public 
Place Order for the Town Centre was due to expire and would automatically 
become a Public Space Protection Order for up to 3 years, expiring on 20 October 
2020.  To continue to enforce restrictions on the consumption of alcohol control, 
then the Council needs to replace the PSPO with a new Order as there are no 
alternative provisions in law to facilitate this. 

1.4 The PSPO covers an area of the Town Centre identified on the map provided in 
Appendix 2.  This is an area where alcohol-related ASB continues.   

1.5 Community Impact Statements have been collated by Kent Police, including those 
taken from businesses in the area.  Kent Police are fully supportive of the 
proposed new Order.

1.6 In respect of an appeal, any challenge to the Order must be made in the High 
Court by an interested person within six weeks of the Order being made. An 
interested person is someone who lives in, regularly works in, or visits the 
restricted area.  This means only those who are directly affected by the 
restrictions have the power to challenge the Order. If the Order is later varied, it 
can also be challenged.

1.7 The Order can be challenged on two grounds - that the Council did not have the 
power to make the order or to include particular prohibitions or requirements; or, 
lack of compliance with one of the requirements of the legislation e.g. failing to 
complete a public consultation exercise.

2. Previous Use of the Town Centre PSPO

2.1 The primary means for addressing alcohol related ASB is to report cases to Kent 
Police.  Kent Police Officers have uses powers within the PSPO to remove alcohol 
from a person causing nuisance.   This is one of a range of powers that the Police 
can use to deal with incidents of this nature, including those related to public order 
offences and the application of Dispersal Powers.    

2.2 Gravesham Borough Council Officers are also authorised to carry out the function 
of enforcement of the PSPO through issuing Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) – a 
fine of £75, leading to prosecution if unpaid. 

2.3 Kent Police received 92 alcohol-related ASB incident calls between June 2019 
and May 2020.   This does not take into account the number of times Police 
Officers have used the breach of conditions contained within the PSPO as a 
means of preventing incidents taking place.

2.4 Council Safer Place Officers used the PSPO to discourage and deter alcohol 
consumption on more than 50 occasions between June 2019 and September 
2020. 

2.5 The Order states that no person will be permitted to consume alcohol in public 
spaces in the area identified on the map in Appendix 2, other than within the 
curtilage of public houses and licensed premises.   A person seen to be 
consuming alcohol within a restricted area will be in breach of the Order.  An 
Authorised Officer will, in the first instance, explain to them that they are in an 
Alcohol Restricted Zone and request them to stop drinking the alcohol and/or ask 
them to surrender alcohol in open containers.  Should the same person be seen 
consuming alcohol in an Alcohol Restriction Zone again within a reasonable time 

Page 138



3

and after having been advised and warned, a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) will be 
issued.

2.6 There is no Appeal process against the issue of a FPN, but representations can 
be made to the Council to dispute it.

2.7 A prohibition in a PSPO on consuming alcohol does not apply to premises 
authorised by a premises licence to be used for the supply of alcohol.

2.8 Currently, alcohol consumption control is enforced by Kent Police and the Safer 
Place Officers (SPO) whilst on patrol. 7 FPNs have been served since the current 
PSPO was made. It is considered that this, along with compliance with the terms 
of the Order, demonstrates that the PSPO is effective.

2.9 The benefits of the PSPO enables Police and Safer Place Officers to remove 
alcohol from individuals, to issue Fixed Penalty Notices and tackle anti-social 
behaviour associated with street drinking.  

3. Public and Stakeholder Consultation

3.1 Officers undertook the necessary stakeholder and public consultation in 
accordance with the requirements of the Antisocial Behaviour Crime and Policing 
Act 2014.   Local authorities are obliged to consult with the local chief officer of 
police, the police and crime commissioner, stakeholders, and the general public.

3.2 The Chief Constable of Kent Police was consulted and is supportive of the Order, 
as is the Kent Police and Crime Commissioner.

3.3 Supporting witness statements were received from the four Kent Police Town 
Centre Officers, G-Safe – representing businesses in the Town, Gravesend 
Gurdwara, Tesco Metro and the Council’s Community Safety team.

3.4 A Public Consultation exercise was completed via the Council’s website and with 
the use of social media by the Council’s Communications Team.  152 responses 
were received to the consultation with 94.74% supporting the condition to manage 
restrictions to alcohol consumption in the area.  98% of respondents lived in 
Gravesham.

3.5 Respondents to the consultation were given the option to comment on how the 
consumption of alcohol had affected them directly.    In summary responses 
referred to the following:

 disturbance outside homes/ 
being unable to sleep at 
night

 associated waste being left 
in the area

 abusive language

 not feeling safe, threatened 
or intimidated, especially 
when walking past drinkers 
or through the Town Centre

 occasional fighting

 unable to use a park

 drinkers seen urinating in 
the street

 children distressed at 
seeing group drinking in the 
street

 associated drug use

Page 139



4

 making visits to town an 
unpleasant experience – a 

‘no-go’ area

3.6 The Council’s Management Team has considered the responses to the 
consultation and endorsed the draft PSPO.

3.7 The proposal to replace the PSPO with the new Order does not incorporate any 
changes to the area previously covered.  Any changes to that would require 
further consultation to take place.

4. Next Steps

4.1 Subject to Council approving the Town Centre Public Space Order, the Head of 
Legal Services will make the Order and instruct officers to proceed in publishing it 
on the Council’s website and sharing it with the Parish and County Councils, as 
required by legislation, before it comes into effect on such future date to be 
determined.

5. BACKGROUND PAPERS

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be directed to 
Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary arrangements.

Page 140



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal There is a statutory requirement to consult prior to making, extending or varying 
any PSPO.
The Order can be challenged on two grounds; that the Council did not have the 
power to make the Order or to include particular prohibitions or requirements; or 
that one of the requirements of the legislation, such as consultation, has not been 
complied with.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Amended signage for the Town Centre, at a cost of approximately £300 will be 
required and can be covered from Community Safety budgets.

Risk Assessment Risk that challenges will be receive to the proposed Order.  The consultation 
exercise has not evidenced the prospect of a challenge.

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan 6. #Place - a proud community; where residents call a safe, clean and attractive 
borough their home   

Climate Change No implications.

Crime and Disorder Addressing this issue will improve the quality of life of those living in the area by 
reducing the risks/disturbances caused by those consuming alcohol within the area.  
This will in turn also reduce environmental crime such as littering. 

Digital and website 
implications

The existence of the PSPO will be publicised on the Council's website and social 
media.

Page 141

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


6

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

No implications.

Page 142



Gravesham Borough Council

Anti Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014

GRAVESHAM BOUGH COUNCIL (TOWN CENTRE)
PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER 2015

Gravesham Borough Council (“the Council”) makes the order under Section 59 of the 2014 
Act, having consulted as required by Section 72.

The Order is made by Gravesham Borough Council because the Council is satisfied on 
reasonable grounds that activities carried out or likely to be carried out in a public space 
have had or likely to have a detrimental effect on the quality of life for those in the locality.

The Order takes effect on … December 2020 and has a duration of 3 years.

The land described by the map being in the area of the Council is land to which the Act 
applies and is protected by this Order.  The Order is to be cited as the Town Centre Public 
Space Protection Order. 

The following prohibitions are imposed on the use of the Area:

NO ALCOHOL ZONE

1. No person will be permitted to consume alcohol in public spaces in the areas 
identified in Map other than within the curtilage of public houses and licensed 
premises.   A person seen to be consuming alcohol in either of these areas will be in 
breach of the Order.  An Authorised Officer will, in the first instance, explain to them 
that they are in an Alcohol Restricted Zone and request them to stop drinking the 
alcohol and/or ask them to surrender alcohol in open containers.  Should the same 
person be seen consuming alcohol in an Alcohol Restriction Zone again within a 
reasonable time and after having been advised and warned, a Fixed Penalty Notice 
will be issued. A delegated Officer will in the first instance give a warning.  Should a 
person be seen consuming alcohol by a delegated Officer on any other occasion 
after the warning then this will be a breach of the Order and a fixed penalty notice will 
be issued. 

2. A person found in breach of any of the conditions within the Order shall, under 
section 67 of the Act, be liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding Level 3 
on the standard scale or a fixed penalty notice of a maximum of £75.

3. If any interested person wishes to question the validity of this Order on the grounds 
that the Council had no power to make it or that any requirement of the Act has not 
been complied with in relation to this Order, he or she may apply to the High Court 
within six weeks from the date on which this Order is made.

The COMMON SEAL of GRAVESHAM 
BOROUGH COUNCIL was hereunto 
affixed on the authority of: 

Page 143



Authorised Sealing Officer

Dated this day    

Map 1: Public Space Protection Order area

Page 144


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	5a Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 5 October 2020
	5b Minutes of the meeting of the Finance and Audit Committee held on Tuesday, 13 October 2020
	5c Minutes of the meeting of the Overview Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday, 27 October 2020
	5d Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Monday, 9 November 2020
	7 Additional Resources - Phase 2 of the expansion of the workforce within DSO Building Management
	Appendix 2 - Phase 1 Recruitment Update
	Appendix 3- Proposed Additional Resources for Responsive Repairs- final
	Appendix 4 - Financial Implications

	8 Annual Climate Change Report
	2. Appendix 2 - Draft Climate Change Annual report - December 2020
	Objective 1 – Cleaner Environment
	Objective 2 – Strategic Environment
	Objective 3 – Progressive Council


	9 Amendments made to the Constitution - to reflect formation of Rosherville Limited
	2. Appendix two - Proposed Constitution updates Annex 1.4
	3. Appendix three - Proposed Constitution udpates - Annexes 2.4, 2.6 & 2.8
	4. Appendix four - Proposed Constitution Updatees - Annexe 3.2

	10 Dog Fouling - Public Space Protection Order
	Appendix 2 Consultation on dog fouling PSPO responses
	Appendix 3 Draft Gravesham Dog Fouling PSPO

	11 Alcohol Control - Town Centre Public Space Protection Order (PSPO)
	Appendix 2 Draft PSPO Order




